Aravind Kumar Mohan

Regulation of Inflammatory Signalling by Caspases and M1-linked Ubiquitin Chains in Drosophila melanogaster





Aravind Kumar Mohan

Born 1987 in Madurai, India

Previous studies and degrees

M.Sc. degree in Science and Bioengineering, Tampere University of Technology, 2014



Regulation of inflammatory signalling by caspases and M1-linked ubiquitin chains in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Aravind Kumar Mohan

Cell Biology Faculty of Science and Engineering Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences InFLAMES Research Flagship Center Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland 2023 From the Faculty of Science and Engineering, Cell Biology, Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences, InFLAMES Research Flagship Center, Åbo Akademi University

Supervised by

Docent Annika Meinander, PhD InFLAMES group leader, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Cell Biology, Åbo Akademi University, Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Alessandro Annibaldi, PhD Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne (CMMC), University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

and

Jaakko Mattila, PhD Faculty of Biomedical and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Seamus Martin, PhD Department of Genetics, Smurfit Institute, Trinity College, Dublin , Ireland

ISBN 978-952-12-4322-6 (Print) ISBN 978-952-12-4323-3 (Digital) Painosalama, Turku Finland 2023

To my beloved family

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	i
ABSTRACT	iv
SAMMANFATTNING (ABSTRACT IN SWEDISH)	v
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	vi
AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS	vii
ABBREVIATIONS	viii
INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
1 Drosophila as a model organism	3
2 Ubiquitination	4
3 Drosophila host defence	6
3.1 Drosophila NF-кВ pathways	7
3.2 The Imd pathway	8
3.3 The Toll pathway	11
3.4 Tissue-specific regulation of <i>Drosophila</i> NF-кВ activity	
4 Mammalian host defence	14
4.1 Mammalian NF-κB pathways	
4.2 The TNFR1 signalling pathway	
4.3 The NOD2 signalling pathway	
4.4 Linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex (LUBAC)	
5 Ubiquitination-mediated regulation of NF- κ B pathway	
5.1 Non-degradative Ub chains promote NF-κB activation	
5.2 Regulation of NF-κB activity by deubiquitinases (DUBs)	
6 Caspases	25
6.1 Caspase activity at crossroads of inflammation and cell death	
6.2 Regulators of caspases	
OUTLINE AND KEY AIMS OF THESIS	

EXFERIMENTAL FROCEDORES
1 Fly husbandry34
2 Cloning and generation of transgenic flies
3 Infection and survival assays35
4 Quantitative RT-PCR
5 Purification of GST-TUBE and GST-NEMO-UBAN35
6 X-gal staining of <i>Drosophila</i> intestines
7 Cell culture
8 Immunoprecipitation
9 His-ubiquitin pulldowns
10 Purification of endogenous ubiquitin chains from cells and fly lysates 37
11 Treatment of flies with inhibitors
12 Antibodies
13 Immunofluorescence of <i>Drosophila</i> intestines
14 Pathogen clearance assay
RESULTS
 RESULTS
 RESULTS

3 Identifying targets of M1-ubiquitination in the Imd pathway (II, III)
3.1 Kenny is a target of M1-ubiquitination
3.2 Kenny is modified by mixed K63- and M1-linked Ub chains
3.3 The caspase-8 homologue, Dredd is a target of M1-ubiquitination 46
4 Dredd and Kenny interact leading to cleavage of Kenny (III)
5 Dredd-mediated cleavage protects Kenny from degradation (III)
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS AND MANUSCRIPT

ABSTRACT

The NF- κ B family of transcription factors are master regulators of innate immune responses and their dysregulation can lead to chronic inflammation and cause diseases like inflammatory bowel disease and cancer. To treat inflammatory diseases, a deeper understanding of regulation of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway at the molecular level is needed. As the signalling mechanisms regulating the NF- κ B pathway are highly conserved, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* serves as an excellent model to understand the basic principles of the regulatory machinery. The NF- κ B pathway activity is tightly regulated by ubiquitin signalling, as E3 ligases conjugate ubiquitin chains to important mediators of the pathway, regulating their function.

In this thesis, I have studied how caspases and ubiquitin E3 ligases activate and restrain NF-kB signalling. We described a Drosophila interleukin 1βconverting enzyme (Drice)-mediated regulation of the Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis 2 (Diap2), an E3 ligase that generates K63-linked ubiquitin chains, and a potent inducer of NF-kB. Drice functions by restraining Diap2 function under basal conditions in order to avoid unnecessary activation of NF-KB pathway induced by commensal bacteria. We also described the formation of M1-linked ubiquitin chains in flies upon infection, and identified Linear ubiquitin E3 ligase (LUBEL) as the enzyme responsible for formation of these chains. We found that M1-linked ubiquitin chains are important for activation of the NF-κB pathway in the intestinal epithelial tissue, showcasing the tissue specific regulation of NF-κB activation. We found previously unknown targets of M1-ubiquitination in the *Drosophila* Imd pathway, the Inhibitor of κ B kinase γ (IKK γ) Kenny, and Death related ced-3/Nedd2-like caspase (Dredd). Similar to mammalian IKKy, we also found that Kenny associated with M1-linked Ub chains, showing the conservation of function between mediators of mammalian and Drosophila NF- κ B pathway. Finally, we found a novel mode of regulation of Kenny, where cleavage by Dredd protected Kenny from autophagosomal degradation, and this process was dependent on M1-ubiquitination. Our findings from this thesis have improved the understanding of the *Drosophila* NF-κB pathway by uncovering new mechanisms of regulation of NF-kB signalling by ubiquitination and caspases.

SAMMANFATTNING (ABSTRACT IN SWEDISH)

NF-κB-transkriptionsfaktorfamiljen är nyckelreglerare av det medfödda immunförsvaret och okontrollerad reglering av NF-κB:s aktivitet kan leda till kronisk inflammation och förorsaka sjukdomar som inflammatorisk tarmsjukdom och cancer. För att behandla inflammatoriska sjukdomar krävs en djupare förståelse av de molekylära mekanismer som reglerar den inflammatoriska NFκB-signaleringsräckan. Eftersom dessa signaleringsmekanismer är välbevarade, fungerar bananflugan, *Drosophila melanogaster* som en utmärkt modellorganism för att förstå de grundläggande principerna för NF-κB-reglering. Aktiveringen av NF-κB-signaleringsräckan regleras noggrant av en proteinmodifikation som kallas ubikvitinering, eftersom E3-ubikvitinligaser konjugerar ubikvitinkedjor till viktiga NF-κB-signalförmedlare, vilket därmed kontrollerar deras funktion.

I denna avhandling har jag studerat hur kaspaser och E3- ubikvitinligaser aktiverar och hämmar NF-KB-signalering. Vi har beskrivit hur kaspaset Drosophila interleukin-1β-converting enzyme (Drice) kontrollerar Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis 2 (Diap2), som är ett E3-ligas som genererar K63-kopplade ubikvitinkedjor och är en effektiv aktiverare av NF-KB. Drice fungerar genom att hämma Diap2-funktionen under basala förhållanden för att undvika att kommensala bakterier aktiverar NF-κB i onödan. Vi har också beskrivit att M1kopplade ubikvitinkedjor syntetiseras vid bakteriell infektion i bananflugan, och har identifierat att Linear ubiquitin E3-ligase (LUBEL) är enzymet ansvarigt för bildandet av dessa kedjor. Vi har funnit att M1-kopplade ubikvitinkedjor är viktiga för aktiveringen av NF-kB-signaleringsräckan i tarmepitelvävnad, vilket påvisar en vävnadsspecifik reglering av NF-kB-aktiveringen. Vi har även funnit tidigare okända målproteiner för M1-ubikvitinering i bananflugans Imdsignaleringsräcka; kinaset Inhibitor of κB kinase γ (IKK γ) Kenny och kaspaset Death related ced-3/Nedd2-like caspase (Dredd). Vi har funnit att Kenny binder till M1-kopplade ubikvitinkedjor på samma sätt som IKKy-proteinet i däggdjur, vilket antvder att NF-kB-signalförmedlare fungerar liknande i däggdjur och bananflugan. Slutligen har vi funnit en ny regleringsmekanism för Kenny, där Dredd skyddar Kenny från autofagosomal nedbrytning genom att klyva bort degraderingssignalsekvensen i Kenny. Dessutom har vi visat att denna process är beroende av M1-ubikvitinering. Sammanfattningsvis har resultaten från denna avhandling förbättrat förståelsen av de mekanismer som styr Drosophilas NF-kB-signalering och avslöjat nva regleringsmekanismer för NF-kB-signalering genom ubikvitinering och kaspaser.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications and manuscript, which are referred to in the text by Roman numerals (I-III). The original publications have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

- I. Kietz C, Mohan AK, Pollari V, Tuominen I-E, Ribeiro PS, Meier P, Meinander A. (2021) Drice restrains Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling and intestinal inflammation. Cell Death and Differentiation, doi:10.1038/s41418-021-00832-w.
- II. Aalto AL*, Mohan AK*, Schwintzer L, Kupka S, Kietz C, Walczak H, Broemer M, Meinander A. (2019) M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in Drosophila. Cell Death and Differentiation, doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0164-x. *Equal contribution
- III. Mohan AK, Aalto AL, Hermanson E, Dahlström A, Kietz C, Meinander A. M1ubiquitination of the initiator caspase Dredd promotes NF-κB activation by protection of the IKK complex. Manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

I. The author planned and performed transfection of S2 cells, ubiquitin pulldown assays from S2 cells and analysed data. CK performed transfection of S2 cells, ubiquitin pulldowns from S2 cells and fly lysates, qPCR from S2 cells and flies, X-Gal staining, immunofluorescence staining of fly midguts, 16S rRNA sequencing, caspase activity assay of fly midguts and S2 cells, survival assays, pathogen clearance assays, cell viability and reared flies under axenic conditions. VP reared flies under axenic conditions and performed qPCR, I-ET performed survival assays and qPCR. PSR and AM performed survival assays. PSR, AM, PM designed experiments, analysed data and contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

II. The author and ALA contributed equally to experimental design, execution and analysis of most of the experiments and writing of the manuscript. The author performed the following experiments in this study: transfection of S2 cells to overexpress proteins, immunoprecipitations, LPS treatments, generated point mutations, X-gal staining of dissected fly guts, cloning to generate transgenic fly by PhiC31-mediated integration of RBR-LDD in the fly genome and verification by PCR. ALA performed survival assays, qPCR, ubiquitin pulldowns from S2 cells and fly lysates, immunofluorescence staining of dissected guts, pathogen clearance, and structural modelling of the catalytic domain of LUBEL. The author and ALA prepared samples and SK performed deubiquitination assays on fly and cell samples, LS performed all *in vitro* ubiquitination assays, CK performed immunofluorescence staining on dissected fly guts. MB, HW and AM contributed to designing experiments, writing and data analysis of this manuscript.

III. The author contributed by experimental design, execution and analysis of most of the experiments and writing of the manuscript. The author performed the following experiments for this study: transfection of S2 cells, immunoprecipitations, ubiquitin pulldown from S2 cells, sub-cloning and generation of point mutations. ALA performed transfection of S2 cells and V5-immunoprecipitations. EH performed transfection and Western blotting of S2 cell lysates. AD performed transfection of S2 cells and immunoprecipitations. CK performed inhibitor treatment, dissection and Western blotting of fly guts. AM contributed to experimental design, data analysis, structural modelling and writing of this manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

ABIN	A20-binding inhibitors
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
AMSH	Associated molecule with the SH3 domain of STAM
APAF-1	Adaptor protein apoptotic protease activating factor-1
BIR	Baculovirus IAP Repeat
CARD	Caspase recruitment domain
CAP-Gly	Cytoskeleton-associated protein Gly-rich domain
c-FLIP	Cellular FLICE-like inhibitory protein
cIAP	Cellular inhibitor of apoptosis
CC	coiled coil
CoZi	Coil-zipper
Cpdm	Chronic proliferative dermatitis
CrmA	Cowpox virus protein cytokine response modifier A
CYLD	Cylindromatosis
daGal4	DaughterlessGal4
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular patterns
Damm	Damm Death associated molecule related to Mch2
DAP	diaminopimelic acid
Dark	Death-associated APAF1-related killer
dBruce	Drosophila BIR repeat containing ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme
Dcp-1	Drosophila effector caspase-1
DD	Death domain
Decay	Death executioner caspase related to apopain/yama
DED	Death effector domain
Diap	Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis
Dif	Dorsal-related immunity factor
Dipt	Diptericin
DISC	Death-induced signalling complex

DR	Death receptor
Dredd	Death related ced-3/Nedd2-like caspase
Drice	$Drosophila$ interleukin 1 β -converting enzyme
Dronc	Death regulator Nedd2-like caspase
DUB	Deubiquitinating enzyme
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
FLIP	FLICE-like inhibitory protein
GNBP	Gram-negative binding proteins
НЕСТ	Homologous to the E6-AP carboxyl terminus
Hid	Head involution defective
HOIL	Heme-oxidized IRP2 Ub ligase
HOIP	HOIL-1-interacting protein
IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis protein
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IBM	IAP-binding motif
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of ĸB
IKK	Inhibitor of ĸB kinase
Imd	Immune deficiency
Ird5	Immune response deficient
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LC3	Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3
LDD	Linear ubiquitin chain determining domain
LIR	LC3-interacting region
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
LTM	LUBAC-tethering motif
LUBAC	Linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex
LUBEL	Linear ubiquitin E3 ligase
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDP	Muramyldipeptide

M1-linked	Methionine1-linked
NEMO	NF-κB essential modulator
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NIK	NF-κB inducing kinase
NLR	NOD-like receptors
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
NZF	Npl4-type zinc finger
Optineurin	Optic neuropathy inducing
ORAS	OTULIN-related inflammatory syndrome
OTU	Ovarian tumour protease
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PGRP	Peptidoglycan recognition protein
PGN	Peptidoglycan
РН	Pleckstrin homology
PIM	PUB domain-interacting motif
PUB	Peptide:N-glycanase/UBA- or UBX-containing proteins
PNG	Peptide:N-glycanase
PRR	Pattern-recognition receptor
qPCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qPCR)
RBR	RING-in between-RING
RHD	Rel homology domain
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
RING	Really interesting new gene
RIPK	Receptor interacting protein kinase
RNAi	RNA interference
SAMP	Stress-associated molecular patterns
SHARPIN	Shank-associated RH domain-interacting protein
SMAC	Second mitochondrial-derived activator of caspases
SPATA2	Spermatogenesis-associated 2

SPE	Spätzle processing enzyme
Strica	Ser/Thr-rich caspase
TAB2	TAK binding protein 2
TAD	Transactivation domain
TAK1	TGF-β-activated kinase 1
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TNFR	TNF receptor
TRADD	TNFR1-associated death domain
TRAF	TNF receptor associated factor
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
TUBE	Tandem ubiquitin binding entity
UAS	Upstream activating sequence
Ub	Ubiquitin
UBA	Ubiquitin-associated
UBAN	Ubiquitin binding in ABIN and NEMO proteins
UBD	Ubiquitin binding domain
UCH	Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases
XIAP	X-chromosome-linked inhibitor of apoptosis
ZnF	Zinc finger

INTRODUCTION

The nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) family of transcription factors are master regulators of inflammatory responses, as they control the expression of several inflammatory genes. Their activation by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), cytokines and antigen receptors is important for innate and adaptive immune function. Dysregulation of NF-κB is associated with inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, and can lead to cancer (Q. Zhang et al., 2017). In order to treat inflammatory diseases, a deeper understanding of regulation of the inflammatory NF-kB pathway at the molecular level is needed. A common feature of NF-κB signalling activated by different receptors is their reliance on ubiquitin (Ub) chains to transmit the signals from the receptor to downstream mediators (Iwai, 2014). E3 ligases are enzymes that catalyse ubiquitination, a highly conserved posttranslational modification, where ubiquitin is covalently conjugated to target proteins, thereby altering the function of those proteins. Polyubiquitin chains are formed when additional ubiquitin molecules are attached using one of the seven internal lysines (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, K63) or the N-terminal methionine (M1) residue of the proximal ubiquitin, forming polyubiquitin chains of varying topology. Ubiquitin chains of different topology can be bound by different ubiquitin binding proteins, providing versatile signalling outcomes (Komander & Rape, 2012; Swatek & Komander, 2016). While ubiquitination is commonly known to induce proteasomal degradation of substrate proteins, nondegradative Ub chains like K63- and M1-linked Ub chains are known to function as recruitment platforms for mediators of the NF-kB pathway.

Caspases have been extensively studied for their role in apoptosis, but they are also involved in other important functions such as regulation of the NF-κB pathway, and dysregulation of caspases can also lead to inflammatory diseases (McIlwain et al., 2013). How caspases are activated during inflammation, diverting from their apoptotic function is not fully understood. The activity of caspases is tightly controlled by inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs), and it is known that caspases are targeted with both degradative and non-degradative Ub chains (Dumétier et al., 2020). The role of Diap2 in generating K63-linked Ub chains in flies has been described (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). Diap2 targets the *Drosophila* caspase-8, Dredd, with K63-linked Ub chains, which is required for activation of Dredd catalytic activity. However, M1-linked Ub chains were first described in mammals in 2006 (Kirisako et al., 2006), and studies to understand their physiological function in mice by using genetic ablation or catalytic mutation of the E3 ligase responsible found them to be lethal (Emmerich et al., 2013; Peltzer et al., 2014; Sasaki et al., 2013). We aimed to identify the M1-ubiquitination machinery in the common biological model organism, *Drosophila melanogaster*, in order to study the physiological function and mechanism of regulation of the NF- κ B pathway by M1-linked Ub chains. The fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster* is a versatile model organism that has been used to study various biological processes including innate immune responses. As the mediators of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway and their mechanisms of regulation are well conserved, the fruit fly is an attractive model to investigate the regulation of the NF- κ B pathway by ubiquitination and caspases (Myllymäki et al., 2014).

This thesis aims to further our knowledge of caspase-mediated regulation of NF- κ B activation by describing new mechanisms of regulation of the Imd pathway, one of the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathways, by the effector caspase, Drice. Drice inhibits the function of Diap2, an E3 ligase that is important for activation of the Imd pathway, by inducing degradation of Diap2, restraining inflammation induced by commensal bacteria during basal conditions. Furthermore, it describes the M1-linked Ub chain generating machinery in *Drosophila*, LUBEL, and its importance in regulating the Imd pathway in the intestinal epithelial tissue. We have identified new targets of M1-ubiquitination in the Imd pathway, it aims to describe a novel mode of regulation of Kenny, whereby Dredd-mediated cleavage protects Kenny from autophagy-mediated degradation.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1 Drosophila as a model organism

The fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* has been used in biological research for over a century. It has been used as a model in innate immunity since 1970s, when Boman and others described the humoral nature of the antibacterial defence using fruit flies (Boman et al., 1972). Notably, the discovery of the Toll pathway being responsible for innate immune response against fungi (Lemaitre et al., 1996), led to the identification of Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) as the receptor responsible for recognising bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in mammals (Poltorak et al., 1998). These discoveries were later awarded the Nobel prize in Physiology or Medicine in 2011. As the fruit fly lacks an adaptive immune system, combined with the host of genetic and molecular biology techniques made available in *Drosophila*, it serves as a valuable model to study innate immune signalling pathways.

The fruit fly is a versatile model organism that has many advantages over vertebrate model organisms. Easy and inexpensiveness to maintain in the laboratory, having a shorter lifecycle, while producing a large number of offspring are some of the characteristics that makes the fruit fly an efficient model organism. The fruit fly has been used to study a wide range of biological processes like genetics and inheritance, development and aging. It has been established that the fundamental biological processes and signalling pathways controlling development and survival are well conserved between flies and eukaryotes, including humans (Jennings, 2011). The genome of the fruit fly has been sequenced and can be accessed via the online database "Flybase" (Gramates et al., 2022). The fruit fly has around 14000 genes and 75% of human disease genes were found to have a counterpart in the genome of fruit fly (Bier, 2005; Reiter et al., 2001).

The lifecycle of fruit fly lasts about 10 days at 25°C. The eggs undergo embryonic development for about 24 hours, after which larva hatches from the eggs. The larvae eat and grow in three instar stages before forming pupae. The flies undergo metamorphosis during the pupal stage, after which the adult fly hatches. A wide range of genetic tools are available to manipulate gene expression in *Drosophila*. The upstream activating sequence (UAS)-Gal4 system is a binary expression system consisting of the components, the yeast transcriptional activator Gal4 and a transgene, that is under the control of UAS promoter, which is silent in the absence of Gal4. The UAS-Gal4 system can be used to overexpress or reduce expression of genes in a cell or tissue specific manner by using a specific Gal4 promoter element (Brand & Perrimon, 1993). The expression of genes can be reduced by RNA interference (RNAi), by expressing double-stranded RNA corresponding to a gene's sequence and it can

be targeted to a specific cell-type or tissue. The P-element transposon mediated integration of DNA into germline genome is commonly used as a mutagen to generate mutagenic flies. Alternatively, the P-element-based vectors can be cloned to contain a transgene of interest. It can then be injected to Drosophila germline cells along with a plasmid that codes for P transposase, which will cut the P-element backbone from the first plasmid and paste it into the germline genome at a random location. Insertion at a specific location is possible by several techniques, and one example is by using the bacteriophage ϕ C31 integrase, which can insert a transgene at specific recognition sites in the genome called *attP* sites. *Drosophila* lines with specific landing sites (*attP* sites) have been generated, so that the ϕ C31 integrase can integrate a segment of desired DNA flanked by the *attB* sites via recombination to the *attP* sites in the *Drosophila* genome (Groth et al., 2004). Both P-element and ϕ C31 mediated insertion can be combined with other tools such as the UAS-Gal4 system to manipulate gene expression. In addition, the CRISPR-Cas9 system can be used to disrupt or edit genetic elements. Transgenic flies expressing the nuclease Cas9 are available, which can be injected with guide RNAs to induce a double-stranded break (DSBs) at a specific genomic locus. The target locus then undergoes DNA damage repair via nonhomologous end joining or homology-directed repair, both of which can be utilised to generate a desired editing outcome (Gratz et al., 2015; Ran et al., 2013).

2 Ubiquitination

Ubiquitination is a post-translational modification that regulates a wide variety of biological functions including apoptosis, protein processing, trafficking, immune responses, and DNA repair (Swatek & Komander, 2016). Ubiquitin (Ub) is a protein made up of 76 amino acids and ubiquitously expressed in all eukaryotes. Ub is synthesized either as single Ub fused to other proteins or tandem repeats of Ub, which are cleaved by deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) to generate Ub monomers. Ubiquitination refers to the covalent attachment of a Ub molecule to a substrate protein, in a three-step enzymatic reaction catalysed by a multicomponent enzymatic machinery, ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1), ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2) and ubiquitin ligase (E3) (Figure 1 A) (Hershko et al., 1983). The first step is the ATP dependent formation of a thioester bond between Ub and the active cysteine residue of E1. Ub is then trans-thiolated to the active cysteine of E2. Finally, the Ub molecule is conjugated to a substrate protein by additional contribution from E3 ligase (Hershko & Ciechanover, 2003). Really interesting new gene (RING) type E3 ligases function by acting as an intermediate between E2 and the substrate by facilitating direct transfer of Ub from E2 to the substrate. Homologous to the E6-AP carboxyl terminus (HECT) type E3 ligases function by forming a thioester intermediate with the active cysteine of E3 ligase before transferring Ub to the substrate.

RING-between-RING (RBR) type ligases combine the properties of both RING and HECT type ligases, where the RING1 recognises the E2-Ub conjugate, followed by transfer of Ub from E2 to an active cysteine in RING2, after which the Ub is conjugated to the substrate (Yang et al., 2021). The human genome codes for two E1s, around 50 E2s and around 700 E3s (S. Liu & Chen, 2011), and there are 9 E1 Ub-like activating enzymes, 27 E2s and 151 E3s encoded by the Drosophila genome, according to Flybase gene groups ((FB2023_03, released June 13, 2023, (FlyBase Classification of D. Melanogaster Enzymes. 2017)). Ubiquitination starts when the C-terminus of a single ubiquitin molecule is attached to a lysine residue of a substrate protein through an isopeptide bond, leading to monoubiquitination. However, studies have recently shown that ubiquitin can also be attached to serine and threonine residues on target proteins, leading to the formation of an oxyester bond (Kelsall, 2022). The E3 ligases provide specificity by selecting the substrate protein to be ubiquitinated. It is possible that a substrate protein can be monoubiquitinated at multiple lysine residues. Ubiquitin itself contains seven internal lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, K63) and an N-terminal methionine (M1) that can be used to attach additional ubiquitin molecules to form polymeric ubiquitin chains. Structurally distinct Ub chains are formed depending on which residues are utilized to conjugate Ub moieties (Komander & Rape, 2012; Peng et al., 2003). Homotypic Ub chains are formed when the same residue in Ub is used to elongate the chain, mixed chains are formed when distinct residues are used in succeeding positions, and branched Ub chains are formed when a single Ub molecule in a Ub chain is conjugated to two Ub molecules through different residues (Figure 1B). These Ub chains can be short, containing only two Ub molecules or long, containing more than ten Ub moieties. Distinct Ub chains formed using different residues give rise to distinct Ub chain conformations. K48-, K6-, and K11-linked Ub chains adopt a compact conformation and M1- and K63-linked Ub chains adopt an open conformation (Akutsu et al., 2016; Ye et al., 2012). Finally, ubiquitin can also undergo post-translational modifications such as acetylation and phosphorylation on their lysine and serine/threonine residues respectively. Each of these modifications on ubiquitin can provide additional means of regulation and has the potential to influence the signalling outcome (Swatek & Komander, 2016).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the ubiquitination reaction. A. Ubiquitination is the enzymatic process of conjugating ubiquitin to a substrate protein by the combined action of E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and E3 ubiquitin ligase. Ubiquitination is a reversible process and deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) hydrolyse ubiquitin molecules from the substrates. B. Substrates can be monoubiquitinated or polyubiquitinated, and polyubiquitination can give rise to homotypic, mixed or branched ubiquitin chains. Differently coloured balls represent ubiquitin chains of different linkages. Figure adapted from (Dikic & Schulman, 2022; Komander & Rape, 2012; Swatek & Komander, 2016).

3 Drosophila host defence

Insects and microorganisms coexist in nature, and insects have evolved mechanisms to recognize and defend themselves against bacteria, fungi, viruses and parasites. The fruit fly does not possess an adaptive immune system and relies solely on its innate immune system to defend itself from pathogens. The *Drosophila* innate immune response can be divided into humoral and cellular responses.

The cellular response in *Drosophila* is carried out by blood cells or hemocytes, several thousands of which are present in the body cavity of *Drosophila* larva.

Hemocytes can be divided into three cell types, plasmatocytes, lamellocytes and crystal cells, each responsible for performing a specialised function (Banerjee et al., 2019; Rizki & Rizki, 1984). Plasmatocytes are the most abundant, making up 90-95% of the hemocytes, and they function by removing dead cells and pathogens by phagocytosis. Lamellocytes are not found in healthy larva, but they can be induced to differentiate from hemocyte precursors upon infection with parasitoid wasp eggs. The crystal cells that constitute about 5% of the hemocytes are non-phagocytic and involved in melanisation. Crystal cells express prophenoloxidase (ProPO) which is the inactive zymogen form of phenoloxidase (PO) (Dudzic et al., 2015; Rizki et al., 1980). They are fragile cells that act as storage cells for ProPO and readily disrupt, releasing their contents into hemolymph when activated. PO can then oxidize phenols to quinones, which polymerize to form melanin, that ultimately sequesters the microorganism to the wound site (Vlisidou & Wood, 2015).

The humoral response of the innate immune system is characterized by signal dependent activation of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway (Gay & Keith, 1991; Lemaitre, Kromer-Metzger, et al., 1995). The NF-kB family of transcription factors are evolutionarily conserved and play a crucial role in regulating critical processes such as cell survival, proliferation and immune responses (Ghosh et al., 2003). Apart from NF- κ B, other signalling pathways involved in host defence are also evolutionarily conserved, like the Janus kinase protein and signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) signalling pathway and the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway, which are involved in wound healing and stress responses (S. Yu et al., 2022). NF- κ B factors are sequestered in the cytoplasm during basal conditions. They are activated upon stimulus resulting in their translocation to the nucleus where they control expression of immune responsive genes encoding proteins and peptides including antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), which have direct antimicrobial activity (Lemaitre et al., 1997). Several aspects of the humoral response including sensing of the pathogens by pattern recognition receptors, mediators of the NF-κB signalling pathway, and their regulation are conserved between Drosophila and higher organisms (Myllymäki et al., 2014).

3.1 Drosophila NF-кВ pathways

The *Drosophila* genome encodes three NF- κ B family members, Dorsal, dorsalrelated immunity factor (DIF) and Relish (Belvin & Anderson, 2003; Dushay et al., 1996; Hedengren et al., 1999). Activation of NF- κ B upon microbial challenge results in the expression of AMP genes. The expression of AMP genes is controlled by two NF- κ B pathways, the immune deficiency (Imd) and Toll pathway (Lemaitre et al., 1996; Lemaitre, Kromer-Metzger, et al., 1995). These pathways are triggered by sensing of pathogens via interactions of peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs) and Gram-negative binding proteins (GNBPs) with microbial surface proteins (Kurata, 2014). There are 13 PGRP genes found in the *Drosophila* genome, of which 7 are small-sized and secreted, while 6 are largesized and transmembrane receptors. PGRPs are related to bacteriophage type-II amidases, some of which have lost their catalytic activity and function as recognition PGRPs, whereas the ones that possess amidase activity degrade peptidoglycan (PGN) and reduce its ability to induce immune responses (Lemaitre & Hoffmann, 2007). While it was believed that PGRPs can structurally discriminate different bacterial PGNs, it was recently shown that the accessibility to PGNs on the cell wall of bacteria forms the basis of discrimination between different classes of bacteria (Vaz et al., 2019). In addition to pathogens, both the *Drosophila* and mammalian NF- κ B pathways can be activated in response to sterile stresses such as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) (Asri et al., 2019; Rider et al., 2017).

3.2 The Imd pathway

In flies, upon infection by Gram-negative bacteria, the receptors PGRP-LC or PGRP-LE detect and bind to meso-diaminopimelic acid (DAP)-type PGN found on the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria (Choe et al., 2002, 2005; Takehana et al., 2002). Following receptor activation, a death domain containing protein called Imd, which has sequence similarity to the death domain of mammalian Receptor interacting protein kinase (RIPK) 1, is recruited (Georgel et al., 2001). Imd further interacts with Fas-associated death domain (FADD) through a homotypic interaction between death domains (DD) in these proteins. FADD then interacts with the Drosophila homologue of mammalian caspase-8, called Dredd, through homotypic interactions between death effector domains (DED) in these proteins (Hu & Yang, 2000; Naitza et al., 2002). Upon PGN stimulation, Diap2, via its RING domain, is known to conjugate Ub chains to mediators of the Imd pathway. The Drosophila TAK binding protein 2 (Tab2)/TGF-βactivated kinase 1 (Tak1) (dTab2/dTak1) complex is thought to be recruited to the Imd signalling complex through the ubiquitin chain binding property of the Ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain of dTab2. Once recruited, dTak1 activates the inhibitor of κB (I κB) kinase (IKK) complex by phosphorylating IKK β or Immune response deficient 5 (Ird5) (Kanayama et al., 2004; Kulathu et al., 2009; Skaug et al., 2009). In addition, Tak1 is also an important activator of the INK pathway, which is an important stress-sensing pathway in eukaryotic cells. INK is involved in a variety of biological processes in Drosophila including embryonic development, apoptosis, cell proliferation and differentiation, stress response and innate immune responses (Tafesh-Edwards & Eleftherianos, 2020). While the JNK pathway is required for the Imd pathwaymediated AMP release and epithelial shedding (Kallio et al., 2005; Zhai et al., 2018), activation of the NF-KB factor Relish is known to terminate INK signalling (J. M. Park et al., 2004), highlighting the role of Relish in controlling both the Imd and JNK signalling simultaneously.

K63-ubiguitination of Imd and Dredd by Diap2 is required for activation of Dredd, and the Imd pathway (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). The IKK complex comprised of a kinase, $IKK\beta/Ird5$, and a regulatory subunit $IKK\gamma$, called Kenny functions downstream of Dredd. The NF-κB precursor Relish has an N-terminal Rel homology domain (RHD) and C-terminal ankyrin repeats. Relish is normally sequestered in the cytoplasm, as the ankyrin repeats mask the nuclear localisation signal. Cleavage of Relish by Dredd results in Relish translocating to the nucleus, and, expression of hundreds of genes, some of which encode AMPs (Figure 2). Relish activity inside the nucleus was shown to be inhibited by an IkB family member called Pickle, which also contains ankyrin repeats (Morris et al., 2016). Pickle resides in the nucleus and inhibits Relish activity possibly by recruiting the histone deacetylase dHDAC1, which is known to negatively affect transactivation of Relish (Lark et al., 2007). The IKK complex has two important functions in activating Relish. It has been shown that Ird5 phosphorylates Relish, which is not required for cleavage of Relish, but is necessary for a robust induction of Imd pathway target genes (Ertürk-Hasdemir et al., 2009). Curiously, the IKK complex is also required, independent of its kinase activity, for Dredd-mediated cleavage of Relish (Silverman et al., 2000; Stöven et al., 2003).

Although the *Drosophila* Imd pathway is normally compared to Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 1 (TNFR1) signalling pathway for the similarities in the components of the signalling pathway and their mechanisms of regulation, it also has many similarities to the Nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain-like receptor 2 (NOD2) signalling pathway. Apart from having conserved components and mechanisms of regulation, both Imd and NOD2 signalling pathways are activated by components of the bacterial cell wall. Importantly, they are essential for innate immune responses in intestinal epithelia.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the *Drosophila* **Imd pathway.** The Imd pathway is activated by PGRP-LCx receptor upon recognition of DAP-type peptidoglycan from Gram-negative bacteria. A complex comprising of Imd, dFadd and Dredd is recruited, after which Imd and Dredd are ubiquitinated by Diap2. The kinase complexes, Tab2/Tak1 and the IKK complex are recruited via ubiquitin binding, which culminates in phosphorylation of the NF- κ B transcription factor, Relish. Finally, Dredd, which gets activated after ubiquitination, cleaves Relish to release it from inhibition by its ankyrin repeats. Relish is then free to translocate to the nucleus where it activates expression of its target genes.

3.3 The Toll pathway

The Toll receptor in Drosophila does not directly interact with microbial surface determinants. Infection by Gram-positive bacteria is detected in the flies by circulating receptor proteins PGRP-SA, PGRP-SD and GNBP1, whereas a fungal infection is detected by GNBP3 (Valanne et al., 2011). A protease called Modular Serine Protease (ModSP) integrates signalling upon fungal and Gram-positive bacterial infection and initiates a serine protease cascade that proceeds through Grass to finally activate Spätzle processing enzyme (SPE) (Buchon et al., 2009). Activated SPE cleaves a secreted cytokine-like molecule Spätzle, which binds the Toll receptor to induce receptor homodimerization and activates the intracellular part of the signalling (Jang et al., 2006). Alternatively, some virulence factors like proteases released by bacteria and fungi can activate a Drosophila serine protease called Persephone, which can again activate SPE, thus activating the intracellular Toll signalling. Activation of Toll leads to the formation of a signalling complex proximal to the receptor containing MyD88, Tube and Pelle. Toll contains a Toll/interleukin (IL)-1R (TIR) domain, similar to the mammalian TLR and IL-1R through which it interacts with MyD88. MyD88, Tube and Pelle contain death domains (DD) through which a heterotrimeric complex is formed (H. Sun et al., 2002). Pelle is a kinase, which gets activated upon recruitment to the complex which results in phosphorylation, ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of Cactus, the IkB-like protein that sequesters Dorsal and Dif in the cytoplasm. Dorsal and Dif are then free to translocate to the nucleus where they can transcribe Toll target genes (Figure 3) (Ip et al., 1993; Lemaitre, Meister, et al., 1995).



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the *Drosophila* **Toll pathway.** The Toll pathway is activated by Gram-positive bacteria and fungi, which are recognised by secreted recognition molecules PGRP-SA, PGRP-SD, GNBP1 and GNBP3. This is followed by a protease cascade to activate SPE which cleaves Spätzle, after which mature Spätzle binds to the Toll receptor. Three intracellular proteins with death domains, MyD88, Tube and Pelle are then recruited, after which the IkB like protein, cactus is phosphorylated and subsequently degraded by the proteasome. The transcription factors Dif and Dorsal then translocate to the nucleus where they activate expression of their target genes. Figure adapted from (Valanne et al., 2011).

3.4 Tissue-specific regulation of *Drosophila* NF-κB activity

Constitutive activation of the Imd pathway is detrimental to flies, and it is under tight control by several negative regulators that act at different levels of the signalling cascade. Some negative regulators act during basal conditions and others are activated by the Imd pathway providing a negative feedback loop. PGRPs that have catalytic activity, like PGRP-LB and PGRP-SC, degrade PGN to reduce the levels of immunostimulatory compounds. Pirk, which is expressed in response to Imd pathway activation negatively regulates the Imd pathway by acting at the level of Imd and PGRP-LC (Kleino et al., 2008). Plenty of SH3 (POSH) is an E3 ligase that reduces the stability of Tak1. Similarly, Defense repressor 1 (Dnr1) is thought to affect stability of Dredd (K. Aggarwal & Silverman, 2008; Lee & Ferrandon, 2011). Caspar, which is homologous to the human Fas associated factor 1 (FAF1), contains a UBA domain and a DEDinteracting region, and blocks Dredd-mediated cleavage of Relish (Kim et al., 2006). Another layer of regulation is provided by compartmentalization of expression of AMPs. The homeobox transcription factor called Caudal is expressed in the posterior midgut and acts by repressing the expression of a subset of NF-kB target genes like AMPs, but not negative regulators like PGRP-LB (Ryu et al., 2008). Recently, Kenny was described to contain a LC3interacting region (LIR), through which it interacts with the autophagosomal membrane protein microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (Atg8/LC3) (Tusco et al., 2017). Atg8/LC3 are important for formation of autophagosome and serve as scaffolding proteins to recruit cargo molecules to autophagosomes (Shpilka et al., 2011). It was shown that the IKK complex in the fly is selectively degraded by autophagy via the LIR domain of Kenny, to prevent constitutive activation of the Imd pathway in response to commensal microbiota (Tusco et al., 2017). Another protein that contributes to immune tolerance against commensal bacteria is PGRP-LC-interacting inhibitor of Imd signalling (PIMS). PIMS interacts with PGRP-LC causing its depletion from the plasma membrane, thus shutting down the Imd pathway (Lhocine et al., 2008).

The Toll and Imd pathways can be activated in the fatbody, the functional equivalent of the liver, to mount a systemic immune response resulting in the secretion of a large amount of AMPs in the body cavity. The epithelial tissue, like in the intestine, forms a barrier and protects the host from pathogenic microorganisms, at the same time tolerating beneficial gut microbiota. The peritrophic matrix comprised of chitin polymers and peritrophins makes up a mixed grid-like structure to prevent contact between intestinal epithelium and bacteria, potentially limiting the immune reactivity to commensal bacteria (Hegedus et al., 2008). The local immune response to pathogens in the intestine is under the control of the Imd pathway and not the Toll pathway (Basset et al., 2000; Ferrandon et al., 1998; Liehl et al., 2006). In the gut, the Imd pathway is

activated by PGRP-LC, which is functional in the foregut, anterior midgut and the hindgut, and PGRP-LE which acts in the midgut.

4 Mammalian host defence

Humans encounter a diverse array of microorganisms, both non-pathogenic and pathogenic that pose challenge to our health. The mammalian host defence is comprised of the innate and adaptive immune responses. When microorganisms breach the epithelial surface of the body, the inflammatory cells, neutrophils and macrophages, of the innate immune response are the first line of defence against pathogens. Neutrophils and macrophages contain surface receptors through which they can recognize invading bacteria by binding to constituents of bacterial surfaces. This is followed by phagocytosis of the invading bacteria and the secretion of chemokines and cytokines. Secretion of these biologically active molecules helps recruit other players of the immune system to the site of infection and initiate local inflammation (Medina, 2016). The inflammatory cells express PRRs including toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs) and Retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors, which recognise pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) (Takeuchi & Akira, 2010). The innate immune response cannot always eliminate infections and that is when the lymphocytes of the adaptive immune response are activated and help neutralize the threat. Induction of the adaptive immune response starts with phagocytosis of the pathogen by specialized cells called dendritic cells, after which the pathogen is degraded intracellularly. They then carry the antigen from the pathogen to lymphoid organs and present them to lymphocytes. Clonal selection of lymphocytes containing antigen specific receptors forms the basis for characteristics of adaptive immune system to detect all pathogens specifically, neutralize them and remember the antigen to protect against reinfection (Marshall et al., 2018). Lymphocytes that have encountered its antigen then proliferates and differentiate to effector cells that eliminate the pathogen. A subset of these proliferating lymphocytes differentiates into memory cells that can respond rapidly if they encounter the same pathogen again. However, there is a delay of 4-7 days for the adaptive response to take effect and the innate immune system has a critical role during this period (Chaplin, 2010).

4.1 Mammalian NF-κB pathways

The NF- κ B proteins were first discovered as a B-cell specific transcription factor that had a sequence-specific DNA binding property. It is now evident that NF- κ B is a major regulator of transcriptional responses in almost all cell types in response to a broad range of stimuli (Sen & Baltimore, 1986; Q. Zhang et al., 2017). There are five different NF- κ B proteins, p50, p52, Rel A (p65), Rel B, and

c-Rel, all of which contain a conserved Rel-homology domain (RHD) and they can form a variety of homodimers and heterodimers (Ghosh et al., 2003). The RHD is made up of about 300 amino acids performing three functions, sequence specific DNA binding, dimerization and binding to inhibitory proteins. The NF-kB proteins contain a nuclear localisation signal (NLS) following the RHD. The NF- κ B proteins can be divided into two classes. First, p50 and p52 are generated from their respective precursor proteins p105 and p100, both of which contain C-terminal ankyrin repeats. Second, Rel-A, Rel-B and C-Rel do not contain ankyrin repeats but possess transcription transactivation domains (TADs) and, therefore the ability to initiate transcription. NF-kB proteins are mainly cytoplasmic due to their binding to the IkB family of proteins, $I \kappa B \alpha$, $I \kappa B \beta$, $I \kappa B \epsilon$, IκBζ, BCL-3 (B-cell lymphoma 3), and IκBns. The IκB proteins contain multiple ankyrin repeats that can bind to NF-kB and mask their NLS, thereby localising them to the cytoplasm. Activation of NF- κ B is achieved by phosphorylation of I κ B proteins followed by ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation of IκBs, which releases the NF-κB proteins to translocate to the nucleus where they can regulate transcriptional responses. The p100 and p105 proteins undergo partial proteasomal processing to remove the ankyrin repeats, releasing them for nuclear translocation (Hayden & Ghosh, 2008, 2012).

The NF- κ B signalling pathways can be classified into canonical and noncanonical. The canonical pathway (Figure 4) is characterised by the inducible degradation of I κ B. The pathway is activated upon recognition of the ligand by receptors like the TNF receptor (TNFR), IL-1R, PRRs such as the Toll-like receptors and antigen receptors (Hayden & Ghosh, 2014; Schulze-Luehrmann & Ghosh, 2006), that initiate formation of a signalling cascade that culminates in activation of the IKK complex by phosphorylation. The IKK complex, comprised of kinases IKK α , IKK β and the regulatory subunit IKK γ , also called NF- κ B essential modulator (NEMO), in-turn phosphorylates I κ B to facilitate its ubiquitination and degradation by the proteasome, after which the NF- κ B dimers are free to translocate to the nucleus (Wertz & Dixit, 2010).

The non-canonical pathway (Figure 4) is mediated by a subset of the TNFR superfamily members. It relies on the inducible processing of p100 and the nuclear translocation of the RelB/p52 dimer (S. C. Sun, 2017). Important components of the non-canonical pathway include a MAP kinase kinase kinase (MAP3K) member called NF- κ B inducing kinase (NIK) and the downstream kinase, IKK α . Under normal conditions, NIK is ubiquitinated and constantly degraded by the proteasome (Liao et al., 2004). Upon receptor activation, ubiquitination and degradation of NIK is hindered, and leads to an accumulation of NIK. NIK then stimulates phosphorylation, ubiquitination and processing of p100, to give rise to p52 by activating the downstream kinase IKK α (Xiao et al., 2001). Upon processing of p100, the RelB/p52 dimer is free to translocate to the nucleus where it can induce expression of target genes.

The NF-kB family of transcription factors are major regulators of host defence and control expression of a number of genes that regulate immune responses, inflammation, cell survival and apoptosis, stress responses, cell growth and proliferation. Dysregulation of the NF-kB pathway can contribute to inflammatory, development of autoimmune, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases (Fiordelisi et al., 2019; Kaltschmidt et al., 2022; Karin, 2006). Inflammation has been recognised as a hallmark of cancer, and plays an important role in development and progression of cancer (Taniguchi & Karin, 2018). As NF-kB is the master regulator of inflammatory responses, their activity must be tightly regulated, as their aberrant activation can have severe consequences for human health. A key feature of the NF-κB pathways is their reliance on formation of ubiquitin chains to transmit the signals from activated receptor to the nucleus for NF-kB mediated target gene expression (Wertz & Dixit, 2010). As ubiquitination fine tunes NF-kB signalling at multiple levels, dysregulation of ubiquitination can lead to diseases of the immune system and inflammatory diseases (Q. Zhang et al., 2017).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the NF-κB pathway. The canonical NFκB pathway, activated by pattern-recognition receptors, cytokine receptors, and antigen receptors culminate in the activation of the IKK complex, comprised of NEMO, IKKα and IKKβ, by phosphorylation. IKK complex further phosphorylates IκBα after which IκBα is degraded by the proteasome, releasing the NF-κB transcription factor dimer to translocate to the nucleus where it activates expression of its target genes. The noncanonical NF-κB pathway, activated by members of the TNFR superfamily results in the stabilisation of NIK, which is otherwise degraded in the proteasome. NIK can then phosphorylate IKKα, which in turn phosphorylates the NF-κB transcription factor p100 resulting in partial processing of p100 to give rise to p52. The p52/RelB dimer then translocates to the nucleus to activate target gene expression. Figure adapted from (Falschlehner & Boutros, 2012).

4.2 The TNFR1 signalling pathway

TNFR1 pathway is induced by its ligand, the tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α), a master cytokine, which belongs to the TNF superfamily of cytokines. While the default mode of TNFR1 activity is to induce the NF-kB pathway, it also possesses an intrinsic cell death inducing property (Figure 5). It can affect any cell type and can cause a variety of cellular responses like induce the inflammatory NF-kB pathway or activate programmed cell death through apoptosis or necroptosis (B. B. Aggarwal et al., 2012). TNFR1 is a death receptor (DR) and contains a death domain (DD) in its cytoplasmic part, which upon ligand binding, trimerizes and recruits TNFR1-associated death domain (TRADD) and RIPK1 (Hsu et al., 1995; Hsu, Huang, et al., 1996). TRADD further recruits TNF receptor associated factor (TRAF) 2 or 5 to the complex (Hsu, Shu, et al., 1996). TRAF2 in-turn serves as a platform to recruit cellular inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (cIAPs) cIAP1 and cIAP2, followed by recruitment of the Linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex LUBAC (Haas et al., 2009; Rothe et al., 1995). TNFR1 signalling activates NF-kB pathway by parallel recruitment of two kinase complexes, comprising of the TAK1-TAB2 and, the IKK complex (Kanayama et al., 2004; Rahighi et al., 2009). TAK1 then activates the IKK complex by phosphorylation (Wang et al., 2001). Activation of IKK complex leads to phosphorylation and degradation of IkB, which releases the NF- κ B dimer for nuclear translocation and transcription of its target genes. This membrane bound complex described above is referred to as complex I of the TNFRI pathway, which activates the NF-kB pathway. But, upon incomplete ubiquitination of RIPK1, it can lead to the assembly of a cytoplasmic complex II resulting in apoptosis or necroptosis (Annibaldi et al., 2018; Moquin et al., 2013; Tu et al., 2021). Incompletely ubiquitinated or unmodified RIPK1 dissociates from complex I and associates with FADD through interaction of their DDs (Annibaldi & Meier, 2018). FADD further recruits pro-caspase-8 or its catalytically inactive homologue FLICE-like inhibitory protein (FLIP) through interaction of their DEDs, to form a death platform, where caspase-8 gets activated to initiate apoptosis. Improper activation of caspase-8 in complex II can result in autophosphorylation of RIPK1 and recruitment of RIPK3 through their RIP homology interaction motifs (RHIMs) (X. Sun et al., 2002). RIPK3 undergoes autophosphorylation and further phosphorylates mixed lineage kinase domainlike protein (MLKL) (Murphy et al., 2013). Activated MLKL then translocates to the plasma membrane where it binds phosphoinositides to cause membrane permeabilization (Dovey et al., 2018; Quarato et al., 2016; Witt & Vucic, 2017).


Figure 5. Schematic representation of the TNFR1 signalling pathway. The TNFR1 signalling is activated upon binding of TNF-α to TNFR1. Complex I of the TNFR1 is formed upon recruitment of TRADD, RIPK1, TRAF2/5. cIAP1/2 is recruited to the complex via TRAF2. cIAP1/2 ubiquitinates mediators of the pathway leading to Ub dependent recruitment of the TAK1/TAB2/3, LUBAC and IKK complex. LUBAC ubiquitinates mediators of the pathway and further promotes recruitment of the IKK complex. Activation of the IKK complex induces the phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of IκB, thus leading to activation of the NF-κB pathway. Incomplete ubiquitination of RIPK1 or absence of NF- κB activation leads to formation of complex II, comprising of RIPK1, FADD and caspase-8 or TRADD, FADD and caspase-8, inducing apoptosis by the extrinsic pathway, while inhibition of caspase-8 activity induces necroptotic cell death. Figure adapted from (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier, 2010).

4.3 The NOD2 signalling pathway

NOD2 is a member of NOD, leucine-rich repeat (LRR)- containing protein (NLR). It is an intracellular PRR that recognizes muramyldipeptide (MDP), a component of peptidoglycan from Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (Girardin et al.,

2003). Mutations in NOD2 receptors are associated with an increased risk of Crohn's disease and colorectal cancer (Al Nabhani et al., 2017; Ferrand et al., 2019). NOD2 contains a NOD domain through which NOD2 oligomerizes upon detection of MDP through its LRR domain, which is a microbe-associated molecular pattern recognition region, similar to LRR domain of TLRs. They also possess a caspase recruitment domain (CARD) through which they recruit the CARD containing adaptor RIPK2 (J.-H. Park et al., 2007). Upon recruitment, RIPK2 undergoes autophosphorylation and ubiquitination (Hasegawa et al., 2008; Pellegrini et al., 2017). RIPK2 has been associated with a number E3 ligases like cIAP1,2, X-chromosome-linked (XIAP), TRAF2,5, and 6. The ubiquitin chains on RIPK2 is believed to function as scaffold to recruit the kinase complexes TAK1, TAB1, TAB2/3 and the IKK complex. Activation of the IKK complex results in phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation of I κ B and subsequent nuclear translocation of NF- κ B dimer followed by expression of its target genes (Caruso et al., 2014).

4.4 Linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex (LUBAC)

LUBAC is a 600kDa complex, composed of three subunits, Heme-oxidized IRP2 Ub ligase-1 (HOIL-1), HOIL-1-interacting protein (HOIP) and Shankassociated RH domain-interacting protein (SHARPIN) (Figure 6) (Kirisako et al., 2006). It is the only known mammalian E3 ligase that can generate M1-linked ubiquitin chains. Both HOIP and HOIL-1 belong to the family of RBR-type E3 ligases. Even though HOIL-1 has E3 ligase activity, HOIP is considered as the catalytic subunit of LUBAC. HOIP functions by combining the mechanism of its RBR domain together with the linear ubiquitin chain determining domain (LDD)dependent specificity to generate M1-linked Ub chains (Smit et al., 2012). HOIP is in an autoinhibited state due to the interaction between the N-terminal region, containing ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain, and the RBR domain. HOIL-1 and SHARPIN function as co-factors to enable E3 ligase activity of HOIP (Stieglitz et al., 2012). The UBA domain of HOIP interacts with the ubiquitin-like (UBL) domain of HOIL-1, and the HOIP UBA and Npl4-type zinc finger (NZF) domains interact with the UBL domain of SHARPIN to form this trimeric complex. LUBAC is a core component of the NF-kB signalling pathways activated by cytokine receptors, Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NLRs, and antigen receptors. Activation of these receptors leads to recruitment of receptor-associated adaptor proteins like RIPK1 to TNFR1 and RIPK2 to NOD2, followed by the recruitment of E3 ligases like cIAP1/2, XIAP and Pellino3. K63-linked Ub chains are conjugated to components of this complex which facilitates recruitment of LUBAC through its NZF domains (Haas et al., 2009). Once recruited LUBAC conjugates M1-linked Ub chains on components of the signalling pathway, like RIPK1 in the TNFR1 and RIPK2 in the NOD2 signalling pathways (Damgaard et al., 2012; Draber et al., 2015; Fiil et al., 2013). Interestingly, NEMO, which has been shown to bind M1linked Ub chains has also been shown to be a substrate for LUBAC mediated M1ubiquitination (Tokunaga et al., 2009). Furthermore, it has been shown that LUBAC preferentially generates M1-linked Ub chains on existing K63-linked Ub chains to form mixed/hybrid K63/M1-linked Ub chains (Emmerich et al., 2013, 2016; Hrdinka et al., 2016). These mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains could colocalize the TAK1-TAB2/3 and the IKK complex to the same polyubiquitin chain, facilitating activation of IKK α and IKK β by TAK1. Loss of LUBAC and M1linked Ub chains can lead to aberrant activation of the TNFR1 pathway leading to cell death caused by increased formation of apoptosis-inducing complex II (Peltzer et al., 2014, 2018). Loss of the LUBAC component SHARPIN, which affects LUBAC function is known to cause chronic proliferative dermatitis (cpdm) in mice (Gerlach et al., 2011; Seymour et al., 2007; Tokunaga et al., 2011). HOIL-1 and HOIP mutations are reported to contribute to immunodeficiency and autoinflammation in humans (Boisson et al., 2012, 2015).



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the E3 ligase complex LUBAC. LUBAC is comprised of HOIL-1, HOIP and SHARPIN. Interactions between the subunits are mediated by LUBAC-tethering motif (LTM), UBL and UBA domains. NZF, RBR-LDD, ZF, PUB, Pleckstrin-homology (PH) are other domains of LUBAC. Figure adapted from (Fiil & Gyrd-Hansen, 2021).

Other targets of LUBAC-mediated M1-ubiquitination include MyD88, IRAK1/4, cellular FLIP (c-FLIP), and the initiator caspase, caspase-8. c-FLIP is a catalytically inactive homologue of caspase-8, and it was shown that LUBAC conjugates M1-linked Ub chains on c-FLIP during TNF signalling, which protects c-FLIP from proteasome-mediated degradation (Tang et al., 2018). c-FLIP is an anti-apoptotic protein that can form a complex with caspase-8, suppressing its catalytic activity and apoptosis. During TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) signalling, it was shown that LUBAC conjugates M1-linked Ub chains on RIPK1 and caspase-8, facilitating the recruitment of IKK complex to the TRAIL

signalling complex, thereby promoting NF- κ B activation and the production of cytokines (Lafont, Kantari-Mimoun, et al., 2017). It was suggested that HOIP suppressed the activity of caspase-8, but it is not known if this is a direct result of M1-ubiquitination of caspase-8.

A homologue of HOIP in the fly, called Linear ubiquitin E3 ligase (LUBEL), was described to catalyse the generation of M1-linked Ub chains *in vitro* (Asaoka et al., 2016), but its involvement in the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway and the substrates that are ubiquitinated with M1-linked Ub chains was not previously described. The *Drosophila* DUB, called CYLD that was suggested to be a negative regulator of the Imd pathway, can interact with Kenny (Tsichritzis et al., 2007) and LUBEL (Asaoka et al., 2016). Similar to mammalian CYLD, it was also shown to hydrolyse both K63- and M1-linked Ub chains (Asaoka et al., 2016).

5 Ubiquitination-mediated regulation of NF-κB pathway

Distinct Ub chains can have distinct Ub chain conformations. K48, K6 and K11 Ub chains adopt a compact conformation, while M1- and K63-linked Ub chains adopt an open conformation (Akutsu et al., 2016; Ye et al., 2012). The message of the Ub chains is decoded by Ub receptors, which contain Ub binding domains (UBDs), that recognize and bind specific surface patches in Ub chains (Husnjak & Dikic, 2012). Ubiquitin receptors or UBD containing proteins vary widely in size, amino acid sequence and three-dimensional structure. By using the topology of ubiquitin chains, they are able to discriminate between ubiquitinated substrates. Hence, the UBDs of proteins can preferentially bind to Ub chains of specific linkage, which is utilized by the cells to regulate signalling pathways (Husnjak & Dikic, 2012). The conjugation of Ub chains can have different effects on the fate of the substrate, depending on the type of Ub chain linkage.

In the *Drosophila* Toll pathway, Cactus, the I κ B-like protein that sequesters Drosal and Dif in the cytoplasm is known to be K48-ubiquitinated, resulting in its degradation, mediated by the proteasome. In the canonical NF- κ B pathway, after the I κ B proteins get phosphorylated by the IKK complex, they are recognized by the β TrCP E3 complex and conjugated with K48-linked Ub chains. The UBD of a receptor in the 26S proteasome binds K48-linked Ub chains, and the I κ B proteins are subsequently degraded by the proteasome (Kanarek et al., 2010). In the non-canonical NF- κ B pathway, cIAPs conjugate K48-linked Ub chains on TRAF3, which targets them for proteasomal degradation. This in turn hinders TRAF3-mediated K48-ubiquitination and degradation of NIK, resulting in NIK stabilization (Liao et al., 2004; Xiao et al., 2001). Similar to I κ B, the p100 proteins also undergo K48-ubiquitination by the β TrCP E3 complex, but they are only targeted for partial proteasomal processing to form mature p52.

5.1 Non-degradative Ub chains promote NF-κB activation

While the K48-Ub chains usually target proteins for proteasome-mediated degradation, K63- and M1-linked Ub chains have non-degradative functions by serving as recruitment platforms for proteins with UBDs. Upon activation of the NF-kB pathway, receptor associated adaptor proteins are decorated with K63and M1-linked Ub chains, which are bound by ubiquitin receptor proteins like the TAB/TAK and the IKK complex, which are key components of both the mammalian and Drosophila NF-KB pathways (Kleino & Silverman, 2014; Rutschmann et al., 2000; Silverman et al., 2000). The TAK1-TAB2/3 complex comprises of the kinase TAK1 and its accessory protein TAB2 or TAB3. Both TAB2 and TAB3 contain a N-terminal coupling of ubiquitin conjugation to endoplasmic reticulum degradation (CUE) domain, a C-terminal NZF ubiquitin binding domain, a coiled coil (CC) and a TAK1 binding domain. The NZF of TAB2 was shown to bind K63-linked Ub chains and it is thought that this binding mediates oligomerization and autophosphorylation of TAK1, after which TAK1 is able to phosphorylate and activate the IKK complex (Kanayama et al., 2004; Kulathu et al., 2009; Skaug et al., 2009). The IKK complex is comprised of the kinase IKK α , IKK β and the regulatory subunit IKK γ , otherwise called NEMO. NEMO contains two coiled coil regions, CC1 and CC2, followed by a leucine zipper (LZ) and a zing finger (ZF). The CC2 and LZ domains, together termed as the coilzipper (CoZi) region has been shown to be responsible for binding to Ub chains. The ubiquitin binding in ABIN and NEMO proteins (UBAN) domain, located within the CoZi region, has homology to other ubiquitin binding proteins like A20-binding inhibitor of NF- κ B (ABIN) and optic neuropathy inducing (optineurin). Even though it was previously thought that NEMO bound K63linked Ub chains, it was later shown that the CoZi region of NEMO binds M1linked Ub chains with a 100-fold higher affinity than K63-linked Ub chains (Lo et al., 2009; Rahighi et al., 2009).

In the *Drosophila* Imd pathway, Dredd is targeted by Diap2 for K63ubiquitination mediated by its RING-domain. After K63-ubiquitination, Dredd cleaves Imd on its N-terminus that harbours a caspase cleavage site (LEKD), which exposes a consensus IAP-binding motif (IBM) (AAPV). The baculovirus IAP repeat (BIR) 1 and 2 domains of Diap2 can then interact with IBM of Imd, after which Diap2 targets Imd with K63-linked Ub chains (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). The K63-linked Ub chains attached to Imd and Dredd are believed to recruit dTab2/dTak1 complex and the IKK complex via their ubiquitin binding properties (Kleino & Silverman, 2014). In addition, the cleavage of Relish by Dredd was shown to be dependent on Diap2 mediated K63ubiquitination of Dredd, although how ubiquitination affects the catalytic activity of Dredd is not known. The involvement of M1-linked Ub chains in the Imd pathway and whether Kenny is recruited to the Imd signalling complex via binding to M1-linked Ub chains has been studied in this thesis project.

Mammalian LUBAC is recruited to the TNFR1 signalling complex by the action of E3 ligases TRAF2, cIAP1, and cIAP2 that modify themselves and RIPK1 with K63-linked ubiquitin chains (Varfolomeev et al., 2008). These K63-linked Ub chains serve as recruitment platform for LUBAC (Haas et al., 2009). Addition of M1-linked Ub chains, mediated by LUBAC, on its targets RIPK1 and NEMO was suggested to stabilize the signalling complex by retaining the mediators, resulting in full activation of downstream signalling (Draber et al., 2015; Tokunaga et al., 2009). Similarly, in the NOD2 pathway, K63-ubiquitination of RIPK2 by XIAP2 is an important signalling event as it is required for recruitment of LUBAC, which ubiquitinates RIPK2 with M1-linked Ub chains (Damgaard et al., 2012; Fiil et al., 2013). Together, the K63- and M1-linked Ub chains function as recruitment platforms for the TAK1-TAB2/3 complex and the IKK complex. Recruitment of the TAK1-TAB2/TAB3 complex and the IKK complex by K63- and M1-linked Ub chains respectively brings them in close proximity and enables sequential phosphorylation and activation of these kinase complexes, finally resulting in the phosphorylation, K48-ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation of IkB (Emmerich et al., 2013, 2016). Importantly, the recognition and binding of NEMO to M1-linked Ub chains is required for activation of the NFκB pathway (Tokunaga et al., 2009).

5.2 Regulation of NF-κB activity by deubiquitinases (DUBs)

Ubiquitination is a reversible process, and this reversal is performed by enzymes called deubiquitinases (DUBs). While the E1s, E2s and E3s combine to add ubiquitin moieties to a target protein, DUBs are ubiquitin proteases, responsible for breaking down ubiquitin chains by removing the ubiquitin moieties from target proteins or polyubiquitin chains. It is estimated that the human genome codes for around 95 DUBs (Nijman et al., 2005). Several DUBs, like A20, the ovarian tumour protease (OTU) deubiquitinase with linear linkage specificity (OTULIN) and the cylindromatosis tumour suppressor (CYLD) regulate NF-κB signalling by modulating Ub chains. A20, which contains seven zinc fingers and an OTU-type DUB domain, is an important negative regulator of NF-KB signalling, as inactivation of the A20 gene is associated with inflammatory diseases (Catrysse et al., 2014; Musone et al., 2008). A20 can bind to M1-and K63-linked Ub chains through its Zinc finger (ZnF) 7 and 4 respectively (Bosanac et al., 2010; Tokunaga et al., 2012). Additionally, A20 hydrolyses K63-linked Ub chains but stabilizes M1-linked Ub chains (Mevissen et al., 2013). It has been suggested that A20 suppresses NF-κB activation by competing with other activators of NF-κB, like the IKK complex for binding to M1-linked Ub chains (Draber et al., 2015; Skaug et al., 2011).

LUBAC associates with two DUBs, OTULIN and CYLD, and exits in the cell as two fractions, one that associates exclusively with CYLD and another with OTULIN (Draber et al., 2015; Elliott et al., 2016; Hrdinka & Gyrd-Hansen, 2017).

OTULIN contains a OTU domain and a peptide:N-glycanase/UBA- or UBXcontaining proteins (PUB)-interacting motif (PIM), through which it interacts with the PUB domain of HOIP (Elliott et al., 2014; Schaeffer et al., 2014). The cylindromatosis tumour suppressor CYLD is a Ub-specific protease (USP)-type DUB that can hydrolyse both K63- and M1-linked Ub chains (Hrdinka et al., 2016). CYLD interacts with the PUB domain of HOIP indirectly through a bridging protein called Spermatogenesis-associated 2 (SPATA2) (Elliott et al., 2016). restricts M1-ubiguitination of both LUBAC OTULIN targets and autoubiquitination of LUBAC components (Heger et al., 2018). In contrast to OTULIN, CYLD is co-recruited along with LUBAC to the TNF and NOD2 signalling complex, where CYLD possibly functions by trimming K63-linked Ub chains, which is a target for LUBAC-mediated ubiquitination to generate mixed K63/M1linked Ub chains (Hrdinka et al., 2016). Mutations in DUBs CYLD and OTULIN are known to cause cylindromatosis (Bignell et al., 2000; J. Zhang et al., 2006), characterized by development of benign tumours in the skin, and OTULINrelated inflammatory syndrome (ORAS) or otulipenia, characterized by severe inflammation of the skin and joints respectively (Damgaard et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2016).

6 Caspases

Caspases are evolutionarily conserved cysteine-aspartic proteases that have important functions in regulating programmed cell death and inflammation. The function of caspases in cell death was discovered in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Ellis & Horvitz, 1986). Caspases hydrolyse peptide bonds mediated by the catalytic cysteine residue in its active site and cleaves after certain aspartic acid residues on its substrates. Caspases contain a prodomain followed by a caspase domain comprised of large and small catalytic subunits (Figure 7) (Lamkanfi et al., 2002). They are produced as inactive zymogens, and often require dimerization and cleavage for activation. Dimerization depends on specific interaction regions in the prodomain of caspases that can bind to various adaptor proteins, which recruit caspases to signalling complexes. Mammalian caspases can be classified into inflammatory (caspase-1, -4, -5, -11) and apoptotic caspases. Depending on the presence of interaction domains at their N-terminus, the apoptotic caspases can be sub-divided into initiator (caspase-8, -9, -10) and effector caspases (caspase-3, -6, -7). Initiator caspases possess a death effector domain (DED) or a caspase recruitment domain (CARD) that mediate their dimerization and/or recruitment to signalling complexes where they can proteolytically cleave their substrates (Van Opdenbosch & Lamkanfi, 2019). The activation of the initiator caspase zymogen to active protease is induced by a process called proximity-induced autoactivation, where dimerization of the caspase zymogen induces a conformation change that leads to proteolytic cleavage of the flexible linker region between the prodomain and the caspase domain (Salvesen & Dixit, 1999). Effector caspases on the other hand do not possess a prodomain or have a very short prodomain. They exist as inactive homodimers and get activated upon cleavage of the linker region between their large and small catalytic domains by activated initiator or effector caspases (Ramirez & Salvesen, 2018).

In Drosophila, three caspases, Dredd, Death regulator Nedd2-like caspase (Dronc) and Ser/Thr-rich caspase (Strica), which are similar to mammalian initiator caspases, and four caspases, Drosophila interleukin 1β-converting enzyme (Drice), Death-associated molecule related to Mch2 (Damm), Death executioner caspase related to apopain/yama (Decay) and Drosophila effector caspase-1 (Dcp-1), which are similar to mammalian effector caspases have been identified (Figure 7) (Kumar & Doumanis, 2000; Lamkanfi et al., 2002). Dronc is the only fly caspase that contains a CARD. Dronc is recruited to the apoptosome by homotypic CARD interaction to the adaptor protein Deathassociated APAF1-related killer (Dark), which is similar to the recruitment of mammalian caspase-9 to Adaptor protein apoptotic protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1) (X. Yu et al., 2006). After activation of Dronc in the apoptosome, it proteolytically cleaves and activates effector caspases Drice and Dcp-1, which cleaves downstream targets to execute apoptosis. Dredd contains two DEDs in its prodomain, which are important for its recruitment to signalling complexes to conduct its catalytic activity. While Dredd has been described to have functions during apoptosis (P. Chen et al., 1998), it has also been shown to be an important mediator of the inflammatory NF-kB pathway (Leulier et al., 2000). The DED1 of Dredd has been shown to be important for binding to Drosophila Fadd (dFadd) and Diap2 upon activation of the Imd pathway, although the interaction between Dredd and Diap2 is not through IBM (Hu & Yang, 2000; Meinander et al., 2012). Strica contains a unique serine/threonine rich prodomain, however not much is known about the functions of Strica, Damm and Decay.



Figure 7. Domain composition of mammalian and *Drosophila* **caspases.** Mammalian inflammatory and initiator caspases contain a prodomain, comprised of recruitment domains like the DED or CARD, and a caspase domain comprised of a large (L)(~20kDa) and a small subunit (S)(~10kDa). Effector caspases contain a very short prodomain or do not contain a recruitment domain. m stands for murine and h for human. The *Drosophila* initiator caspases Dredd and Dronc have long prodomains containing two DEDs and a CARD respectively. Strica is a atypical caspase harbouring a Ser/Thr rich prodomain. The effector caspases Drice, Dcp-1, Decay and Damm have short prodomains that does not contain any recruitment domains. Figure adapted from (Kumar & Doumanis, 2000; Van Opdenbosch & Lamkanfi, 2019).

6.1 Caspase activity at crossroads of inflammation and cell death

Caspases are responsible for the induction of programmed cell death by apoptosis and pyroptosis (Taylor et al., 2008; Vande Walle & Lamkanfi, 2016). Apoptosis is a non-lytic mode of cell death, and as the apoptotic bodies are efficiently removed, they do not release damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and thus do not result in recruitment of inflammatory cells. Apoptosis

can be induced via the intrinsic pathway by UV- or γ -irradiation, DNA damage, chemotherapeutic drugs, and cytokine deprivation, or via extrinsic pathways by signalling through death receptors (DR). Some examples of the DR family include TNFR1, CD95, DR3, TRAILR-1, -2, and DR6. Signalling through DRs leads to the formation of the Death-inducing signalling complex (DISC) consisting of FADD, caspase-8 and c-FLIP, after which caspase-8 gets activated, initiating the pro-apoptotic caspase cascade (Taylor et al., 2008). However, inhibition of caspase activity upon activation of the extrinsic mode of cell death usually does not inhibit cell death but leads to a lytic mode of cell death, necroptosis (Holler et al., 2000). Pyroptosis is another major lytic mode of cell death mediated by inflammatory caspases, and is associated with the release of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18. While apoptosis is considered to be immunologically silent, necroptosis and pyroptosis are inflammatory in nature. Dysregulated caspases have been associated with diseases involving tumorigenesis, autoimmunity, and autoinflammation (McIlwain et al., 2013).

Even though the DRs are well known for their role in induction of apoptosis, they can also activate inflammatory pathways, namely the NF- κ B pathway (Cullen & Martin, 2015; Lavrik et al., 2007). During TRAIL-R1 signalling, it was shown that a complex comprised of FADD, caspase-8/-10 and RIPK1 is formed, which led to the recruitment of the IKK complex and subsequent NF- κ B activation. In addition, caspase-8 was shown to play a non-enzymatic, scaffolding role for the assembly of this complex of proteins (Henry & Martin, 2017). In another study, it was shown that during TRAIL-R1 signalling, LUBAC was recruited to the TRAIL-R associated complex I where LUBAC targets caspase-8 for M1-ubiquitination to suppress its catalytic activity and facilitating recruitment of the IKK complex and NF- κ B activation (Lafont, Kantari-Mimoun, et al., 2017).

6.2 Regulators of caspases

As dysregulated apoptosis and caspase activity can be detrimental to health, the activity of caspases needs to be tightly regulated. Caspase activity is regulated by c-FLIP and members of the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAPs) like c-IAP1 and -2 and XIAP that can directly bind to inhibit caspase-3, -7 and – 9, and inhibit their activity.

6.2.1 Inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) proteins

IAP proteins, as their name suggests, are potent inhibitors of apoptosis and they act by modulating the activity of caspases. IAPs are also important mediators of signalling cascades during innate immune and NF-κB responses (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier, 2010). IAPs were first identified in baculoviruses for their ability to inhibit apoptosis (Bump et al., 1995). There are eight IAP members in mammals including X-linked IAP (XIAP), cellular IAP1 (cIAP1) and

cellular IAP2 (cIAP2). Four IAP proteins have been identified in flies, namely, Drosophila iap1 (Diap1), Drosophila iap2 (Diap2), Deterin and Drosophila BIR repeat containing ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (dBruce). IAPs are characterized by the presence of interaction domains called BIR domains. XIAP, cIAP1, and cIAP2 contain three BIR domains, UBA and a RING domain. Diap1 contains two BIR domains and a RING domain, whereas Diap2 contains three BIR domains, a UBA domain and a RING domain, and is the closest homologue to mammalian IAPs on the basis of domain architecture (Figure 8). BIR domain containing IAPs can associate with proteins that possess IAP-binding motif (IBM) (Z. Liu et al., 2000; Srinivasula et al., 2001). IBMs can be found in proteins like the mammalian caspase-3, -7, -9 and second mitochondrial-derived activator of caspases (SMAC), the Drosophila Imd, the Drosophila caspases Drice and Dcp-1, and apoptotic proteins Head involution defective (Hid), Grim and Reaper (Scott et al., 2005; Vaux & Silke, 2003; Wilson et al., 2002; Yan et al., 2004). XIAP has been shown to bind to caspase-3 and caspase-7 via BIR2, and caspase-9 via BIR3 and inhibit their catalytic activity. cIAP1 and cIAP2 contain a CARD domain, which generally functions as an interaction surface. However, it was shown that CARD mediates autoinhibition of E3 ligase activity of cIAP1 by keeping it in a closed configuration and preventing dimerization of its RING domain (Lopez et al., 2011). In flies, Diap1 was shown to bind to Dronc, Dcp-1, and Drice and ubiquitinate them to inhibit their catalytic activity (Ditzel et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2002). While Diap1 is the key inhibitor of apoptosis protein in the fly, Diap2 has its main function as a mediator of the NF-κB pathway (Goyal et al., 2000; Leulier et al., 2006).

Diap2 can also inhibit Drice by a mechanism that resembles caspase inhibition by the viral 'suicide substrate', the baculovirus protein p35. Diap2 and Drice form a covalent adduct between the catalytic cysteine (C211) of Drice and aspartic acid (D100) of Diap2, and through the binding between IBM of Drice and BIR3 of Diap2 (Ribeiro et al., 2007). In addition, Diap2 is cleaved and Drice is ubiquitinated as a consequence of their interaction but how this interaction affects the activity and function of these proteins is not known. Furthermore, IAPs possess E3 ligase activity via the RING domain, and can interact with ubiquitinated proteins via the UBA domain. IAPs have been shown to induce autoubiquitination and ubiquitination of their binding partners that target the substrate proteins with both degradative and nondegradative ubiquitin chains (Bertrand et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2000). Diap2 was shown to be important for expression of NF-kB target genes upon infection by Gram-negative bacteria (Leulier et al., 2006). Importantly, it was shown that Diap2 functions as a E3 ligase to target Imd and Dredd with K63-linked Ub chains (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010).



Figure 8. Domain composition of mammalian IAPs XIAP, cIAP1/2 and *Drosophila* **IAPs, Diap1 and Diap2.** Mammalian IAPs, XIAP and cIAPs contain three BIR domains, a UBA domain and a RING domain. In addition, cIAPs contain a CARD which normally functions as a recruitment domain, but whose function is not known in cIAPs. While Diap1 contains two BIR domains, Diap2 contains three. Both Diap1 and Diap2 have a RING domain. In addition, Diap2 contains a UBA domain. Figure adapted from (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier, 2010).

6.2.2 FLIPs

FLIPs are DED containing proteins that were first discovered in virus (v-FLIP) as inhibitors of apoptosis induced by death receptors (Thome et al., 1997). It was later described that human cellular FLIP (c-FLIP) in addition to having anti-apoptotic property, also had an important role in activating NF-κB signalling (Golks et al., 2006; Irmler et al., 1997; Kataoka et al., 2000; Krueger et al., 2001). While v-FLIPs contain only the two DEDs, c-FLIPs exist in three isoforms, c-FLIP long (c-FLIP_L), c-FLIP short (c-FLIP_S) and c-FLIP Raji (c-FLIP_R). While all c-FLIP isoforms contain two DEDs which are structurally similar to DEDs in the prodomain of caspase-8, only c-FLIP_L contains the catalytic domain. But c-FLIP_L does not possess catalytic activity due to several amino acid substitutions, hence functioning as a pseudo-caspase (Öztürk et al., 2012). c-

FLIPs block apoptosis by their recruitment to the DISC via DED interactions and inhibit caspase-8 processing and activation. On the other hand, they were also observed to facilitate activation of caspase-8 at the DISC (Chang et al., 2002). Importantly, it was described that c-FLIP is a target of M1-ubiquitination mediated by LUBAC. It was found that M1-ubiquitination of c-FLIP protects it from proteasomal degradation, stabilizing c-FLIP, thereby protecting the cells from TNF- α induced apoptosis (Tang et al., 2018). Apart from regulating apoptosis, both c-FLIPs and v-FLIPs also regulate NF- κ B activation by DEDmediated binding to NEMO (Bagnéris et al., 2022; Golks et al., 2006; Neumann et al., 2010).

6.2.3 Other regulators of caspases

The first caspase inhibitors to be identified were viral gene products, cytokine response modifier A (CrmA) and p35. CrmA was first shown to inhibit caspase-1 activity and prevent the production of active cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 (Ray et al., 1992). However, it was later shown that CrmA inhibits apoptosis induced by DRs, by inhibiting caspase-8 (Miura et al., 1995; Tewari & Dixit, 1995). It is thought that while some CrmA molecules can be cleaved and released, other CrmA molecules form an irreversible stable complex with its substrate caspase, thereby inhibiting them. p35, another viral gene product was identified in a virus that affects moths (Clem et al., 1991). Similar to CrmA, p35 can also block apoptosis induced by viral infection. It has been shown that p35 can inhibit mammalian caspase-1, -3, -6, -7, -8, and -10. p35 inhibits substrate caspases by functioning as a suicide substrate. Once p35 get cleaved by the caspase, it forms a covalent linkage with the active site and does not dissociate from the caspase (Best, 2008). Ectopic expression of p35 and CrmA, along with synthetic caspase inhibitors like Z-VAD-FMK, Z-DEVD-FMK, Emricasan and others have been used in studies to understand the functions of caspases.

OUTLINE AND KEY AIMS OF THESIS

The NF- κ B family of transcription factors are master regulators of the inflammatory responses and their activity is regulated by a highly conserved post-translational modification called ubiquitination. We used the fruit fly *Drosophila* as our model to further our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of regulation of the NF- κ B pathway. The fly is a suitable model for this research, as the NF- κ B signalling mechanisms are conserved from flies to humans, and as *Drosophila* provides excellent genetic and molecular tools needed to investigate NF- κ B and innate immune responses.

This thesis aims to elucidate the role of an effector caspase, called Drice and an initiator caspase, called Dredd, in regulating the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway. While K63-linked Ub chains have previously been shown to be involved in regulating the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway, the role of M1-linked Ub chains has not been described. We investigated how the function of Diap2, the E3 ligase that conjugates K63-linked Ub chains upon activation of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway, is regulated by Drice. Furthermore, we identified LUBEL as the M1linked Ub chain generating machinery in *Drosophila* and aimed to uncover the role of LUBEL and M1-linked Ub chains in regulating the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway by studying how it affects the functions of Dredd and the IKK complex.

Key aims of this thesis

- To understand how the E3 ligase Diap2 is regulated in the *Drosophila* Imd pathway.
- To describe the role of the effector caspase, Drice as a regulator of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway.
- To identify the M1-linked Ub chain machinery in *Drosophila*.
- To identify mediators of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway that are targeted for M1-ubiquitination.
- To describe the functional consequence of M1-ubiquitination of the caspase Dredd and the IKK complex in the Imd pathway.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

The experimental procedures used in this thesis work are presented briefly in this section. More detailed information can be found in the original publications.

Experimental procedure	Study
16S rRNA sequencing	Ι
Axenic flies	Ι
Cell culture	I, II, III
Computational modelling	II, III
Drosophila dissections	I, II, III
Drosophila maintenance and crossing	I, II, III
Generate transgenic flies	I, II
Image analysis	I, II
Immunofluorescence	I, II
Immunoprecipitation	I, II, III
Infection and survival assays	I, II, III
In vitro ubiquitination assay	II
Light microscopy	I, II
Pathogen clearance assay	I, II
Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	I, II
Purification of recombinant proteins	I, II, III
Purification of ubiquitin chains	I, II, III
Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qPCR)	I, II
SDS-PAGE and Western blotting	I, II, III
Statistical analysis	I, II
Transfection	I, II, III
Ubiquitin chain restriction (UbiCRest) analysis	II
X-gal staining	I, II

Table 1. Experimental procedures used in this thesis work.

1 Fly husbandry

Г

Drosophila melanogaster were maintained at 25 °C on Nutri-fly BF (Dutscher Scientific) in a 12 h light–dark cycle. Adult flies were used for all experiments described. *CantonS* or Gal4 driver lines were used as controls. The list of fly lines used in this thesis work can be found in Table 2.

1

Fly strain	Study
Canton ^s	I, II, III
DaughterlessGal4 (DaGal4)	I, II, III
Diap2 ^{7c}	Ι
Diptericin-LacZ (Dipt-LacZ)	I, II
dredd ^{D44}	III
dredd ^{L23}	II, III
Drice ¹⁷	Ι
$LUBEL^{Mi}$	II
	II
NP1Gal4	I, III
Rel ^{E20}	II, III
Spätzle ^{RM7}	II
UAS-Drice ^{C211A} ; DaGal4	Ι
UAS-Drice ^{wr} ; DaGal4	Ι
UAS-Kenny-GFP	III
UAS- Lubel-RNAi	III
UAS-p35	Ι
UAS-RBR-LDD C>A, WT	II
UbiquitousGal4 (UbiGal4)	II
UbiGal4; Drice-RNAi	I, III
UbiGal4; UAS-Diap2 ^{∆100}	Ι
UbiGal4; UAS-Diap2 ^{WT}	Ι
Yellow white (yw)	Ι

Table 2. *Drosophila* fly lines used in this thesis work.

2 Cloning and generation of transgenic flies

Synthetic codon optimised LUBEL RBR-LDD obtained from Genescript was subcloned into pMT insect expression vector for expression in cells, pGEX vector for expression in *E. coli*, and pUAST-attB for φC31-mediated integration of RBR-LDD, V5-tagged Drice and untagged Diap2 into the fly genome. UAS-RBR-LDD^{WT} and UAS-RBR-LDD^{C>A} were introduced to the landing site line #24749 and their expression was verified in cDNA using PCR. Fly egg injections for insertion of gene of interest at specific landing sites were performed by Bestgene Inc. Site-directed mutagenesis to generate point mutations in Kenny (F281A, R285A/R288A/E289A, D21E, D27E, D67E, D88E mutants) and LUBEL (RBR-LDD C2704A) was performed using QuikChange Lightning Site-directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent technologies).

3 Infection and survival assays

The Gram-negative bacteria *Erwinia carotovora carotovora 15* (*Ecc15*) and Gram-positive bacteria *Micrococcus luteus* (*M. luteus*) were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium at 29 °C under rotation for 16 hours and concentrated (optical density 0.2). The ability of flies to survive infection with bacteria was studied by infecting 20 flies with Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*, *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) or Gram-positive bacteria *Micrococcus luteus* (*M. luteus*) and monitoring their survival over time. Septic infections were performed by pricking the flies in their lateral thorax with a thin needle dipped in concentrated *Ecc15* or *M. luteus*. Oral infections were performed by feeding the flies with a 1:1 solution of bacteria and 5% sucrose. The infected flies were then used to measure survival, NF- κ B target gene expression, pathogen clearance, or purify Ub chains.

4 Quantitative RT-PCR

Drosophila adult flies were homogenised using QIAshredder (Qiagen). Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol from which cDNA synthesized. rp49 was used as a housekeeping gene for calculating $\Delta\Delta$ Ct. The expression of the following genes *AttacinA*, *Diptericin*, *IM1*, *Drosomycin*, *RBR-LDD*, *ZnF*, *Ub* and *rp49* was measured by qPCR using specific primers, the sequences of which can be found from the publications in this thesis.

5 Purification of GST-TUBE and GST-NEMO-UBAN

The expression of GST-TUBE and GST-NEMO-UBAN grown in *E. coli BL21* overnight in LB medium at 18 °C under rotation, were induced by adding 0.2 mM IPTG. The bacteria was centrifuged and lysed by sonication in a buffer containing

50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM DTT, 0.5 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and 0.2 mg/ml lysozyme. GST-TUBE and GST-NEMO-UBAN were purified from the lysate using Glutathione Sepharose[™] 4B beads and washed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5) and 150 mM NaCl. GST-TUBE was eluted in 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 3 mM DTT, and 50 mM glutathione. The recombinant proteins were then concentrated from the eluate using Amicon[®] Ultra-4 30 K centrifugal filter devices.

6 X-gal staining of *Drosophila* intestines

Local NF- κ B activity was measured in dissected intestines of flies from *Diptericin-LacZ (Dipt-LacZ)* reporter fly line, combined with mutants of interest. Intestines from female adult flies were dissected in cold PBS and fixed for 15 min with PBS containing 0.4% glutaraldehyde and 1 mM MgCl₂. The samples were washed with PBS and incubated with a freshly prepared staining solution containing 5 mg/ml X-gal, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide trihydrate, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide crystalline and 2 mg/ml MgCl₂ in PBS at 37 °C. After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted using Mowiol (Sigma) and imaged with a brightfield microscope (Leica).

7 Cell culture

Drosophila Schneider S2 cells (Invitrogen) were grown at 25 °C using Schneider medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% l-glutamine and 0.5% penicillin/streptomycin. Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen) was used to transfect indicated constructs according to manufacturer's instructions. Expression of constructs in pMT plasmids was induced using 0.5mM CuSO₄ for 16 hours before lysis. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Sigma) was added at a concentration of $80 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ for the indicated times and $1 \,\mu\text{M}$ of 20-hydroxyecdysone (Sigma) was added 24 h prior to LPS treatment.

8 Immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitations were performed in lysates from transfected S2 cells using α -HA or α -V5 agarose beads. S2 cells were lysed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 5 mM NEM, 5 mM chloroacetamide and PierceTM Protease Inhibitor and PhosSTOP. For immunoprecipitations under denaturing conditions, lysis was performed with a SDS concentration of 1% followed by sonication, after which it was diluted to 0.1% before clearing. The lysates were then cleared at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and incubated with α -HA or α -V5 agarose beads (Sigma) for 2 h under rotation at 4 °C. The beads were washed in a buffer containing 10 mM Tris (pH

7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Triton X-100 and 5% glycerol. HA- or V5-conjugated proteins were eluted using Laemmli sample buffer.

9 His-ubiquitin pulldowns

S2 cells were lysed in a buffer containing 6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8), 5 mM imidazole, and 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol (β -ME). The lysates were incubated with Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen) at 4 °C overnight. The beads were washed once with a buffer containing 6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8), and 10 mM β -ME, and twice with a buffer containing 8 M urea, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8), 10 mM β -ME, and 0.1% Triton X-100. His-Ub-conjugated proteins were eluted using a buffer containing 200 mM imidazole, 0.15 M Tris (pH 6.7), 30% glycerol, 0.72 M β -ME, and 5% SDS.

10 Purification of endogenous ubiquitin chains from cells and fly lysates

Ubiquitin chains from lysates of adult flies or S2 cells were purified using recombinant GST-Tandem ubiquitin binding entity (TUBE) protein, that binds ubiquitin chains with high affinity. M1-linked Ub chains were purified using a recombinant GST-tagged protein containing the UBAN region (residues 257-346) of NEMO (GST-NEMO-UBAN), that has high affinity towards M1-linked Ub chains. These recombinant proteins were first expressed in and purified from E. coli, after which they were used to purify ubiquitin chains from fly and cell lysates. Forty adult flies or S2 cells were lysed in a buffer containing 20 mM NaH₂PO₄, 1% NP-40, 2 mM EDTA supplemented with 1 mM DTT, 5 mM Nethylmaleimide (NEM), Pierce[™] Protease Inhibitor, PhosSTOP, 5 mM chloroacetamide. For denaturing conditions lysis buffer with 1% SDS was used and later diluted to 0.1% before incubation with Glutathione Sepharose[™] 4B beads and GST-TUBE or GST-NEMO-UBAN (30–100 mg/ml) for at least 2 h under rotation at 4 °C. The beads were then washed three times with ice-cold 0.1% phosphate-buffered saline-Tween-20 (PBS-Tween-20) and eluted using Laemmli sample buffer. Ubiquitin chain restriction (UbiCRest) analysis of the GST-NEMO-UBAN-purified ubiquitin chains from S2 cells and flies was performed in a buffer containing 25 mM HEPES (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl and 2 mM DTT. The samples were treated with $1 \mu M$ of recombinant deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs), OTULIN, vOTU or AMSH and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C.

11 Treatment of flies with inhibitors

Treatment of adult flies with inhibitors was performed by feeding them with 50 μM MG-132, 50 μM Z-DEVD-FMK, 250 μM Emricasan, or 100 μM Chloroquine

diluted in a 1:1 solution of LB media and 5% sucrose for 16 hours after starving them first for 2 hours. Adult flies or dissected intestines or carcasses from adult flies were homogenized and lysed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA and 10% Glycerol for 10 minutes on ice. The lysates were then cleared by centrifugation before the addition of Laemmli sample buffer.

12 Antibodies

The expression of proteins in the purified/immunoprecipitated/lysate samples from S2 cells and adult flies were analysed by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting using antibodies listed in Table 3.

Antibody	Company/reference
Actin (clone C-11)	Santa Cruz
DIAP2	(Leulier et al., 2006)
Drice	(Tencho et al., 2004)
GFP	Abcam
HA (clone 3F10)	Roche
K48 (clone Apu2)	Millipore
K63 (clone Apu3)	Millipore
M1 (clone IE3)	Millipore
Phospho-histone H3	Cell Signalling
Ubiquitin (clone FK2)	Enzo
Ubiquitin (clone Ubi-1)	Novus
V5 (clone SV5-Pk1)	Bio-Rad

Table 3. List of antibodies used in this thesis.

13 Immunofluorescence of Drosophila intestines

Intestines from female adult flies were dissected in cold PBS and fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde. The tissues were then permeabilised using PBS-0.1% Triton X-100 for 1 h and incubated overnight at 4 °C with rabbit anti-phospho-Histone

H3 primary antibody in 1:1000 dilution. They were incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody in 1:600 dilution for 2 hours at room temperature. DNA was stained using DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). The tissues were mounted using Mowiol and imaged using a spinning disk confocal microscope (Zeiss Axiovert-200M microscope, Yokogawa CSU22 spinning disk confocal unit) using ×20 objectives. The acquisition and processing was done using 3i SlideBook6 and image processing was done using Image J software.

14 Pathogen clearance assay

E. coli transformed with pMT/Flag-His was cultivated overnight in LB medium at 37 °C for 16 h on rotation and concentrated by centrifugation (optical density 0.150). Adult flies were fed with 1:1 solution of transformed *E. coli* in 5% sucrose after starving them for 2 hours. The flies were then surface cleaned with ethanol and distilled H_2O and homogenised in 150 µl PBS. The samples were then cleared by centrifugation and diluted 1:100, after which they were plated on LB plates with 50 µg/ml ampicillin. The number of bacterial colonies were counted 24 hours after plating.

RESULTS

1 Drice is a negative regulator of the Imd pathway in the intestine (I)

Intestinal immune responses need to be tightly regulated, as their dysregulation can cause chronic inflammation, leading to diseases like inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and cancer (Garrett et al., 2009; Grivennikov & Karin, 2010). Apart from being regulators of caspase activity during apoptosis, IAP proteins are important mediators of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway. They ubiquitinate target proteins to induce NF- κ B activation (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier, 2010), but how they are regulated during inflammation is unknown. Diap2 is in an important mediator of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway that is known to target Imd pathway mediators for K63-ubiquitination (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). As the caspase-3 homologue, Drice, is known to form a complex with Diap2 (Ribeiro et al., 2007), we investigated the role of the Drice-Diap2 complex in the NF- κ B pathway.

1.1 Transgenic expression of Diap2 induces chronic inflammation in the intestine of flies

Diap2 is an important mediator of one of the *Drosophila* NF-κB pathways, the Imd pathway, upon both local and septic infection with Gram-negative bacteria (Kleino et al., 2005; Leulier et al., 2006). To understand the function of Diap2, we used a transgenic fly that overexpresses Diap2 via the UAS-Gal4 system. By using the *Diptericin-LacZ* reporter flies, we found that Diap2 overexpression spontaneously induced the expression of Diptericin in the guts, but not the fatbody (I, Figure 1 A, B, C, D). While we were able to detect full-length Diap2 in the fatbody, we detected both full-length and a truncated version of Diap2 in the guts (I, Figure 1 G,H). Diap2 and Drice have been shown to form a complex that results in ubiquitination of Drice and proteolytic cleavage of Diap2 after aspartic acid (D100) (Ribeiro et al., 2007). Interestingly, the size of this truncated form of Diap2 detected in the guts of flies expressing transgenic Diap2 corresponds to the Drice-cleaved form of Diap2. This indicates that Diap2 is regulated differently in the guts of flies, and Drice possibly has a role in this regulation. To investigate this, we measured the expression of NF-κB target genes in *Drice*¹⁷ mutant flies and Drice-RNAi flies, and found that they had a higher expression of NF-kB target genes (I, Figure 2 A, B), whereas an overexpression of Drice led to a lower basal expression (I, Figure 2 C). This indicates that Drice functions as a negative regulator of the Imd pathway. Similar to transgenic flies that overexpressed Diap2, loss of Drice mediated by Drice-RNAi induced Diptericin expression in the gut, but not in the fatbody (I, Figure 2 D, E).

1.2 Drice's catalytic activity is required for regulating Diap2 and the Imd pathway

To investigate the role of catalytic activity of Drice in regulating Diap2, we expressed Drice^{WT} or the catalytically inactive Drice^{C211A} mutant in a Drice^{RNAi} background. Upon measuring the expression of NF-κB target genes, *Drosocin* and *Diptericin*, we saw that Drice^{WT} but not Drice^{C211A} was able to restrain the expression of AMPs induced by the loss to Drice (I, Figure 3A). By expressing the viral caspase inhibitor p35, which acts as a suicide substrate by blocking the catalytic machinery of Drice, we were able to show that inhibition of Drice activity in the intestinal enterocytes induced a local induction of *Diptericin* in the guts (I, Figure 3C, D), indicating that Drice activity is required for regulating Diap2.

Our results showed that the expression of AMPs upon overexpression of Diap2 and inhibition of Drice was induced specifically in the gut, and not the fatbody. The bacterial presence is constant in the gut due to resident gut microbiota, whereas the fatbody is exposed to bacteria only during a systemic infection. Therefore, we hypothesized that the commensal bacteria are responsible for Diap2-mediated Imd pathway activation, which in the absence of Drice, leads to excess activation of the Imd pathway. To test this, we reared the flies in axenic conditions to eliminate the commensal microbiome, and as expected, found that the expression of AMPs was no longer elevated upon both overexpression of Diap2 and downregulation of Drice (I, Figure 6A, C).

1.3 Drice modulates ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny by regulating Diap2 levels

In order to investigate if Drice activity can modulate Diap2-mediated ubiquitination, we fed the flies with cell permeable caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK, and found that it led to accumulation of full-length Diap2 levels and a Diap2-mediated increase in K63-linked Ub chains in fly lysates (I, Figure 4 A, B). As Dredd and Kenny are key mediators of the Imd pathway that are targeted by Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination, we investigated if Drice interferes with K63-ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny. We overexpressed Diap2 together with Dredd or Kenny in *Drosophila* S2 cells to induce their ubiquitination and co-expressed Drice^{WT} or Drice^{C211A}. Inducing Drice activity by expression of Drice^{WT} resulted in a reduction in Diap2 levels and K63-ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny (I, Figure 4C, D). Importantly, inhibiting Drice activity by co-expressing Drice^{C211A} or by treatment with Z-DEVD-FMK resulted in stabilization of full-length Diap2 and an increase in K63-ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny (I, Figure 4C, D) showing that Drice catalytic activity restrains the ubiquitination function of Diap2. Our results thus shows that Drice, by regulating Diap2 levels, modulates

the E3 ligase function of Diap2. As a result, Drice affects the ability of Diap2 to ubiquitinate its substrates Dredd and Kenny, which is required for the Imd signalling pathway to proceed.

2 LUBEL regulates local inflammatory responses in the intestine of flies (II)

M1-linked Ub chains are induced upon various stress promoting stimuli (Asaoka et al., 2016; Damgaard et al., 2012; Haas et al., 2009; Lafont, Kantari-Mimoun, et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2018; Tokunaga et al., 2009), and we wanted to study the physiological role of M1-linked Ub chains *in vivo* using *Drosophila melanogaster* as the model organism. K63-ubiquitination of Imd and Dredd mediated by Diap2 was shown to be important for activation of the Imd pathway, but the role of M1-linked Ub chains in the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway has not been described. The NF- κ B pathway is activated in the fatbody when a pathogen enters the hemocoel and the hemolymph, which is usually achieved by delivering the bacteria by pricking or injecting the body. However, the epithelial surfaces of the gut and trachea also encounter pathogens associated with food and their environment. We analysed the role of M1-linked Ub chains using both routes of infection.

2.1 LUBEL catalyses the synthesis of M1-linked Ub chains upon infection

To study and understand the importance of M1-Ub chains in the Drosophila Imd pathway, we wanted to analyse if M1-linked Ub chains are generated when the Imd pathway is activated. Using a bioinformatics approach, we identified the Drosophila gene CG11321 to contain RBR and UBA domain similar to HOIP and a NZF found in all LUBAC components. Subsequently, we and others, described that CG11321, named LUBEL, as the orthologue of mammalian HOIP, the catalytic subunit of LUBAC (Asaoka et al., 2016). To study the role of LUBEL, we used a mutant fly line (yw;Mi{ET1}LUBELMB00197, labelled *lubel^{Mi}*) that has a 7.5 kb Minos transposable element inserted between the UBA1 and UBA2 region of LUBEL, which disrupts the gene transcription before the catalytic region. We then induced the Imd pathway in wild-type Canton^s and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies by both septic injury and feeding with Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15.* M1-linked Ub chains from fly lysates were then enriched using a recombinant high-affinity binder, UBD of IKKy or NEMO tagged with GST (GST-NEMO-UBAN) (Fiil et al., 2013; Keusekotten et al., 2013). We found that M1linked Ub chains are induced in *Canton^s* flies upon both septic and oral infection, but completely abolished in *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies (II, Figure 1A, B). In order to confirm that the enriched chains were linked via M1-Ub, we treated them with recombinant DUBs OTULIN and vOTU. Treatment with OTULIN, which cleaves only M1-linked Ub chains, completely removed signal from M1linked Ub chains, while treatment with vOTU, which cleaves all chains except M1-linked Ub chains, gave rise to only a ladder of free M1-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 1C). This is because vOTU can cleave the first ubiquitin that links M1linked Ub chains to their substrates.

Similar to HOIP, LUBEL contains zinc fingers, UBA domains and a C-terminal RBR-LDD region. Structural modelling of RING2 and LDD indicates that the catalytic pocket including the catalytic cysteine, and the positioning around the donor and acceptor ubiquitin are conserved between HOIP and LUBEL (II, Figure 2 B). *In vitro*, LUBEL catalyses the formation of M1-linked Ub chains that are hydrolysed only by the M1-linked Ub chain specific DUB, OTULIN, but not the Associated molecule with the SH3 domain of STAM (AMSH) and otubain-1 (OTUB1), which are specific for K63- and K48-linked Ub chains respectively (I, Supplementary Figure 2B). Furthermore, we overexpressed wild-type and catalytically inactive C2704A RBR-LDD of LUBEL in *Drosophila* Schneider S2 cells, and found that only wild-type RBR-LDD generated M1-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 2C). Together, our results show that RBR-LDD is the catalytic region of LUBEL, and infection with Gram-negative bacteria induces the synthesis of LUBEL-mediated M1-linked Ub chains in *Drosophila*.

2.2 CYLD hydrolyses M1-linked Ub chains

In mammals, OTULIN and CYLD have deubiquitinase activity towards K63- and M1-linked Ub chains (Komander et al., 2009). Although no homologue of mammalian OTULIN has been described in the flies, *Drosophila* CYLD was shown to interact with Kenny in S2 cells (Tsichritzis et al., 2007). We analysed if CYLD expression can hydrolyse M1-linked Ub chains generated by LUBEL RBR-LDD. By co-expressing CYLD with LUBEL-RBR-LDD, we observed that CYLD completely hydrolysed all M1-linked Ub chains generated by LUBEL RBR-LDD, although having only a small effect on the levels of K63-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 2D). It was also shown *in vitro* that *Drosophila* CYLD can interact with LUBEL RBR-LDD (Asaoka et al., 2016) and have deubiquitinase activity towards K63- and M1-linked Ub chains (Asaoka et al., 2016).

2.3 LUBEL is important for activation of the Imd pathway in the intestine upon oral infection

In order to understand the role of M1-linked Ub chains in activation of the *Drosophila* NF- κ B pathway, we performed survival assays after infecting the flies by septic injury with Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15* or Gram-positive bacteria *M. luteus*. We also measured the expression of Toll and Imd pathway specific target genes by qPCR. Upon septic injury with *M. luteus*, we found that

both *Canton^s* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies were able to tolerate the infection and upregulate the expression of Toll-specific AMPs IM1 and Drosomycin (II, Supplementary Figure 4A, B). Similarly, they were able to survive septic injury with *Ecc15* and upregulate expression of *Drosocin*, a Imd pathway specific AMP (II, Figure 6A, B). This shows that even though M1-linked Ub chains are formed upon septic injury, they are not required for systemic activation of the Imd pathway in the fatbody, the organ which responds to septic injury by activating expression of AMP. However, upon infecting the flies by feeding them with *Ecc15*, the *lubel*^{Mi} mutant flies succumbed, while most of the *Canton*^s flies survived the infection (II, Figure 6C). Accordingly, the expression of Drosocin in the *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies was significantly reduced upon oral infection (II, Figure 6D). By analysing the expression of Diptericin using Diptericin-LacZ reporter flies, we showed that the intestines of control flies, but not the *lubel*^{Mi} mutant flies, induced expression of *Diptericin* in the midgut upon oral infection with *Ecc15*, indicating that M1-linked Ub chains are important for local activation of the Imd pathway and expression of AMPs in the epithelia of the intestine (II, Figure 6E). Finally, to test if LUBEL is required for clearing pathogens upon ingestion, we fed wildtype *Canton^s* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies with ampicillin-resistant *E. coli*. We then homogenised the flies and plated in agar plates containing ampicillin, and counted the colonies formed. We found that the number of colony-forming bacteria was significantly higher in *lubel*^{Mi} mutant flies than in wildtype flies (II, Figure 6G), indicating that LUBEL is required for clearing ingested pathogens.

2.4 Transgenic expression of LUBEL RBR-LDD drives NF-κB activation

We generated transgenic flies expressing wildtype and catalytically inactive LUBEL RBR-LDD under the control of UAS-Gal4 system. Upon driving the expression of transgenes with a ubiquitous driver (II, Figure 7A), DaGal4, we found that the expression of Imd pathway specific AMPs *Attacin, Drosocin,* and *Diptericin,* were induced in flies expressing wildtype, but not catalytically inactive RBR-LDD even without infection (II, Figure 7B). By analysing the expression of *Diptericin* in the intestine using *Diptericin-LacZ* reporter flies, we found that wildtype RBR-LDD induced expression of *Diptericin* in the midgut (II, Figure 7C). Intestinal inflammation is associated with hyperplasia in the midgut of flies (Amcheslavsky et al., 2009), and we found that there were more phosphohistone H3-positive proliferating cells in the midguts of flies expressing wildtype RBR-LDD (II, Figure 7D, E), showing that constitutive activity of LUBEL drives the Imd pathway specific NF- κ B, Relish, mediated chronic inflammation.

3 Identifying targets of M1-ubiquitination in the Imd pathway (II, III)

To identify targets of M1-ubiquitination, we used *Drosophila* S2 cells to transfect constructs to express mediators of the Imd pathway. We checked the ability of LUBEL RBR-LDD to generate M1-linked Ub chains in S2 cells, and found that expression of wildtype, but not catalytically inactive RBR-LDD was able to generate M1-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 2C). We over-expressed important mediators of the Imd pathway along with RBR-LDD, and we identified targets of LUBEL-mediated M1-ubiquitination by performing immunoprecipitations under denaturing conditions.

3.1 Kenny is a target of M1-ubiquitination

It is known that NEMO, the mammalian IKK γ , regulates NF- κ B signalling by both being a target of M1-ubiquitination, and via UBAN domain mediated binding to M1-linked Ub chains. To analyse if Kenny is similarly ubiquitinated, we purified M1-linked Ub chains using recombinant GST-NEMO-UBAN and found that overexpression of Kenny alone induced its M1-ubiquitination (II, Figure 3A). Coexpressing LUBEL RBR-LDD induced a further increase in M1-ubiquitination of Kenny. To understand if M1-ubiquitination of Kenny is signal dependent, we coexpressed PGRP-LCx or treated the cells with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to induce the Imd pathway. We found that activation of the Imd pathway induced an increase in M1-ubiquitination of Kenny (II, Figure 3B, C). Interestingly, we found that CYLD hydrolyses M1-linked Ub chains induced by overexpression of Kenny. The LPS-induced increase of M1-ubiquitination of Kenny was also not seen upon CYLD expression (II, Figure 3C).

3.2 Kenny is modified by mixed K63- and M1-linked Ub chains

It has been reported that mixed K63-/M1-linked Ub chains are commonly formed upon activation of the TNFR1, MyD88, TLR3 and NOD1 signalling pathways (Emmerich et al., 2013, 2016). The M1-linked Ub chains were found to be attached to pre-formed K63-linked Ub chains, indicating that pre-formed K63-linked Ub chains generated by other E3 ligases are targeted by LUBAC for M1-ubiquitination to form hybrid K63-/M1-linked Ub chains. To analyse if mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains are generated on Kenny, we first determined if Kenny is modified by K63-linked Ub chains. It has been previously shown that Diap2 generates K63-linked Ub chains on mediators of the Imd pathway (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). Therefore, we checked if Diap2 generates K63-linked Ub chains on Kenny by performing immunoprecipitation under denaturing conditions, using a His-tagged ubiquitin mutant where all other lysines except K63 were mutated. We found that co-expressing Diap2 not only

induced K63- but also boosted M1-ubiquitination of Kenny (II, Figure 4B, C). Importantly, the amount of M1-ubiquitinated Kenny, purified by GST-NEMO-UBAN, was decreased upon treatment with AMSH, indicating that M1-linked Ub chains attached to Kenny are likely attached indirectly through K63-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 4D).

Similar to NEMO, Kenny has a UBAN domain, and structural modelling suggested that their UBAN domains are conserved (II, Figure 5A). The strong binding surfaces of NEMO for M1-linked Ub chains formed by the amino acids F312, R316, R319 and E320, corresponding to F281 and R285, R288A, E289 of Kenny are also conserved, as the mutant of the binding surfaces (F281A and R285A/R288A/E289A) was no longer able to stabilize M1-linked Ub chains (II, Figure 5B). Our results thus indicate that Kenny is not only conjugated by M1-linked Ub chains, but also associates with M1-linked Ub chains via UBAN domain leading to stabilisation of M1-linked Ub chains.

3.3 The caspase-8 homologue, Dredd is a target of M1ubiquitination

Using our over-expression system, we further analysed if Imd and Dredd are targets of LUBEL RBR-LDD-mediated M1-ubiquitination. While we were not able to detect LUBEL-mediated ubiquitination of Imd, we found that Dredd was targeted for M1-ubiquitination by wildtype, but not the catalytically inactive C2704A mutant form of RBR-LDD (III, Figure 1A). Upon co-expressing PGRP-LCx, we found that M1-ubiquitination of Dredd further increased, showing that Dredd is M1-ubiquitinated in a signal dependent manner (III, Figure 1B). Furthermore, from our ubiquitination assays, we found that the DED1 domain of Dredd is the region where Dredd is M1-ubiquitinated (III, Figure 1D). It has been previously shown that a point mutation in the DED1 domain, G98R (III, figure 3A), affected Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination of Dredd. This mutation was previously described as G120R, but the Dredd protein that is transcribed is found to be 22 amino acids shorter than the previously reported sequence. We have now found that this mutation also abrogates M1-ubiquitination of Dredd (III, Figure 3B). It is possible that mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains are formed on Dredd and the decrease in M1-ubiquitination of G98R mutant of Dredd is due to the fact that the G98R mutation affects its K63-ubiquitination.

4 Dredd and Kenny interact leading to cleavage of Kenny (III)

It is known that interaction between NEMO and M1-linked Ub chains forms an activation hub for NF- κ B signalling to proceed (Rahighi et al., 2009; Tokunaga et al., 2009). Interestingly, DED-mediated interactions to NEMO or its homologue

optineurin can affect NF- κ B responses (Bagnéris et al., 2008; Nakazawa et al., 2016; Sadek et al., 2020). In order to test if Dredd can interact with Kenny, we performed immunoprecipitations and found that Dredd indeed can bind to Kenny (III, Figure 2A). Furthermore, we found that this interaction is mediated through the prodomain and specifically the DED1 domain of Dredd (III, Figure 2B, C). Surprisingly, we found that Dredd not only binds to Kenny, but also cleaves Kenny on its N-terminus. By generating point mutations of aspartic acid residues on the N-terminus of Kenny (D21E, D27E, D66E, D88E) (Figure 2E), we found that Dredd cleaves Kenny at D21, as only D21E mutation abrogated Dredd-mediated cleavage (Figure 2F).

In order to predict if the M1-ubiquitination-abrogating G98R mutation of Dredd distorts the interaction with Kenny, we did modelling based on the crystal structure of the complex of Kaposi's sarcoma herpes virus (KSHV)-FLIP and NEMO (PDB: 3CL3). We used the AlphaFold model of Dredd and aligned it to the structure of KSHV-FLIP bound to NEMO (III, Figure 3C). Our modelling suggested that DED1 of Dredd can interact with NEMO similarly as DED1 of KSVH-FLIP, and we saw that the G98 surface would phase the interaction surface. However, upon performing immunoprecipitation experiments, we found that Dredd G98R mutation did not significantly decrease the ability of Dredd to interact with Kenny (III, Figure 3D). The catalytically inactive Dredd (C408A) was also able to bind Kenny, similarly as wildtype Dredd (III, Figure 3D). Our results thus suggest that Dredd binds to Kenny via DED1 domain regardless of Dredd ubiquitination. We then studied if Dredd ubiquitination affects its ability to cleave Kenny. As expected, catalytically inactive Dredd (C408A) was not able to cleave Kenny. Importantly, G98R mutation of Dredd significantly affected the cleavage of Kenny compared to wildtype Dredd, indicating that Dredd ubiquitination affects its catalytic activity (III, Figure 3E).

We have previously shown that Kenny stabilizes M1-linked Ub chains through the UBAN domain, and overexpression of Kenny leads to stabilisation of M1linked Ub chains in S2 cells. To investigate if Kenny can stabilize M1-linked Ub chains after cleavage by Dredd, we performed GST-NEMO-UBAN pulldowns after expressing Kenny alone and together with Dredd. We found that expressing Kenny alone and together with Dredd led to stabilisation of M1-linked Ub chains, and both full length and cleaved Kenny associated with M1-linked Ub chains. We then analysed if co-expressing Kenny with Dredd can stabilize M1-linked Ub chains on Dredd. Interestingly, we found that co-expression of Kenny increased the amount of M1-ubiquitinated wildtype but not the G98R mutant of Dredd (III, Figure 4A), indicating that Kenny and Dredd form a complex where Kenny stabilizes Ub chains on Dredd (III, Figure 4B).

5 Dredd-mediated cleavage protects Kenny from degradation (III)

In the N-terminal region of Kenny that is cleaved by Dredd, there is a LC3interaction region (LIR) motif, which is required for interaction with the autophagosomal membrane protein microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (Atg8/LC3) (Pankiv et al., 2007). In fact, it was shown that the IKK complex via Kenny interacts with autophagosomes to undergo selective autophagosomal degradation to prevent constitutive activation of the Imd pathway in the intestine of the flies (Tusco et al., 2017). To study the cleavage of Kenny in flies, we used a transgenic fly that expresses N-terminally GFP-tagged Kenny under the control of UAS-Gal4 system (III, Figure 5A). We were able to detect full-length Kenny in the intestine of flies upon treatment with the lysosomal inhibitor chloroquine, indicating that Kenny undergoes autophagic degradation in the gut (III, Figure 5B). The IKK complex is an important mediator of the Imd pathway, apart from phosphorylating Relish, it is also required independent of its kinase activity for Dredd mediated cleavage of Relish and ultimately for activation of the Imd pathway (Ertürk-Hasdemir et al., 2009; Silverman et al., 2000; Stöven et al., 2003). By feeding the flies with *Ecc15*, we were able to see a stabilization of the N-terminal cleaved fragment of Kenny but not full-length (III, Figure 5C), suggesting that cleavage of Kenny protects it from autophagy-mediated degradation upon activation of the Imd pathway. To confirm that the cleavage of Kenny is mediated by Dredd, we treated the flies with the caspase inhibitor Emricasan, which prevented Kenny cleavage (III, Figure 5D). Upon expressing GFP-Kenny in a Dredd wildtype, *Dredd*^{G98R} or *Dredd*^{W430R} mutant background, we detected infection-induced cleavage of Kenny only in the presence of wildtype Dredd, indicating that abrogation of Dreddubiquitination and catalytic activity results in a lack of processing of its target, Kenny (III, Figure 5E). In order to assess the role of LUBEL, we expressed GFP-Kenny in a *Lubel^{RNAi}* background and found that Kenny is cleaved significantly less in the absence of LUBEL, showing that M1-linked Ub chains are important for infection induced cleavage and stabilization of Kenny (III, Figure 5F).

DISCUSSION

Caspases are well known for their role in regulating apoptosis, but they also have important functions in regulating inflammation. Dysregulated caspases have been associated with diseases involving tumorigenesis, autoimmunity and autoinflammation (McIlwain et al., 2013). While the role of IAP proteins in regulating caspases and the inflammatory NF-kB pathway has already been described, the role of caspases in regulating IAP function has not been established. In study I of this thesis, we reported the role of the Drosophila homologue of caspase-3, Drice, as a negative regulator of the Imd pathway. We suggest that Drice functions by restraining NF-κB responses to commensal bacteria by binding Diap2 and inducing degradation of the Drice-Diap2 complex. We showed that Drice regulates the Imd pathway by controlling the levels of Diap2. Only the catalytically active Drice and not inactive Drice^{C211A} mutant was able to induce degradation of Diap2, and restrain the NF-kB target gene expression, indicating that the degradation of Diap2 is preceded by cleavage of Diap2 by Drice. It has been established that activation of the Imd pathway through the PRRs results in Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination of Imd, Dredd and Kenny (II, Figure 4B; Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). In line with this, co-expression of Drice abrogated Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny, and inhibition of Drice activity led to enhanced ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny.

In addition, we found that the excess activation of the Imd pathway by overexpression of Diap2 or inhibition of Drice was dependent on the presence of gut microbiota. We propose that the commensal microbiota can induce formation of a complex comprised of the receptor PGRP-LC or PGRP-LE, Imd, dFadd and Dredd. For downstream signalling to proceed, members of this complex must undergo ubiquitination mediated by Diap2, and Drice may compete with this complex for interaction to Diap2. Under basal conditions, Drice binds to Diap2 to form a complex that gets degraded in a proteasomedependent manner, thus restraining Diap2 from interacting with its targets (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). In the absence of Drice, Diap2 is free to interact and ubiquitinate its target proteins, Imd, Dredd and Kenny, thereby activating downstream signalling that results in activation of the Imd pathway and expression of Relish target genes, causing chronic inflammation and hyperplasia.

DIAP2 is a K63-linked Ub synthesizing E3 ligase, and one of the main functions of K63-linked Ub chains in the NF- κ B pathway is the recruitment of the TAK1-TAB2/3 kinase complex (Kanayama et al., 2004; Kulathu et al., 2009; Skaug et al., 2009). The K63-linked Ub chains also function as targets for the LUBAC complex to form mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains (Emmerich et al., 2013, 2016). The

formation of both K63- and M1-linked Ub chains is important, as they co-recruit and bring the TAK1-TAB2/3 and the IKK complex into close proximity. This results in efficient activation of the IKK complex, followed by phosphorylation of I κ B, which is required for its degradation and activation of the NF- κ B pathway. While a role of Diap2 and K63-linked Ub chains in the *Drosophila* Imd pathway was already established (Leulier et al., 2006; Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010), the role of M1-linked Ub chains was not known. In study II of this thesis, we described LUBEL as the E3 ligase that generates M1-linked Ub chains in flies.

While the LUBAC complex that generates M1-linked Ub chains in mammals, is made up of three subunits HOIP, HOIL-1L, and SHARPIN, only a HOIP orthologue called LUBEL was identified in flies (Asaoka et al., 2016). We and others found that RBR-LDD, the catalytic domain of LUBEL is highly conserved (Asaoka et al., 2016). Our structural modelling of the RING2 and LDD region showed that the catalytic pocket including the catalytic cysteine of LUBEL is similar to HOIP. LUBEL contains two UBAs, UBA1 and UBA2, similarly to HOIP. LUBAC was shown to be recruited to the NF-κB activating signalling complex via K63-linked Ub chains (Damgaard et al., 2012; Haas et al., 2009), and it was shown that LUBEL UBA2 can associate with K63-linked Ub chains (Asaoka et al., 2016). It is likely that in flies, LUBEL is recruited via K63-linked Ub chains that are pre-formed on its targets by Diap2, as both Dredd and Kenny, which are targeted for M1ubiquitination are known targets of Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination.

Mammalian HOIP is in an autoinhibited state through an intramolecular interaction between the N-terminal and RBR regions (Stieglitz et al., 2012). HOIL-1 and SHARPIN, through their UBL domains interact with UBA domains of HOIP to release it from autoinhibition (Smit et al., 2012; Stieglitz et al., 2012). In addition, both HOIL-1 and SHARPIN have a LUBAC-tethering motif (LTM) through which they interact, and the LTMs of two proteins fold into a single globular domain (Fujita et al., 2018). Interaction between the three components HOIL-1, HOIP and SHARPIN provides stability of LUBAC. HOIL-1, which has limited E3 ligase activity, also belongs to the RBR family of E3 ligases. It was shown that upon TNFR1 signalling, HOIL-1 generates monoubiquitin on LUBAC subunits, which results in LUBAC autoubiquitination, while attenuating M1ubiquitination of RIPK1 (Fuseya et al., 2020). Furthermore, upon TLR signalling, HOIL-1 was also shown to catalyse ubiquitination on serine and threonine residues, instead of lysine residues on IRAK1, IRAK2, and MyD88, adding further heterogeneity and complexity to ubiquitin signalling (Kelsall et al., 2019). While LUBEL (2892 amino acids) is considerably larger than HOIP (1072 amino acids), no other conserved motifs were found other than the ones mentioned (II, Figure 2 A). It is not known whether LUBEL is autoinhibited in a similar way as HOIP. As no homologues of HOIL-1 and SHARPIN can be found in Drosophila, studies conducted by us and others describing LUBEL can help understand the specific physiologic function of HOIP *in vivo* (Asaoka et al., 2016).

DUBs, by disassembling Ub chains from target proteins, play an essential role in resolution and regulation of the NF-κB pathway. While the mammalian DUBs OTULIN and CYLD were shown to hydrolyse M1-linked Ub chains, the activity of CYLD seems to be particularly important in TNFR1 and NOD2 signalling complexes (Draber et al., 2015). The CYLD catalytic region, ubiquitin carboxylterminal hydrolase (UCH) domain, can hydrolyse both M1- and K63-linked Ub chains in vitro, however the N-terminal cytoskeletal-associated protein-glycineconserved (CAP-Gly) domains enable CYLD to preferentially hydrolyse K63linked Ub chains (Elliott et al., 2021). Drosophila CYLD contains a CAP-Gly domain and a UCH domain, whereas mammalian CYLD contains three CAP-Gly domains, a phosphorylation region and a UCH domain (Asaoka et al., 2016). As no homologue of OTULIN has been found in Drosophila, and as we found that CYLD hydrolyses M1-linked Ub chains in Drosophila S2 cells, it is possible that CYLD is the DUB responsible for hydrolysing M1-linked Ub chains in flies. However, as both mammalian and Drosophila CYLD can hydrolyse K63-linked Ub chains, it cannot be excluded that the loss of M1-linked Ub chains is a consequence of CYLD-mediated hydrolysis of K63-linked Ub chains, to which M1-linked Ub chains are conjugated. While LUBAC associates with OTULIN and CYLD via PUB-PIM mediated interaction, no PUB domain has been found in LUBEL. It is possible that *in vivo*, the interaction between CYLD and LUBEL is facilitated by a homologue in flies for the bridging protein SPATA2.

Target proteins that are M1-ubiquitinated upon activation of the TNFR1 and NOD2 signalling pathways have been described, and RIPK1 and RIPK2 were found to be decorated with mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains (Emmerich et al., 2016; Fiil et al., 2013). Furthermore, NEMO, was shown to be both targeted for M1-ubiquitination and associated with M1-linked Ub chains (Rahighi et al., 2009; Tokunaga et al., 2009). In the *Drosophila* Imd pathway, Dredd and Imd are known to be targeted for K63-ubiquitination (Meinander et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2010). While we were not able to detect M1-ubiquitination of Imd, we found that Dredd, was modified by M1-linked Ub chains. Whether K63/M1-linked mixed chains are formed on Dredd, similar to RIPK1 and RIPK2 in TNFR1 and NOD2 pathways needs more investigation. Our results further shows that the NEMO homologue in flies, Kenny is also a target of M1-ubiquitination. In addition, it is also targeted for K63-ubiquitination mediated by Diap2, forming mixed K63/M1-linked Ub chains. Interestingly, expression of Kenny also stabilizes M1-linked Ub chains, which is dependent on the UBAN domain of Kenny.

M1-ubiquitination of mammalian DED-containing proteins have been reported to drive NF- κ B activation. During TRAIL signalling, caspase-8 was M1-

ubiquitinated promoting recruitment of NEMO and activation of the inflammatory NF-KB pathway, which was accompanied by a reduction in caspase-8 activity (Lafont, Kantari-Mimoun, et al., 2017). During TNFR1 signalling, c-FLIP_L was M1-ubiquinated, which stabilized FLIP_L so that it can compete with caspase-8 to promote activation of NF-κB (Tang et al., 2018). While the catalytic activity of caspase-8 is required to inhibit necroptosis, an inflammatory mode of cell death, the prodomain of caspase-8 is known to activate NF-κB signalling (Chaudhary et al., 2000; Henry & Martin, 2017). The recognition and binding of M1-linked Ub chains by NEMO is required for activation of the NF-kB pathway (Tokunaga et al., 2009), and we have found that Kenny associates with M1-linked Ub chains and stabilized M1-linked Ub chains on Dredd possibly by protecting Ub chains from DUB activity. We also found that Kenny and Dredd interact via the prodomain and specifically the DED1 domain of Dredd. Interestingly, Optineurin, a homologue of NEMO, was shown to bind caspase-8 and NEMO was shown to interact with FLIP, both interactions promoting cell survival. This suggests that the interaction between IKKy homologues and DED-containing proteins is conserved (Bagnéris et al., 2008; Nakazawa et al., 2016; Sadek et al., 2020). In the Drosophila Imd pathway, DED functions of Dredd and the catalytic activity are both required for activating Relish, indicating that the functions DEDs of caspase-8 and FLIP, and the catalytic activity of caspase-8 are performed by Dredd in flies.

An efficient immune response in barrier epithelium is vital, as this prevents penetration of pathogens that can cause systemic infections. Our results showed that LUBEL is important for activation of the Imd pathway in the intestinal epithelia, but not in the fatbody. Septic injury induces production and secretion of AMPs from the fatbody, whereas infection by ingestion of bacteria induces release of AMPs from the intestinal epithelial cells. While both Imd and Toll pathways, are functional in the fatbody by activating Relish and Dif respectively, only the Imd pathway is functional in the epithelial tissues of the gut (Liehl et al., 2006). It is possible that Relish/Dif heterodimers are able to activate expression of AMPs in the fatbody upon septic injury even in the absence of M1-linked Ub chains, explaining the resistance of *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies to septic injury. Alternatively, it is possible that Diap2-mediated K63-ubiquitination of Kenny and Dredd is sufficient for activation of Relish. Our results nevertheless show that the generation of M1-linked Ub chains, and their role in activating inflammatory NF-κB responses is conserved in Drosophila. Furthermore, transgenic expression of RBR-LDD led to expression of Relish target genes and intestinal stem cell proliferation in the midgut in the absence of infection, indicating that M1-linked Ub chains can activate Relish, and emphasizes the need for tight regulation of the Imd pathway in epithelial surfaces. The excess activation of the Imd pathway by transgenic expression of both Diap2 and

LUBEL, leading to chronic inflammation also highlights the suitability of *Drosophila* as a model to study disease conditions in epithelial tissues.

As aberrant activation of NF-kB signalling is associated with inflammatory diseases, it needs to be a strictly regulated and autophagy is one of the mechanisms through which NF- κ B signalling is regulated. However, autophagy is most notable for its role as a survival response upon nutrient scarcity, where it compensates for the lack of intracellular energy stores by degrading non-vital intracellular components. It also takes part in removal of protein aggregates, misfolded proteins, damaged, and long-lived organelles (Mizushima, 2007). Perturbations in autophagy functions can also result in inflammatory diseases. Autophagy can capture various cargo in the cell including inflammation inducing PAMPs and DAMPs (Deretic et al., 2013; Rubinsztein et al., 2015). In addition, autophagy was shown to dampen inflammation by removing components of NLRP3 inflammasome, cGAS-STING pathway via selective autophagy receptors (M. Chen et al., 2016; Mehto et al., 2019). Some examples of selective autophagy receptors include p62 and optineurin. They are characterized by their ability to recognise and bind ubiquitin chains on substrate proteins and associate with autophagosomal membrane proteins. In Drosophila, it was shown that Kenny via a LIR motif in its N-terminus interacts with autophagosome, and selectively degraded under basal conditions to prevent constitutive activation of the Imd pathway by commensal bacteria in the intestine of flies (Tusco et al., 2017). Recently, other important mediators of the Drosophila Imd pathway, dTak1 and its coactivator dTab2, were also found to be degraded by autophagy to prevent constitutive activation of the Imd pathway, providing further evidence of autophagy mediated regulation of the Imd pathway (Tsapras et al., 2022).

Kenny, the regulatory subunit of the IKK complex, is required for Dreddmediated cleavage of Relish and subsequently its translocation to the nucleus (Silverman et al., 2000). Intriguingly, we found that Dredd cleaves Kenny on its N-terminus that harbours the LIR motif. Importantly, this cleavage was dependent on LUBEL and M1-ubiquitination of Dredd. While degradation of Kenny prevents overactivation of the Imd pathway under basal conditions, upon infection, it is important that Kenny is stabilized in order to function in the Imd pathway. We propose that the cleavage of N-terminus of Kenny, harbouring the LIR motif, by Dredd is an important signalling event to prevent degradation of Kenny upon infection. A limitation in study III of this thesis is the lack of a Kenny mutant that cannot be cleaved by Dredd. This uncleavable mutant of Kenny would enable us to investigate the importance of cleavage of Kenny during infection, as we speculate that a lack of cleavage of Kenny would lead to degradation of Kenny by autophagy, and hence these flies won't be able to survive upon oral infection. Our results from studies II and III thus reveal a particular role of LUBEL, M1-linked Ub chains and caspase activation in regulating NF- κ B activation especially in the barrier epithelia.

CONCLUSIONS

In order to treat inflammatory diseases such as chronic inflammation and cancer, we need to understand the underlying molecular mechanisms behind disease conditions. The aim of this thesis was to advance our knowledge of the regulatory mechanisms of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway. *Drosophila melanogaster*, due to low redundancy in its genome, a high degree of conservation of cell signalling pathways, in combination with the availability of a range of molecular biology tools has proved to be an excellent model organism to study and understand the molecular mechanisms of regulation of the NF- κ B pathway. Intestinal epithelial cells are in constant contact with commensal bacteria and encounter foodborne pathogens. While they should be able to rapidly respond to infection, they must also tolerate beneficial commensals. Hence, there is a need for tight control of the inflammatory NF- κ B pathway in order to avoid dysregulated immune response.

In this thesis, we have shown that the effector caspase, Drice, functions as a negative regulator of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway by restraining the function of the E3 ligase Diap2 (Figure 10). We have found that Drice is involved specifically in the intestine of flies to counter commensal bacteria induced NF- κ B activation. While the role of K63-linked Ub chains was already described, we and others identified and described the M1-ubiquitination machinery, LUBEL in flies (Asaoka et al., 2016). We found that the IKK γ and caspase-8 homologues in the fly, Kenny and Dredd to be targets of M1-ubiquitination in the Imd pathway, showing that conjugation of M1-Ub chains to mediators of the NF- κ B pathway is conserved. Importantly, we found that M1-ubiquitination was important for mounting an immune response in the epithelial tissue of the gut upon local infection, showing a tissue specific regulation of NF- κ B activation.

Finally, we describe a novel mode of regulation of Kenny in the intestine of flies. It was reported that Kenny undergoes autophagy-mediated degradation in order to avoid constitutive activation of the Imd pathway. We found Kenny to be a novel target of Dredd-mediated cleavage upon activation of the Imd pathway in the gut. Based on this we propose a model where cleavage of Kenny by Dredd, which is dependent on LUBEL and ubiquitination of Dredd, protects Kenny from autophagosomal degradation (Figure 10). However, this model can only be verified by generating transgenic flies expressing a cleavage resistant D>E mutant of Kenny. Overall, this thesis has shown that *Drosophila* is a relevant and convenient model to study mechanisms of regulation of the NF- κ B signalling pathway. Importantly, this thesis describes the role of M1-
ubiquitination and caspase activation in fine tuning inflammatory responses especially in the intestinal epithelial barrier.

Host-microbe interactions in epithelial barriers determine health, both the interactions with commensals and those with pathogens. As we have found the generation of M1-linked Ub chains, Dredd-activation and Kenny cleavage to be particularly important in the intestine, it will be intriguing to investigate the role of commensal bacteria in these processes, both in the intestine and in other barriers. We have found some mediators of the Imd pathway to be targets of caspase-mediated cleavage, showing that caspase activation is part of inflammatory processes. Hence, it will be important to identify also which other targets are cleaved by Drice and Dredd both during basal conditions and during exposure to NF-KB activating stimuli. As our studies indicate that M1linked Ub chains are important for Dredd-mediated Imd pathway activity, it will be important to study how M1-ubiquitination of Dredd affects its recruitment to signalling complexes, catalytic activity, and selection of substrates for cleavage. This could provide clues about the non-apoptotic functions of caspase-8 upon engagement of DRs that normally induce apoptosis but can be rewired to support tumorigenesis.



Figure 10. Model of Drice, Dredd and LUBEL mediated regulation of the Imd pathway. Upon basal conditions, Drice restrains the Imd pathway by forming a complex with Diap2 that results in Diap2-mediated ubiquitination, Drice-mediated cleavage of Diap2 and proteasomal degradation of the Drice-Diap2 complex. Absence of Drice results in unrestrained Diap2 functioning by ubiquitinating its targets, Imd, Dredd and Kenny (Study I). LUBEL generates M1-linked Ub chains which is important for activation of the Imd pathway in the epithelial tissue of the intestine, and specifically targets Kenny (Study II) and Dredd (Study III) for M1-ubiquitination. Kenny, which under basal conditions is degraded by autophagy, can interact with Dredd upon infection to stabilize M1-linked Ub chains on Dredd. Dredd on the other hand cleaves Kenny on its N-terminus in a LUBEL dependent manner to prevent Kenny from autophagosomal degradation, indicating the cleavage of Kenny is an important signalling event (Study III).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was carried out at the Faculty of Science and Engineering, at the department of Cell Biology, at Åbo Akademi University and was supported by the Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences. I would like to acknowledge John Eriksson, Cecilia Sahlgren, Annika Meinander and Tiina Salminen for their work as heads of subject and for providing a friendly and inspiring work environment.

Foremost I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Annika for giving me the opportunity to pursue my PhD in your laboratory, I admire your passion for science, integrity and commitment to your students. Thank you for your trust in me, encouragement, support during challenging times and for providing a safe and inspiring environment for me to develop as a scientist.

I would like to thank Jaakko Mattila and Alessandro Annibaldi for taking the time to review my thesis and for your constructive comments which improved my work. I also want to thank Seamus Martin for accepting to be my opponent, I truly appreciate the chance to discuss my research and thesis with you.

Diana Toivola and Mads Gyrd-Hansen are acknowledged for being part of my thesis advisory committee. Your input during our meetings have been inspiring, your willingness to help and scientific expertise has undoubtedly contributed to the quality of my work.

I would like to thank all the technical personnel during my time as a doctoral researcher, Gunilla Henriksson, Sten Lindholm, Isa Witick, Barbro Lindholm, Melissa Haga, Thomas Bymark, Kim Granholm and Jari Korhonen for their help with orders, travel and technical expertise. Thank you, Fredrik Karlsson for helping with the official details regarding my PhD studies and public defence.

I would also like to thank all the group leaders in Cell biology at ÅAU, John Eriksson, Lea Sistonen, Diana Toivola, Cecilia Sahlgren, Kid Törnquist, Malin Åkerfeldt, Jacquemet Guillaume and Silvia Gramolelli and all their present and past group members for providing a friendly and supportive working environment.

Thanks to all the talented and skillful co-authors whose joint effort and scientific input contributed to the publications and a manuscript in this thesis: Anna Aalto, Christa Kietz, Anna Dahlström, Elinda Hermanson, Vilma Pollari, Ida-Emma Tuominen, Lukas Schwintzer, Sebastian Kupka, Paulo Ribeiro, Henning Walczak, Meike Broemer and Pascal Meier.

I am grateful to all the past and present members of the Meinander lab, who made my time in the lab enjoyable and memorable. Thank you, Oliver, Fanny, Vilma, Sabrina, Marc, Jesper, Anna Ahlbäck, Nadya, Emmy, Emmi, Ida, Anna D, Elinda and Emelie. Special thanks to all my students and interns for your work in my projects. Thank you, Josef and Gaby, for all the fun times, interesting discussions, advice and your friendship.

Thank you, Anna and Christa, for being the best lab mates and making my life in the lab eventful. We spent most part of our PhD journeys together and I will cherish many fond memories from this time. You have been great friends during my ups and downs, and I am glad that we have forged a long-lasting friendship.

Life outside work would have been monotonous if not for playing cricket competitively in Finland. I want to thank everyone in my cricket family, both at the Turku United Cricket Club and Empire Cricket Club, and the national team for creating a strong sense of camaraderie, I will cherish this for life.

I would like to thank my family, my parents for their never-ending support and unconditional love, my brother Anand for always being there for me, cousins, Ashok and Ilango for always having my back. Special thanks to Hari, Senthil, Pasi and Parthiban for your friendship and brotherhood. Finally, thank you Niina for your encouragement, love and support.

I am grateful for the financial support that made this work possible. The Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences, Åbo Akademi foundation, Liv och Hälsa r.f., K. Albin Johansson foundation, Swedish cultural foundation in Finland, Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation, Ida Montin foundation, Lounais-Suomen syöpäyhdistys and Maud Kuistila foundation.

Turku, 11.10.2023

Aravind

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, B. B., Gupta, S. C., & Kim, J. H. (2012). Historical perspectives on tumor necrosis factor and its superfamily: 25 years later, a golden journey. *Blood*, 119(3), 651. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2011-04-325225
- Aggarwal, K., & Silverman, N. (2008). Positive and negative regulation of the Drosophila immune response. *BMB Reports*, *41*(4), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBREP.2008.41.4.267
- Akutsu, M., Dikic, I., & Bremm, A. (2016). Ubiquitin chain diversity at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, 129(5), 875–880. https://doi.org/10.1242/JCS.183954/260238/AM/UBIQUITIN-CHAIN-DIVERSITY-AT-A-GLANCE
- Al Nabhani, Z., Dietrich, G., Hugot, J. P., & Barreau, F. (2017). Nod2: The intestinal gate keeper. *PLoS Pathogens*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PPAT.1006177
- Amcheslavsky, A., Jiang, J., & Ip, Y. T. (2009). Tissue Damage-Induced Intestinal Stem Cell Division in Drosophila. *Cell Stem Cell*, 4(1), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2008.10.016
- Annibaldi, A., & Meier, P. (2018). Checkpoints in TNF-Induced Cell Death: Implications in Inflammation and Cancer. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 24(1), 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLMED.2017.11.002
- Annibaldi, A., Wicky John, S., Vanden Berghe, T., Swatek, K. N., Ruan, J., Liccardi, G., Bianchi, K., Elliott, P. R., Choi, S. M., Van Coillie, S., Bertin, J., Wu, H., Komander, D., Vandenabeele, P., Silke, J., & Meier, P. (2018). Ubiquitin-Mediated Regulation of RIPK1 Kinase Activity Independent of IKK and MK2. *Molecular Cell*, 69(4), 566. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.01.027
- Asaoka, T., Almagro, J., Ehrhardt, C., Tsai, I., Schleiffer, A., Deszcz, L., Junttila, S., Ringrose, L., Mechtler, K., Kavirayani, A., Gyenesei, A., Hofmann, K., Duchek, P., Rittinger, K., & Ikeda, F. (2016). Linear ubiquitination by LUBEL has a role in Drosophila heat stress response . *EMBO Reports*, *17*(11), 1624–1640. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBR.201642378
- Asri, R. M., Salim, E., Nainu, F., Hori, A., & Kuraishi, T. (2019). Sterile induction of innate immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Edition)*, 24(8), 1390–1400. https://doi.org/10.2741/4786
- Bagnéris, C., Ageichik, A. V., Cronin, N., Wallace, B., Collins, M., Boshoff, C., Waksman, G., & Barrett, T. (2008). Crystal Structure of a vFlip-IKKγ Complex: Insights into Viral Activation of the IKK Signalosome. *Molecular Cell*, 30(5), 620–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2008.04.029
- Bagnéris, C., Senthil Kumar, S. L., Baratchian, M., Britt, H. M., Assafa, T. E., Thalassinos, K., Collins, M. K., & Barrett, T. E. (2022). Mechanistic insights into the activation of the IKK kinase complex by the Kaposi's sarcoma herpes virus oncoprotein vFLIP. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 298(6), 102012. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBC.2022.102012
- Banerjee, U., Girard, J. R., Goins, L. M., & Spratford, C. M. (2019). Drosophila as a Genetic Model for Hematopoiesis. *Genetics*, 211(2), 367–417. https://doi.org/10.1534/GENETICS.118.300223
- Basset, A., Khush, R. S., Braun, A., Gardan, L., Boccard, F., Hoffmann, J. A., & Lemaitre, B. (2000). The phytopathogenic bacteria Erwinia carotovora infects Drosophila and activates an immune

response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(7), 3376–3381. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.97.7.3376/ASSET/ED735D10-9886-4947-AAA7-3C2AF0FB6C19/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PQ0703575005.JPEG

- Belvin, M. P., & Anderson, K. V. (2003). A CONSERVED SIGNALING PATHWAY: The Drosophila Toll-Dorsal Pathway. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Cellbio.12.1.393*, *12*, 393–416. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.CELLBIO.12.1.393
- Bertrand, M. J. M., Milutinovic, S., Dickson, K. M., Ho, W. C., Boudreault, A., Durkin, J., Gillard, J. W., Jaquith, J. B., Morris, S. J., & Barker, P. A. (2008). cIAP1 and cIAP2 Facilitate Cancer Cell Survival by Functioning as E3 Ligases that Promote RIP1 Ubiquitination. *Molecular Cell*, 30(6), 689–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2008.05.014
- Best, S. M. (2008). Viral Subversion of Apoptotic Enzymes: Escape from Death Row*. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Micro.62.081307.163009*, 62, 171–192. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.MICR0.62.081307.163009
- Bier, E. (2005). Drosophila, the golden bug, emerges as a tool for human genetics. *Nature Reviews Genetics 2005 6:1*, 6(1), 9–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1503
- Bignell, G. R., Warren, W., Seal, S., Takahashi, M., Rapley, E., Barfoot, R., Green, H., Brown, C., Biggs, P. J., Lakhani, S. R., Jones, C., Hansen, J., Blair, E., Hofmann, B., Siebert, R., Turner, G., Gareth Evans, D., Schrander-Stumpel, C., Beemer, F. A., ... Stratton, M. R. (2000). Identification of the familial cylindromatosis tumour-suppressor gene. *Nature Genetics*, 25(2), 160–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/76006
- Boisson, B., Laplantine, E., Dobbs, K., Cobat, A., Tarantino, N., Hazen, M., Lidov, H. G. W., Hopkins, G., Du, L., Belkadi, A., Chrabieh, M., Itan, Y., Picard, C., Fournet, J. C., Eibel, H., Tsitsikov, E., Pai, S. Y., Abel, L., Al-Herz, W., ... Notarangelo, L. D. (2015). Human HOIP and LUBAC deficiency underlies autoinflammation, immunodeficiency, amylopectinosis, and lymphangiectasia. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 212(6), 939–951. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20141130
- Boisson, B., Laplantine, E., Prando, C., Giliani, S., Israelsson, E., Xu, Z., Abhyankar, A., Israël, L., Trevejo-Nunez, G., Bogunovic, D., Cepika, A. M., MacDuff, D., Chrabieh, M., Hubeau, M., Bajolle, F., Debré, M., Mazzolari, E., Vairo, D., Agou, F., ... Picard, C. (2012). Immunodeficiency, autoinflammation and amylopectinosis in humans with inherited HOIL-1 and LUBAC deficiency. *Nature Immunology 2012 13:12*, *13*(12), 1178–1186. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2457
- Boman, H. G., Nilsson, I., & Rasmuson, B. (1972). Inducible Antibacterial Defence System in Drosophila. *Nature* 1972 237:5352, 237(5352), 232–235. https://doi.org/10.1038/237232a0
- Bosanac, I., Wertz, I. E., Pan, B., Yu, C., Kusam, S., Lam, C., Phu, L., Phung, Q., Maurer, B., Arnott, D., Kirkpatrick, D. S., Dixit, V. M., & Hymowitz, S. G. (2010). Ubiquitin Binding to A20 ZnF4 Is Required for Modulation of NF-κB Signaling. *Molecular Cell*, *40*(4), 548–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2010.10.009
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 118(2), 401–415. https://doi.org/10.1242/DEV.118.2.401

- Buchon, N., Poidevin, M., Kwon, H. M., Guillou, A. L., Sottas, V., Lee, B. L., & Lemaitrea, B. (2009). A single modular serine protease integrates signals from pattern-recognition receptors upstream of the Drosophila Toll pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(30), 12442–12447. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0901924106/SUPPL_FILE/0901924106SI.PDF
- Bump, N. J., Hackett, M., Hugunin, M., Seshagiri, S., Brady, K., Chen, P., Ferenz, C., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Li, P., Licari, P., Mankovich, J., Shi, L., Greenberg, A. H., Miller, L. K., & Wong, W. W. (1995). Inhibition of ICE Family Proteases by Baculovirus Antiapoptotic Protein p35. *Science*, 269(5232), 1885–1888. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.7569933
- Caruso, R., Warner, N., Inohara, N., & Núñez, G. (2014). NOD1 and NOD2: Signaling, Host Defense, and Inflammatory Disease. *Immunity*, 41(6), 898–908. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2014.12.010
- Catrysse, L., Vereecke, L., Beyaert, R., & van Loo, G. (2014). A20 in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Trends in Immunology*, *35*(1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IT.2013.10.005
- Chang, D. W., Xing, Z., Pan, Y., Algeciras-Schimnich, A., Barnhart, B. C., Yaish-Ohad, S., Peter, M. E., & Yang, X. (2002). C-FLIPL is a dual function regulator for caspase-8 activation and CD95mediated apoptosis. *EMBO Journal*, *21*(14), 3704–3714. https://doi.org/10.1093/EMB0J/CDF356
- Chaplin, D. D. (2010). Overview of the Immune Response. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *125*(2 Suppl 2), S3. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2009.12.980
- Chen, M., Meng, Q., Qin, Y., Liang, P., Tan, P., He, L., Zhou, Y., Chen, Y., Huang, J., Wang, R. F., & Cui, J. (2016). TRIM14 Inhibits cGAS Degradation Mediated by Selective Autophagy Receptor p62 to Promote Innate Immune Responses. *Molecular Cell*, 64(1), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2016.08.025
- Chen, P., Rodriguez, A., Erskine, R., Thach, T., & Abrams, J. M. (1998). Dredd, a Novel Effector of the Apoptosis ActivatorsReaper, Grim, and HidinDrosophila. *Developmental Biology*, 201(2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1006/DBI0.1998.9000
- Choe, K. M., Lee, H., & Anderson, K. V. (2005). Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein LC (PGRP-LC) acts as a signal-transducing innate immune receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(4), 1122–1126. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0404952102
- Choe, K. M., Werner, T., Stöven, S., Hultmark, D., & Anderson, K. V. (2002). Requirement for a peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) in Relish activation and antibacterial immune responses in Drosophila. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 296(5566), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1070216
- Clem, R. J., Fechheimer, M., & Miller, L. K. (1991). Prevention of Apoptosis by a Baculovirus Gene During Infection of Insect Cells. *Science*, *254*(5036), 1388–1390. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1962198

- Cullen, S. P., & Martin, S. J. (2015). Fas and TRAIL 'death receptors' as initiators of inflammation: Implications for cancer. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, *39*, 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2015.01.012
- Damgaard, R. B., Nachbur, U., Yabal, M., Wong, W. W. L., Fiil, B. K., Kastirr, M., Rieser, E., Rickard, J. A., Bankovacki, A., Peschel, C., Ruland, J., Bekker-Jensen, S., Mailand, N., Kaufmann, T., Strasser, A., Walczak, H., Silke, J., Jost, P. J., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2012). The ubiquitin ligase XIAP recruits LUBAC for NOD2 signaling in inflammation and innate immunity. *Molecular Cell*, 46(6), 746–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2012.04.014
- Damgaard, R. B., Walker, J. A., Marco-Casanova, P., Morgan, N. V., Titheradge, H. L., Elliott, P. R., McHale, D., Maher, E. R., McKenzie, A. N. J., & Komander, D. (2016). The Deubiquitinase OTULIN Is an Essential Negative Regulator of Inflammation and Autoimmunity. *Cell*, 166(5), 1215-1230.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2016.07.019
- Deretic, V., Saitoh, T., & Akira, S. (2013). Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2013* 13:10, 13(10), 722–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3532
- Dikic, I., & Schulman, B. A. (2022). An expanded lexicon for the ubiquitin code. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 2022 24:4*, 24(4), 273–287. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-022-00543-1
- Ditzel, M., Broemer, M., Tenev, T., Bolduc, C., Lee, T. V., Rigbolt, K. T. G., Elliott, R., Zvelebil, M., Blagoev, B., Bergmann, A., & Meier, P. (2008). Inactivation of Effector Caspases through Nondegradative Polyubiquitylation. *Molecular Cell*, *32*(4), 540. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2008.09.025
- Dovey, C. M., Diep, J., Clarke, B. P., Hale, A. T., McNamara, D. E., Guo, H., Brown, N. W., Cao, J. Y., Grace, C. R., Gough, P. J., Bertin, J., Dixon, S. J., Fiedler, D., Mocarski, E. S., Kaiser, W. J., Moldoveanu, T., York, J. D., & Carette, J. E. (2018). MLKL requires the inositol phosphate code to execute necroptosis. *Molecular Cell*, 70(5), 936. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.05.010
- Draber, P., Kupka, S., Reichert, M., Draberova, H., Lafont, E., de Miguel, D., Spilgies, L., Surinova, S., Taraborrelli, L., Hartwig, T., Rieser, E., Martino, L., Rittinger, K., & Walczak, H. (2015). LUBAC-Recruited CYLD and A20 Regulate Gene Activation and Cell Death by Exerting Opposing Effects on Linear Ubiquitin in Signaling Complexes. *Cell Reports*, *13*(10), 2258–2272. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2015.11.009
- Dudzic, J. P., Kondo, S., Ueda, R., Bergman, C. M., & Lemaitre, B. (2015). Drosophila innate immunity: Regional and functional specialization of prophenoloxidases. *BMC Biology*, *13*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12915-015-0193-6/FIGURES/9
- Dumétier, B., Zadoroznyj, A., & Dubrez, L. (2020). IAP-Mediated Protein Ubiquitination in Regulating Cell Signaling. *Cells*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS9051118
- Dushay, M. S., Åsling, B., & Hultmark, D. (1996). Origins of immunity: Relish, a compound Rel-like gene in the antibacterial defense of Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(19), 10343. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.93.19.10343
- Elliott, P. R., Leske, D., Hrdinka, M., Bagola, K., Fiil, B. K., McLaughlin, S. H., Wagstaff, J., Volkmar, N., Christianson, J. C., Kessler, B. M., Freund, S. M. V., Komander, D., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2016).

SPATA2 Links CYLD to LUBAC, Activates CYLD, and Controls LUBAC Signaling. Molecular Cell, 63(6), 990-1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2016.08.001

- Elliott, P. R., Leske, D., Wagstaff, J., Schlicher, L., Berridge, G., Maslen, S., Timmermann, F., Ma, B., Fischer, R., Freund, S. M. V., Komander, D., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2021). Regulation of CYLD activity and specificity by phosphorylation and ubiquitin-binding CAP-Gly domains. Cell Reports, 37(1), 109777. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2021.109777
- Elliott, P. R., Nielsen, S. V., Marco-Casanova, P., Fiil, B. K., Keusekotten, K., Mailand, N., Freund, S. M. V., Gyrd-Hansen, M., & Komander, D. (2014). Molecular Basis and Regulation of OTULIN-LUBAC Cell, Interaction. Molecular 54(3), 335-348. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.03.018
- Ellis, H. M., & Horvitz, H. R. (1986). Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode C. elegans. Cell, 44(6), 817-829. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(86)90004-8
- Emmerich, C. H., Bakshi, S., Kelsall, I. R., Ortiz-Guerrero, J., Shpiro, N., & Cohen, P. (2016). Lys63/Met1-hybrid ubiquitin chains are commonly formed during the activation of innate immune signalling. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 474(3), 452–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBRC.2016.04.141
- Emmerich, C. H., Ordureau, A., Strickson, S., Arthur, J. S. C., Pedrioli, P. G. A., Komander, D., & Cohen, P. (2013). Activation of the canonical IKK complex by K63/M1-linked hybrid ubiquitin chains. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110(38), 15247-15252.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1314715110/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.201314715SI.PDF

- Ertürk-Hasdemir, D., Broemer, M., Leulier, F., Lane, W. S., Paquette, N., Hwang, D., Kim, C. H., Stöven, S., Meier, P., & Silverman, N. (2009). Two roles for the Drosophila IKK complex in the activation of Relish and the induction of antimicrobial peptide genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(24), 9779. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0812022106
- Falschlehner, C., & Boutros, M. (2012). Innate immunity: regulation of caspases by IAP-dependent ubiquitylation. The EMBO Journal, 31(12), 2750. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOJ.2012.148
- Ferrand, A., Al Nabhani, Z., Tapias, N. S., Mas, E., Hugot, J. P., & Barreau, F. (2019). NOD2 Expression in Intestinal Epithelial Cells Protects Toward the Development of Inflammation and Associated Carcinogenesis. Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 7(2), 357-369. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCMGH.2018.10.009
- Ferrandon, D., Jung, A. C., Criqui, M. C., Lemaitre, B., Uttenweiler-Joseph, S., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1998). A drosomycin-GFP reporter transgene reveals a local immune response in Drosophila that is not dependent on the Toll pathway. *The EMBO Journal*, 17(5), 1217. https://doi.org/10.1093/EMB0J/17.5.1217
- Fiil, B. K., Damgaard, R. B., Wagner, S. A., Keusekotten, K., Fritsch, M., Bekker-Jensen, S., Mailand, N., Choudhary, C., Komander, D., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2013). OTULIN Restricts Met1-Linked Ubiquitination to Control Innate Immune Signaling. Molecular Cell, 50(6), 818-830. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2013.06.004

- Fiil, B. K., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2021). The Met1-linked ubiquitin machinery in inflammation and infection. *Cell Death & Differentiation 2021 28:2, 28*(2), 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-00702-x
- Fiordelisi, A., Iaccarino, G., Morisco, C., Coscioni, E., & Sorriento, D. (2019). NFkappaB is a Key Player in the Crosstalk between Inflammation and Cardiovascular Diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS20071599

FlyBase classification of D. melanogaster enzymes. . (2017).

- Fujita, H., Tokunaga, A., Shimizu, S., Whiting, A. L., Aguilar-Alonso, F., Takagi, K., Walinda, E., Sasaki, Y., Shimokawa, T., Mizushima, T., Ohki, I., Ariyoshi, M., Tochio, H., Bernal, F., Shirakawa, M., & Iwai, K. (2018). Cooperative Domain Formation by Homologous Motifs in HOIL-1L and SHARPIN Plays A Crucial Role in LUBAC Stabilization. *Cell Reports, 23*(4), 1192. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.03.112
- Fuseya, Y., Fujita, H., Kim, M., Ohtake, F., Nishide, A., Sasaki, K., Saeki, Y., Tanaka, K., Takahashi, R., & Iwai, K. (2020). The HOIL-1L ligase modulates immune signalling and cell death via monoubiquitination of LUBAC. *Nature Cell Biology 2020 22:6*, 22(6), 663–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-020-0517-9
- Garrett, W. S., Punit, S., Gallini, C. A., Michaud, M., Zhang, D., Sigrist, K. S., Lord, G. M., Glickman, J. N., & Glimcher, L. H. (2009). Colitis-associated colorectal cancer driven by T-bet deficiency in dendritic cells. *Cancer Cell*, 16(3), 208. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCR.2009.07.015
- Gay, N. J., & Keith, F. J. (1991). Drosophila Toll and IL-1 receptor. *Nature 1991 351:6325, 351*(6325), 355–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/351355b0
- Georgel, P., Naitza, S., Kappler, C., Ferrandon, D., Zachary, D., Swimmer, C., Kopczynski, C., Duyk, G., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (2001). Drosophila immune deficiency (IMD) is a death domain protein that activates antibacterial defense and can promote apoptosis. *Developmental Cell*, 1(4), 503–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00059-4
- Gerlach, B., Cordier, S. M., Schmukle, A. C., Emmerich, C. H., Rieser, E., Haas, T. L., Webb, A. I., Rickard, J. A., Anderton, H., Wong, W. W. L., Nachbur, U., Gangoda, L., Warnken, U., Purcell, A. W., Silke, J., & Walczak, H. (2011). Linear ubiquitination prevents inflammation and regulates immune signalling. *Nature* 2011 471:7340, 471(7340), 591–596. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09816
- Ghosh, S., May, M. J., & Kopp, E. B. (2003). NF-κB AND REL PROTEINS: Evolutionarily Conserved Mediators of Immune Responses. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Immunol.16.1.225*, *16*, 225–260. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.IMMUNOL.16.1.225
- Girardin, S. E., Boneca, I. G., Viala, J., Chamaillard, M., Labigne, A., Thomas, G., Philpott, D. J., & Sansonetti, P. J. (2003). Nod2 Is a General Sensor of Peptidoglycan through Muramyl Dipeptide (MDP) Detection. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(11), 8869–8872. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.C200651200
- Golks, A., Brenner, D., Krammer, P. H., & Lavrik, I. N. (2006). The c-FLIP–NH2 terminus (p22-FLIP) induces NF-κB activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 203(5), 1295–1305. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20051556

- Goyal, L., McCall, K., Agapite, J., Hartwieg, E., & Steller, H. (2000). Induction of apoptosis by Drosophila reaper, hid and grim through inhibition of IAP function. *The EMBO Journal*, *19*(4), 589. https://doi.org/10.1093/EMBOJ/19.4.589
- Gramates, L. S., Agapite, J., Attrill, H., Calvi, B. R., Crosby, M. A., dos Santos, G., Goodman, J. L., Goutte-Gattat, D., Jenkins, V. K., Kaufman, T., Larkin, A., Matthews, B. B., Millburn, G., Strelets, V. B., Consortium, the F., Perrimon, N., Gelbart, S. R., Agapite, J., Broll, K., ... Lovato, T. (2022). FlyBase: a guided tour of highlighted features. *Genetics*, 220(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/GENETICS/IYAC035
- Gratz, S. J., Rubinstein, C. D., Harrison, M. M., Wildonger, J., & O'Connor-Giles, K. M. (2015). CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing in Drosophila. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology / Edited by Frederick M. Ausubel ... [et Al.], 111, 31.2.1.* https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142727.MB3102S111
- Grivennikov, S. I., & Karin, M. (2010). Dangerous liaisons: STAT3 and NF-κB collaboration and crosstalk in cancer. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*, 21(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CYTOGFR.2009.11.005
- Groth, A. C., Fish, M., Nusse, R., & Calos, M. P. (2004). Construction of transgenic Drosophila by using the site-specific integrase from phage phiC31. *Genetics*, *166*(4), 1775–1782. https://doi.org/10.1534/GENETICS.166.4.1775
- Gyrd-Hansen, M., & Meier, P. (2010). IAPs: from caspase inhibitors to modulators of NF-kappaB, inflammation and cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *10*(8), 561–574. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRC2889
- Haas, T. L., Emmerich, C. H., Gerlach, B., Schmukle, A. C., Cordier, S. M., Rieser, E., Feltham, R., Vince, J., Warnken, U., Wenger, T., Koschny, R., Komander, D., Silke, J., & Walczak, H. (2009). Recruitment of the Linear Ubiquitin Chain Assembly Complex Stabilizes the TNF-R1 Signaling Complex and Is Required for TNF-Mediated Gene Induction. *Molecular Cell*, *36*(5), 831–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2009.10.013
- Hasegawa, M., Fujimoto, Y., Lucas, P. C., Nakano, H., Fukase, K., Núñez, G., & Inohara, N. (2008). A critical role of RICK/RIP2 polyubiquitination in Nod-induced NF-κB activation. *The EMBO Journal*, *27*(2), 373. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMB0J.7601962
- Hayden, M. S., & Ghosh, S. (2008). Shared Principles in NF-κB Signaling. *Cell*, *132*(3), 344–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2008.01.020
- Hayden, M. S., & Ghosh, S. (2012). NF-κB, the first quarter-century: remarkable progress and outstanding questions. *Genes & Development*, 26(3), 203. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.183434.111
- Hayden, M. S., & Ghosh, S. (2014). Regulation of NF-κB by TNF family cytokines. *Seminars in Immunology*, 26(3), 253–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SMIM.2014.05.004
- Hedengren, M., Åsling, B., Dushay, M. S., Ando, I., Ekengren, S., Wihlborg, M., & Hultmark, D. (1999). Relish, a Central Factor in the Control of Humoral but Not Cellular Immunity in Drosophila. *Molecular Cell*, 4(5), 827–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80392-5
- Hegedus, D., Erlandson, M., Gillott, C., & Toprak, U. (2008). New Insights into Peritrophic Matrix
Synthesis,Architecture,andFunction.

Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Ento.54.110807.090559, *54*, 285–302. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.ENTO.54.110807.090559

- Heger, K., Wickliffe, K. E., Ndoja, A., Zhang, J., Murthy, A., Dugger, D. L., Maltzman, A., De Sousa E Melo, F., Hung, J., Zeng, Y., Verschueren, E., Kirkpatrick, D. S., Vucic, D., Lee, W. P., Roose-Girma, M., Newman, R. J., Warming, S., Hsiao, Y. C., Komuves, L. G., ... Dixit, V. M. (2018). OTULIN limits cell death and inflammation by deubiquitinating LUBAC. *Nature 2018* 559:7712, 559(7712), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0256-2
- Henry, C. M., & Martin, S. J. (2017). Caspase-8 Acts in a Non-enzymatic Role as a Scaffold for Assembly of a Pro-inflammatory "FADDosome" Complex upon TRAIL Stimulation. *Molecular Cell*, 65(4), 715-729.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2017.01.022
- Hershko,
 A.,
 & Ciechanover,
 A. (2003).
 THE
 UBIQUITIN
 SYSTEM.

 Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Biochem.67.1.425,
 67,
 425-479.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.67.1.425
 67,
 425-479.
- Hershko, A., Heller, H., Elias, S., & Ciechanover, A. (1983). Components of ubiquitin-protein ligase system. Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 258(13), 8206–8214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(20)82050-X
- Holler, N., Zaru, R., Micheau, O., Thome, M., Attinger, A., Valitutti, S., Bodmer, J. L., Schneider, P., Seed, B., & Tschopp, J. (2000). Fas triggers an alternative, caspase-8-independent cell death pathway using the kinase RIP as effector molecule. *Nature Immunology*, 1(6), 489–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/82732
- Hrdinka, M., Fiil, B. K., Zucca, M., Leske, D., Bagola, K., Yabal, M., Elliott, P. R., Damgaard, R. B., Komander, D., Jost, P. J., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2016). CYLD Limits Lys63- and Met1-Linked Ubiquitin at Receptor Complexes to Regulate Innate Immune Signaling. *Cell Reports*, 14(12), 2846–2858. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2016.02.062
- Hrdinka, M., & Gyrd-Hansen, M. (2017). The Met1-Linked Ubiquitin Machinery: Emerging Themes of (De)regulation. *Molecular Cell*, 68(2), 265–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2017.09.001
- Hsu, H., Huang, J., Shu, H. B., Baichwal, V., & Goeddel, D. V. (1996). TNF-dependent recruitment of the protein kinase RIP to the TNF receptor-1 signaling complex. *Immunity*, 4(4), 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80252-6
- Hsu, H., Shu, H. B., Pan, M. G., & Goeddel, D. V. (1996). TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. *Cell*, 84(2), 299–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80984-8
- Hsu, H., Xiong, J., & Goeddel, D. V. (1995). The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-kappa B activation. *Cell*, *81*(4), 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90070-5
- Hu, S., & Yang, X. (2000). dFADD, a Novel Death Domain-containing Adapter Protein for theDrosophila Caspase DREDD. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(40), 30761–30764. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.C000341200
- Huang, H., Joazeiro, C. A. P., Bonfoco, E., Kamada, S., Leverson, J. D., & Hunter, T. (2000). The Inhibitor of Apoptosis, cIAP2, Functions as a Ubiquitin-Protein Ligase and Promotes in

VitroMonoubiquitination of Caspases 3 and 7. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(35), 26661–26664. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)61427-4

- Husnjak, K., & Dikic, I. (2012). Ubiquitin-Binding Proteins: Decoders of Ubiquitin-Mediated Cellular Functions. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev-Biochem-051810-094654*, *81*, 291–322. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-BIOCHEM-051810-094654
- Ip, Y. T., Reach, M., Engstrom, Y., Kadalayil, L., Cai, H., González-Crespo, S., Tatei, K., & Levine, M. (1993). Dif, a dorsal-related gene that mediates an immune response in Drosophila. *Cell*, 75(4), 753–763. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90495-C
- Irmler, M., Thome, M., Hahne, M., Schneider, P., Hofmann, K., Steiner, V., Bodmer, J. L., Schröter, M., Burns, K., Mattmann, C., Rimoldi, D., French, L. E., & Tschopp, J. (1997). Inhibition of death receptor signals by cellular FLIP. *Nature*, *388*(6638), 190–195. https://doi.org/10.1038/40657
- Iwai, K. (2014). Diverse roles of the ubiquitin system in NF-κB activation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research, 1843(1), 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2013.03.011
- Jang, I. H., Chosa, N., Kim, S. H., Nam, H. J., Lemaitre, B., Ochiai, M., Kambris, Z., Brun, S., Hashimoto, C., Ashida, M., Brey, P. T., & Lee, W. J. (2006). A Spätzle-Processing Enzyme Required for Toll Signaling Activation in Drosophila Innate Immunity. *Developmental Cell*, 10(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DEVCEL.2005.11.013
- Jennings, B. H. (2011). Drosophila a versatile model in biology & medicine. *Materials Today*, *14*(5), 190–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(11)70113-4
- Kallio, J., Leinonen, A., Ulvila, J., Valanne, S., Ezekowitz, R. A., & Rämet, M. (2005). Functional analysis of immune response genes in Drosophila identifies JNK pathway as a regulator of antimicrobial peptide gene expression in S2 cells. *Microbes and Infection*, 7(5–6), 811–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MICINF.2005.03.014
- Kaltschmidt, B., Helweg, L. P., Greiner, J. F. W., & Kaltschmidt, C. (2022). NF-κB in neurodegenerative diseases: Recent evidence from human genetics. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, *15*, 397. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNMOL.2022.954541/BIBTEX
- Kanarek, N., London, N., Schueler-Furman, O., & Ben-Neriah, Y. (2010). Ubiquitination and Degradation of the Inhibitors of NF-κB. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A000166
- Kanayama, A., Seth, R. B., Sun, L., Ea, C. K., Hong, M., Shaito, A., Chiu, Y. H., Deng, L., & Chen, Z. J. (2004). TAB2 and TAB3 Activate the NF-κB Pathway through Binding to Polyubiquitin Chains. *Molecular Cell*, 15(4), 535–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2004.08.008
- Karin, M. (2006). Nuclear factor-κB in cancer development and progression. *Nature 2006 441:7092*, 441(7092), 431–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04870
- Kataoka, T., Budd, R. C., Holler, N., Thome, M., Martinon, F., Irmler, M., Burns, K., Hahne, M., Kennedy, N., Kovacsovics, M., & Tschopp, J. (2000). The caspase-8 inhibitor FLIP promotes activation of NF-κB and Erk signaling pathways. *Current Biology*, 10(11), 640–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00512-1

- Kelsall, I. R. (2022). Non-lysine ubiquitylation: Doing things differently. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 9, 1008175. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMOLB.2022.1008175/BIBTEX
- Kelsall, I. R., Zhang, J., Knebel, A., Arthur, S. J. C., & Cohen, P. (2019). The E3 ligase HOIL-1 catalyses ester bond formation between ubiquitin and components of the Myddosome in mammalian cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(27), 13293–13298.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1905873116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1905873116.SAPP.PDF

- Keusekotten, K., Elliott, P. R., Glockner, L., Fiil, B. K., Damgaard, R. B., Kulathu, Y., Wauer, T., Hospenthal, M. K., Gyrd-Hansen, M., Krappmann, D., Hofmann, K., & Komander, D. (2013). OTULIN Antagonizes LUBAC Signaling by Specifically Hydrolyzing Met1-Linked Polyubiquitin. *Cell*, 153(6), 1312–1326. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2013.05.014
- Kim, M., Lee, J. H., Lee, S. Y., Kim, E., & Chung, J. (2006). Caspar, a suppressor of antibacterial immunity in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(44), 16358–16363. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0603238103/SUPPL_FILE/03238FIG9.JPG
- Kirisako, T., Kamei, K., Murata, S., Kato, M., Fukumoto, H., Kanie, M., Sano, S., Tokunaga, F., Tanaka, K., & Iwai, K. (2006). A ubiquitin ligase complex assembles linear polyubiquitin chains. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(20), 4877–4887. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMBOJ.7601360
- Kleino, A., Myllymäki, H., Kallio, J., Vanha-aho, L.-M., Oksanen, K., Ulvila, J., Hultmark, D., Valanne, S., & Rämet, M. (2008). Pirk Is a Negative Regulator of the Drosophila Imd Pathway. *The Journal* of Immunology, 180(8), 5413–5422. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.180.8.5413
- Kleino, A., & Silverman, N. (2014). The Drosophila IMD pathway in the activation of the humoral immune response. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 42(1), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCI.2013.05.014
- Kleino, A., Valanne, S., Ulvila, J., Kallio, J., Myllymäki, H., Enwald, H., Stöven, S., Poidevin, M., Ueda, R., Hultmark, D., Lemaitre, B., & Rämet, M. (2005). Inhibitor of apoptosis 2 and TAK1-binding protein are components of the Drosophila Imd pathway. *The EMBO Journal*, 24(19), 3423. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMB0J.7600807
- Komander, D., & Rape, M. (2012). The Ubiquitin Code. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev-Biochem-060310-170328*, *81*, 203–229. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-BIOCHEM-060310-170328
- Komander, D., Reyes-Turcu, F., Licchesi, J. D. F., Odenwaelder, P., Wilkinson, K. D., & Barford, D. (2009). Molecular discrimination of structurally equivalent Lys 63-linked and linear polyubiquitin chains. *EMBO Reports*, 10(5), 466. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2009.55
- Krueger, A., Schmitz, I., Baumann, S., Krammer, P. H., & Kirchhoff, S. (2001). Cellular FLICEinhibitory Protein Splice Variants Inhibit Different Steps of Caspase-8 Activation at the CD95 Death-inducing Signaling Complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(23), 20633–20640. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M101780200
- Kulathu, Y., Akutsu, M., Bremm, A., Hofmann, K., & Komander, D. (2009). Two-sided ubiquitin binding explains specificity of the TAB2 NZF domain. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 2009 16:12, 16(12), 1328–1330. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1731

- Kumar, S., & Doumanis, J. (2000). The fly caspases. *Cell Death & Differentiation 2000 7:11*, 7(11), 1039–1044. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400756
- Kurata, S. (2014). Peptidoglycan recognition proteins in Drosophila immunity. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 42(1), 36–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCI.2013.06.006
- Lafont, E., Kantari-Mimoun, C., Draber, P., Miguel, D. De, Hartwig, T., Reichert, M., Kupka, S., Shimizu, Y., Taraborrelli, L., Spit, M., Sprick, M. R., & Walczak, H. (2017). The linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex regulates TRAIL-induced gene activation and cell death. *The EMBO Journal*, 36(9), 1147–1166. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBJ.201695699
- Lafont, E., Kantari-Mimoun, C., Draber, P., Miguel, D. De, Hartwig, T., Reichert, M., Kupka, S., Shimizu, Y., Taraborrelli, L., Spit, M., Sprick, M. R., & Walczak, H. (2017). The linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex regulates TRAIL-induced gene activation and cell death. *The EMBO Journal*, 36(9), 1147. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBJ.201695699
- Lamkanfi, M., Declercq, W., Kalai, M., Saelens, X., & Vandenabeele, P. (2002). Alice in caspase land. A phylogenetic analysis of caspases from worm to man. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 9(4), 358–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.CDD.4400989
- Lark, K. K., Un, Y. C., Hwan, S. C., Jung, S. L., Lee, W. Bin, Kim, J., Jeong, K., Shim, J., Kim-Ha, J., & Kim, Y. J. (2007). Down-Regulation of NF-κB Target Genes by the AP-1 and STAT Complex during the Innate Immune Response in Drosophila. *PLOS Biology*, *5*(9), e238. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBI0.0050238
- Lavrik, I. N., Golks, A., Riess, D., Bentele, M., Eils, R., & Krammer, P. H. (2007). Analysis of CD95 Threshold Signaling: TRIGGERING OF CD95 (FAS/APO-1) AT LOW CONCENTRATIONS PRIMARILY RESULTS IN SURVIVAL SIGNALING. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(18), 13664–13671. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M700434200
- Lee, K. Z., & Ferrandon, D. (2011). Negative regulation of immune responses on the fly. *The EMBO Journal*, 30(6), 988–990. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMB0J.2011.47
- Lemaitre, B., & Hoffmann, J. (2007). *The Host Defense of Drosophila melanogaster*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141615
- Lemaitre, B., Kromer-Metzger, E., Michaut, L., Nicolas, E., Meister, M., Georgel, P., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1995). A recessive mutation, immune deficiency (imd), defines two distinct control pathways in the Drosophila host defense. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(21), 9465–9469. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.92.21.9465
- Lemaitre, B., Meister, M., Govind, S., Georgel, P., Steward, R., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1995). Functional analysis and regulation of nuclear import of dorsal during the immune response in Drosophila. *The EMBO Journal*, 14(3), 536. https://doi.org/10.1002/J.1460-2075.1995.TB07029.X
- Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1996). The Dorsoventral Regulatory Gene Cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus Controls the Potent Antifungal Response in Drosophila Adults. *Cell*, 86(6), 973–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80172-5
- Lemaitre, B., Reichhart, J. M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1997). Drosophila host defense: Differential induction of antimicrobial peptide genes after infection by various

classes of microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(26), 14614–14619. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.26.14614

- Leulier, F., Lhocine, N., Lemaitre, B., & Meier, P. (2006). The Drosophila Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein DIAP2 Functions in Innate Immunity and Is Essential To Resist Gram-Negative Bacterial Infection. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 26(21), 7821. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00548-06
- Leulier, F., Rodriguez, A., Khush, R. S., Abrams, J. M., & Lemaitre, B. (2000). The Drosophila caspase Dredd is required to resist Gram-negative bacterial infection. *EMBO Reports*, 1(4), 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1093/EMBO-REPORTS/KVD073
- Lhocine, N., Ribeiro, P. S., Buchon, N., Wepf, A., Wilson, R., Tenev, T., Lemaitre, B., Gstaiger, M., Meier, P., & Leulier, F. (2008). PIMS Modulates Immune Tolerance by Negatively Regulating Drosophila Innate Immune Signaling. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 4(2), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2008.07.004
- Liao, G., Zhang, M., Harhaj, E. W., & Sun, S. C. (2004). Regulation of the NF-kappaB-inducing kinase by tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3-induced degradation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(25), 26243–26250. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M403286200
- Liehl, P., Blight, M., Vodovar, N., Boccard, F., & Lemaitre, B. (2006). Prevalence of Local Immune Response against Oral Infection in a Drosophila/Pseudomonas Infection Model. *PLOS Pathogens*, 2(6), e56. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PPAT.0020056
- Liu, S., & Chen, Z. J. (2011). Expanding role of ubiquitination in NF-κB signaling. *Cell Research*, *21*(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/CR.2010.170
- Liu, Z., Sun, C., Olejniczak, E. T., Meadows, R. P., Betz, S. F., Oost, T., Herrmann, J., Wu, J. C., & Fesik, S. W. (2000). Structural basis for binding of Smac/DIABLO to the XIAP BIR3 domain. *Nature*, 408(6815), 1004–1008. https://doi.org/10.1038/35050006
- Lo, Y. C., Lin, S. C., Rospigliosi, C. C., Conze, D. B., Wu, C. J., Ashwell, J. D., Eliezer, D., & Wu, H. (2009). Structural Basis for Recognition of Diubiquitins by NEMO. *Molecular Cell*, 33(5), 602–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2009.01.012
- Lopez, J., John, S. W., Tenev, T., Rautureau, G. J. P., Hinds, M. G., Francalanci, F., Wilson, R., Broemer, M., Santoro, M. M., Day, C. L., & Meier, P. (2011). CARD-Mediated Autoinhibition of cIAP1's E3 Ligase Activity Suppresses Cell Proliferation and Migration. *Molecular Cell*, 42(5), 569– 583. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2011.04.008
- Marshall, J. S., Warrington, R., Watson, W., & Kim, H. L. (2018). An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology*, 14(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13223-018-0278-1/TABLES/4
- McIlwain, D. R., Berger, T., & Mak, T. W. (2013). Caspase Functions in Cell Death and Disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *5*(4), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A008656
- Medina, K. L. (2016). Overview of the immune system. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, *133*, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63432-0.00004-9
- Mehto, S., Jena, K. K., Nath, P., Chauhan, S., Kolapalli, S. P., Das, S. K., Sahoo, P. K., Jain, A., Taylor, G. A., & Chauhan, S. (2019). The Crohn's Disease Risk Factor IRGM Limits NLRP3 Inflammasome

Activation by Impeding Its Assembly and by Mediating Its Selective Autophagy. *Molecular Cell*, 73(3), 429-445.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.11.018

- Meinander, A., Runchel, C., Tenev, T., Chen, L., Kim, C. H., Ribeiro, P. S., Broemer, M., Leulier, F., Zvelebil, M., Silverman, N., & Meier, P. (2012). Ubiquitylation of the initiator caspase DREDD is required for innate immune signalling. *EMBO Journal*, *31*(12), 2770–2783. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.121
- Mevissen, T. E. T., Hospenthal, M. K., Geurink, P. P., Elliott, P. R., Akutsu, M., Arnaudo, N., Ekkebus, R., Kulathu, Y., Wauer, T., El Oualid, F., Freund, S. M. V., Ovaa, H., & Komander, D. (2013). OTU Deubiquitinases Reveal Mechanisms of Linkage Specificity and Enable Ubiquitin Chain Restriction Analysis. *Cell*, 154(1), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2013.05.046
- Miura, M., Friedlander, R. M., & Yuan, J. (1995). Tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is mediated by a CrmA-sensitive cell death pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(18), 8318–8322. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.92.18.8318
- Mizushima, N. (2007). Autophagy: process and function. *Genes & Development*, 21(22), 2861–2873. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.1599207
- Moquin, D. M., McQuade, T., & Chan, F. K. M. (2013). CYLD Deubiquitinates RIP1 in the TNFα-Induced Necrosome to Facilitate Kinase Activation and Programmed Necrosis. *PLOS ONE*, 8(10), e76841. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0076841
- Morris, O., Liu, X., Domingues, C., Runchel, C., Chai, A., Basith, S., Tenev, T., Chen, H., Choi, S., Pennetta, G., Buchon, N., & Meier, P. (2016). Signal Integration by the IkB Protein Pickle Shapes Drosophila Innate Host Defense. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 20(3), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2016.08.003
- Murphy, J. M., Czabotar, P. E., Hildebrand, J. M., Lucet, I. S., Zhang, J. G., Alvarez-Diaz, S., Lewis, R., Lalaoui, N., Metcalf, D., Webb, A. I., Young, S. N., Varghese, L. N., Tannahill, G. M., Hatchell, E. C., Majewski, I. J., Okamoto, T., Dobson, R. C. J., Hilton, D. J., Babon, J. J., ... Alexander, W. S. (2013). The Pseudokinase MLKL Mediates Necroptosis via a Molecular Switch Mechanism. *Immunity*, *39*(3), 443–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2013.06.018
- Musone, S. L., Taylor, K. E., Lu, T. T., Nititham, J., Ferreira, R. C., Ortmann, W., Shifrin, N., Petri, M. A., Ilyas Kamboh, M., Manzi, S., Seldin, M. F., Gregersen, P. K., Behrens, T. W., Ma, A., Kwok, P. Y., & Criswell, L. A. (2008). Multiple polymorphisms in the TNFAIP3 region are independently associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nature Genetics*, 40(9), 1062. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.202
- Myllymäki, H., Valanne, S., & Rämet, M. (2014). The Drosophila Imd Signaling Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, *192*(8), 3455–3462. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1303309
- Naitza, S., Rossé, C., Kappler, C., Georgel, P., Belvin, M., Gubb, D., Camonis, J., Hoffmann, J. A., & Reichhart, J. M. (2002). The Drosophila Immune Defense against Gram-Negative Infection Requires the Death Protein dFADD. *Immunity*, 17(5), 575–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00454-5
- Nakazawa, S., Oikawa, D., Ishii, R., Ayaki, T., Takahashi, H., Takeda, H., Ishitani, R., Kamei, K., Takeyoshi, I., Kawakami, H., Iwai, K., Hatada, I., Sawasaki, T., Ito, H., Nureki, O., & Tokunaga, F. (2016). Linear ubiquitination is involved in the pathogenesis of optineurin-associated

amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature Communications 2016 7:1*, 7(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12547

- Neumann, L., Pforr, C., Beaudouin, J., Pappa, A., Fricker, N., Krammer, P. H., Lavrik, I. N., & Eils, R. (2010). Dynamics within the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex decide life and death of cells. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 6(1), 352. https://doi.org/10.1038/MSB.2010.6
- Nijman, S. M. B., Luna-Vargas, M. P. A., Velds, A., Brummelkamp, T. R., Dirac, A. M. G., Sixma, T. K., & Bernards, R. (2005). A genomic and functional inventory of deubiquitinating enzymes. *Cell*, *123*(5), 773–786.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2005.11.007/ATTACHMENT/2AD0DF80-4A7E-410A-BA86-EB0AB9BCA004/MMC2.XLS
- Öztürk, S., Schleich, K., & Lavrik, I. N. (2012). Cellular FLICE-like inhibitory proteins (c-FLIPs): Finetuners of life and death decisions. *Experimental Cell Research*, *318*(11), 1324–1331. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YEXCR.2012.01.019
- Pankiv, S., Clausen, T. H., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Bruun, J. A., Outzen, H., Øvervatn, A., Bjørkøy, G., & Johansen, T. (2007). p62/SQSTM1 Binds Directly to Atg8/LC3 to Facilitate Degradation of Ubiquitinated Protein Aggregates by Autophagy. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(33), 24131–24145. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M702824200
- Paquette, N., Broemer, M., Aggarwal, K., Chen, L., Husson, M., Ertürk-Hasdemir, D., Reichhart, J. M., Meier, P., & Silverman, N. (2010). Caspase-Mediated Cleavage, IAP Binding, and Ubiquitination: Linking Three Mechanisms Crucial for Drosophila NF-κB Signaling. *Molecular Cell*, 37(2), 172–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2009.12.036
- Park, J. M., Brady, H., Ruocco, M. G., Sun, H., Williams, D. A., Lee, S. J., Kato, T., Richards, N., Chan, K., Mercurio, F., Karin, M., & Wasserman, S. A. (2004). Targeting of TAK1 by the NF-κB protein Relish regulates the JNK-mediated immune response in Drosophila. *Genes and Development*, *18*(5), 584–594. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.1168104
- Park, J.-H., Kim, Y.-G., McDonald, C., Kanneganti, T.-D., Hasegawa, M., Body-Malapel, M., Inohara, N., & Núñez, G. (2007). RICK/RIP2 Mediates Innate Immune Responses Induced through Nod1 and Nod2 but Not TLRs. *The Journal of Immunology*, *178*(4), 2380–2386. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.178.4.2380
- Pellegrini, E., Signor, L., Singh, S., Erba, E. B., & Cusack, S. (2017). Structures of the inactive and active states of RIP2 kinase inform on the mechanism of activation. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(5), e0177161. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0177161
- Peltzer, N., Darding, M., Montinaro, A., Draber, P., Draberova, H., Kupka, S., Rieser, E., Fisher, A., Hutchinson, C., Taraborrelli, L., Hartwig, T., Lafont, E., Haas, T. L., Shimizu, Y., Böiers, C., Sarr, A., Rickard, J., Alvarez-Diaz, S., Ashworth, M. T., ... Walczak, H. (2018). LUBAC is essential for embryogenesis by preventing cell death and enabling haematopoiesis. *Nature 2018* 557:7703, 557(7703), 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0064-8
- Peltzer, N., Rieser, E., Taraborrelli, L., Draber, P., Darding, M., Pernaute, B., Shimizu, Y., Sarr, A., Draberova, H., Montinaro, A., Martinez-Barbera, J. P., Silke, J., Rodriguez, T. A., & Walczak, H. (2014). HOIP deficiency causes embryonic lethality by aberrant TNFR1-mediated endothelial cell death. *Cell Reports*, 9(1), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2014.08.066

- Peng, J., Schwartz, D., Elias, J. E., Thoreen, C. C., Cheng, D., Marsischky, G., Roelofs, J., Finley, D., & Gygi, S. P. (2003). A proteomics approach to understanding protein ubiquitination. *Nature Biotechnology 2003 21:8, 21*(8), 921–926. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt849
- Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M. Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., Freudenberg, M., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P., Layton, B., & Beutler, B. (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: Mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science*, 282(5396), 2085–2088. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.282.5396.2085/SUPPL_FILE/985613.XHTML

Quarato, G., Guy, C. S., Grace, C. R., Llambi, F., Nourse, A., Rodriguez, D. A., Wakefield, R., Frase, S., Moldoveanu, T., & Green, D. R. (2016). Sequential Engagement of Distinct MLKL Phosphatidylinositol–Binding Sites Executes Necroptosis. *Molecular Cell*, 61(4), 589.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2016.01.011

- Rahighi, S., Ikeda, F., Kawasaki, M., Akutsu, M., Suzuki, N., Kato, R., Kensche, T., Uejima, T., Bloor, S., Komander, D., Randow, F., Wakatsuki, S., & Dikic, I. (2009). Specific Recognition of Linear Ubiquitin Chains by NEMO Is Important for NF-κB Activation. *Cell*, 136(6), 1098–1109. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2009.03.007
- Ramirez, M. L. G., & Salvesen, G. S. (2018). A Primer on Caspase Mechanisms. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 82, 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2018.01.002
- Ran, F. A., Hsu, P. D., Wright, J., Agarwala, V., Scott, D. A., & Zhang, F. (2013). Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nature Protocols 2013 8:11*, 8(11), 2281–2308. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2013.143
- Ray, C. A., Black, R. A., Kronheim, S. R., Greenstreet, T. A., Sleath, P. R., Salvesen, G. S., & Pickup, D. J. (1992). Viral inhibition of inflammation: Cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Cell*, 69(4), 597–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90223-Y
- Reiter, L. T., Potocki, L., Chien, S., Gribskov, M., & Bier, E. (2001). A Systematic Analysis of Human Disease-Associated Gene Sequences In Drosophila melanogaster. *Genome Research*, 11(6), 1114–1125. https://doi.org/10.1101/GR.169101
- Ribeiro, P. S., Kuranaga, E., Tenev, T., Leulier, F., Miura, M., & Meier, P. (2007). DIAP2 functions as a mechanism-based regulator of drICE that contributes to the caspase activity threshold in living cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 179(7), 1467. https://doi.org/10.1083/JCB.200706027
- Rider, P., Voronov, E., Dinarello, C. A., Apte, R. N., & Cohen, I. (2017). Alarmins: Feel the Stress. *The Journal of Immunology*, *198*(4), 1395–1402. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1601342
- Rizki, T. M., & Rizki, R. M. (1984). The Cellular Defense System of Drosophila melanogaster. *Insect Ultrastructure*, 579–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-2715-8_16
- Rizki, T. M., Rizki, R. M., & Grell, E. H. (1980). A mutant affecting the crystal cells inDrosophila melanogaster. Wilhelm Roux's Archives of Developmental Biology, 188(2), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00848799

- Rothe, M., Pan, M. G., Henzel, W. J., Ayres, T. M., & V. Goeddel, D. (1995). The TNFR2-TRAF signaling complex contains two novel proteins related to baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. *Cell*, *83*(7), 1243–1252. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90149-3
- Rubinsztein, D. C., Bento, C. F., & Deretic, V. (2015). Therapeutic targeting of autophagy in neurodegenerative and infectious diseases. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 212(7), 979– 990. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20150956
- Rutschmann, S., Jung, A. C., Zhou, R., Silverman, N., Hoffmann, J. A., & Ferrandon, D. (2000). Role of Drosophila IKK gamma in a toll-independent antibacterial immune response. *Nature Immunology*, 1(4), 342–347. https://doi.org/10.1038/79801
- Ryu, J. H., Kim, S. H., Lee, H. Y., Jin, Y. B., Nam, Y. Do, Bae, J. W., Dong, G. L., Seung, C. S., Ha, E. M., & Lee, W. J. (2008). Innate immune homeostasis by the homeobox gene Caudal and commensal-gut mutualism in Drosophila. *Science*, *319*(5864), 777–782. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1149357/SUPPL_FILE/RYU.SOM.PDF
- Sadek, J., Wuo, M. G., Rooklin, D., Hauenstein, A., Hong, S. H., Gautam, A., Wu, H., Zhang, Y., Cesarman, E., & Arora, P. S. (2020). Modulation of virus-induced NF-κB signaling by NEMO coiled coil mimics. *Nature Communications 2020 11:1*, *11*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15576-3
- Salvesen, G. S., & Dixit, V. M. (1999). Caspase activation: The induced-proximity model. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96(20), 10964. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.20.10964
- Sasaki, Y., Sano, S., Nakahara, M., Murata, S., Kometani, K., Aiba, Y., Sakamoto, S., Watanabe, Y., Tanaka, K., Kurosaki, T., & Iwai, K. (2013). Defective immune responses in mice lacking LUBAC-mediated linear ubiquitination in B cells. *The EMBO Journal*, 32(18), 2463–2476. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMB0J.2013.184
- Schaeffer, V., Akutsu, M., Olma, M. H., Gomes, L. C., Kawasaki, M., & Dikic, I. (2014). Binding of OTULIN to the PUB Domain of HOIP Controls NF-κB Signaling. *Molecular Cell*, *54*(3), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.03.016
- Schulze-Luehrmann, J., & Ghosh, S. (2006). Antigen-receptor signaling to nuclear factor kappa B. *Immunity*, *25*(5), 701–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2006.10.010
- Scott, F. L., Denault, J. B., Riedl, S. J., Shin, H., Renatus, M., & Salvesen, G. S. (2005). XIAP inhibits caspase-3 and -7 using two binding sites: evolutionarily conserved mechanism of IAPs. *The EMBO Journal*, 24(3), 645. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMBOJ.7600544
- Sen, R., & Baltimore, D. (1986). Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences. *Cell*, 46(5), 705–716. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(86)90346-6
- Seymour, R. E., Hasham, M. G., Cox, G. A., Shultz, L. D., HogenEsch, H., Roopenian, D. C., & Sundberg, J. P. (2007). Spontaneous mutations in the mouse Sharpin gene result in multiorgan inflammation, immune system dysregulation and dermatitis. *Genes and Immunity*, 8(5), 416– 421. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.GENE.6364403

- Shpilka, T., Weidberg, H., Pietrokovski, S., & Elazar, Z. (2011). Atg8: An autophagy-related ubiquitin-like protein family. *Genome Biology*, *12*(7), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/GB-2011-12-7-226/FIGURES/4
- Silverman, N., Zhou, R., Stöven, S., Pandey, N., Hultmark, D., & Maniatis, T. (2000). A Drosophila IkappaB kinase complex required for Relish cleavage and antibacterial immunity. *Genes & Development*, 14(19), 2461–2471. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.817800
- Skaug, B., Chen, J., Du, F., He, J., Ma, A., & Chen, Z. J. (2011). Direct, Non-catalytic Mechanism of IKK Inhibition by A20. *Molecular Cell*, 44(4), 559. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2011.09.015
- Skaug, B., Jiang, X., & Chen, Z. J. (2009). The Role of Ubiquitin in NF-кВ Regulatory Pathways.
 Pathways.

 Https://Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Biochem.78.070907.102750,
 78,
 769–796.

 https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.BIOCHEM.78.070907.102750
 78,
 769–796.
- Smit, J. J., Monteferrario, D., Noordermeer, S. M., Van Dijk, W. J., Van Der Reijden, B. A., & Sixma, T. K. (2012). The E3 ligase HOIP specifies linear ubiquitin chain assembly through its RING-IBR-RING domain and the unique LDD extension. *The EMBO Journal*, *31*(19), 3833–3844. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMB0J.2012.217
- Srinivasula, S. M., Hegde, R., Saleh, A., Datta, P., Shiozaki, E., Chai, J., Lee, R. A., Robbins, P. D., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Shi, Y., & Alnemri, E. S. (2001). A conserved XIAP-interaction motif in caspase-9 and Smac/DIABLO regulates caspase activity and apoptosis. *Nature*, 410(6824), 112–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/35065125
- Stieglitz, B., Morris-Davies, A. C., Koliopoulos, M. G., Christodoulou, E., & Rittinger, K. (2012). LUBAC synthesizes linear ubiquitin chains via a thioester intermediate. *EMBO Reports*, 13(9), 840– 846. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2012.105
- Stöven, S., Silverman, N., Junell, A., Hedengren-Olcott, M., Erturk, D., Engström, Y., Maniatis, T., & Hultmark, D. (2003). Caspase-mediated processing of the drosophila NF-κB factor relish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(10), 5991–5996. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1035902100/SUPPL_FILE/5902FIG9.JPG
- Sun, H., Bristow, B. N., Qu, G., & Wasserman, S. A. (2002). A heterotrimeric death domain complex in toll signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(20), 12871–12876. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.202396399/ASSET/7FA729C6-2931-460B-9F61-3EC5502F2515/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PQ2023963006.JPEG
- Sun, S. C. (2017). The non-canonical NF-κB pathway in immunity and inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2017 17:9*, *17*(9), 545–558. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.52
- Sun, X., Yin, J., Starovasnik, M. A., Fairbrother, W. J., & Dixit, V. M. (2002). Identification of a Novel Homotypic Interaction Motif Required for the Phosphorylation of Receptor-interacting Protein (RIP) by RIP3. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(11), 9505–9511. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M109488200
- Swatek, K. N., & Komander, D. (2016). Ubiquitin modifications. *Cell Research 2016 26:4, 26*(4), 399–422. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.39

- Tafesh-Edwards, G., & Eleftherianos, I. (2020). JNK signaling in Drosophila immunity and homeostasis. *Immunology Letters*, 226, 7–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMLET.2020.06.017
- Takehana, A., Katsuyama, T., Yano, T., Oshima, Y., Takada, H., Aigaki, T., & Kurata, S. (2002). Overexpression of a pattern-recognition receptor, peptidoglycan-recognition protein-LE, activates imd/relish-mediated antibacterial defense and the prophenoloxidase cascade in Drosophila larvae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(21), 13705. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.212301199
- Takeuchi, O., & Akira, S. (2010). Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. *Cell*, 140(6), 805–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2010.01.022
- Tang, Y., Joo, D., Liu, G., Tu, H., You, J., Jin, J., Zhao, X., Hung, M. C., & Lin, X. (2018). Linear ubiquitination of cFLIP induced by LUBAC contributes to TNFα-induced apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(52), 20062–20072. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.RA118.005449
- Taniguchi, K., & Karin, M. (2018). NF-κB, inflammation, immunity and cancer: coming of age. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2018 18:5*, *18*(5), 309–324. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.142
- Taylor, R. C., Cullen, S. P., & Martin, S. J. (2008). Apoptosis: controlled demolition at the cellular level. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 9(3), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRM2312
- Tencho, T., Zachariou, A., Wilson, R., Ditzel, M., & Meier, P. (2004). IAPs are functionally nonequivalent and regulate effector caspases through distinct mechanisms. *Nature Cell Biology* 2004 7:1, 7(1), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1204
- Tewari, M., & Dixit, V. M. (1995). Fas- and Tumor Necrosis Factor-induced Apoptosis Is Inhibited by the Poxvirus crmA Gene Product. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *270*(7), 3255–3260. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.270.7.3255
- Thome, M., Schneider, P., Hofmann, K., Fickenscher, H., Meinl, E., Neipel, F., Mattmann, C., Burns, K., Bodmer, J. L., Schröter, M., Scaffidi, C., Krammer, P. H., Peter, M. E., & Tschopp, J. (1997). Viral FLICE-inhibitory proteins (FLIPs) prevent apoptosis induced by death receptors. *Nature*, 386(6624), 517–521. https://doi.org/10.1038/386517A0
- Tokunaga, F., Nakagawa, T., Nakahara, M., Saeki, Y., Taniguchi, M., Sakata, S. I., Tanaka, K., Nakano, H., & Iwai, K. (2011). SHARPIN is a component of the NF-κB-activating linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex. *Nature 2011* 471:7340, 471(7340), 633–636. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09815
- Tokunaga, F., Nishimasu, H., Ishitani, R., Goto, E., Noguchi, T., Mio, K., Kamei, K., Ma, A., Iwai, K., & Nureki, O. (2012). Specific recognition of linear polyubiquitin by A20 zinc finger 7 is involved in NF-κB regulation. *The EMBO Journal, 31*(19), 3856–3870. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMB0J.2012.241
- Tokunaga, F., Sakata, S. I., Saeki, Y., Satomi, Y., Kirisako, T., Kamei, K., Nakagawa, T., Kato, M., Murata, S., Yamaoka, S., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., Takao, T., Tanaka, K., & Iwai, K. (2009). Involvement of linear polyubiquitylation of NEMO in NF-κB activation. *Nature Cell Biology 2009 11:2*, *11*(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1821

- Tsapras, P., Petridi, S., Chan, S., Geborys, M., Jacomin, A. C., Sagona, A. P., Meier, P., & Nezis, I. P. (2022). Selective autophagy controls innate immune response through a TAK1/TAB2/SH3PX1 axis. *Cell Reports*, *38*(4), 110286. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2021.110286
- Tsichritzis, T., Gaentzsch, P. C., Kosmidis, S., Brown, A. E., Skoulakis, E. M., Ligoxygakis, P., & Mosialos, G. (2007). A Drosophila ortholog of the human cylindromatosis tumor suppressor gene regulates triglyceride content and antibacterial defense. *Development*, *134*(14), 2605–2614. https://doi.org/10.1242/DEV.02859
- Tu, H., Tang, Y., Zhang, J., Cheng, L., Joo, D., Zhao, X., & Lin, X. (2021). Linear Ubiquitination of RIPK1 on Lys612 Regulates Systemic Inflammation via Preventing Cell Death. *The Journal of Immunology*, 207(2), 602–612. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.2100299
- Tusco, R., Jacomin, A.-C., Jain, A., Penman, B. S., Larsen, K. B., Johansen, T., & Nezis, I. P. (2017). Kenny mediates selective autophagic degradation of the IKK complex to control innate immune responses. *Nature Communications 2017 8:1, 8*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01287-9
- Valanne, S., Wang, J.-H., & Rämet, M. (2011). The Drosophila Toll Signaling Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, *186*(2), 649–656. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1002302
- Van Opdenbosch, N., & Lamkanfi, M. (2019). Caspases in cell death, inflammation and disease. *Immunity*, 50(6), 1352. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2019.05.020
- Vande Walle, L., & Lamkanfi, M. (2016). Pyroptosis. *Current Biology : CB*, 26(13), R568–R572. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2016.02.019
- Vaux, D. L., & Silke, J. (2003). Mammalian mitochondrial IAP binding proteins. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 304(3), 499–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00622-3
- Vaz, F., Kounatidis, I., Alo Covas, G., Parton, R. M., Harkiolaki, M., Davis, I., Filipe, S. R., & Ligoxygakis, P. (2019). Accessibility to Peptidoglycan Is Important for the Recognition of Gram-Positive Bacteria in Drosophila. *Cell Reports*, 27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.103
- Vlisidou, I., & Wood, W. (2015). Drosophila blood cells and their role in immune responses. *The FEBS Journal*, 282(8), 1368–1382. https://doi.org/10.1111/FEBS.13235
- Wang, C., Deng, L., Hong, M., Akkaraju, G. R., Inoue, J. I., & Chen, Z. J. (2001). TAK1 is a ubiquitindependent kinase of MKK and IKK. *Nature 2001 412:6844, 412*(6844), 346–351. https://doi.org/10.1038/35085597
- Wertz, I. E., & Dixit, V. M. (2010). Signaling to NF-κB: Regulation by Ubiquitination. Cold Spring
Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2(3), a003350.
https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A003350
- Wilson, R., Goyal, L., Ditzel, M., Zachariou, A., Baker, D. A., Agapite, J., Steller, H., & Meier, P. (2002). The DIAP1 RING finger mediates ubiquitination of Dronc and is indispensable for regulating apoptosis. *Nature Cell Biology*, 4(6), 445–450. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCB799
- Witt, A., & Vucic, D. (2017). Diverse ubiquitin linkages regulate RIP kinases-mediated inflammatory and cell death signaling. *Cell Death & Differentiation 2017 24:7, 24*(7), 1160–1171. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.33

- Xiao, G., Harhaj, E. W., & Sun, S. C. (2001). NF-κB-Inducing Kinase Regulates the Processing of NFκB2 p100. *Molecular Cell*, 7(2), 401–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00187-3
- Yan, N., Wu, J. W., Chai, J., Li, W., & Shi, Y. (2004). Molecular mechanisms of DrICE inhibition by DIAP1 and removal of inhibition by Reaper, Hid and Grim. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 11(5), 420–428. https://doi.org/10.1038/NSMB764
- Yang, Q., Zhao, J., Chen, D., & Wang, Y. (2021). E3 ubiquitin ligases: styles, structures and functions. Molecular Biomedicine 2021 2:1, 2(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/S43556-021-00043-2
- Ye, Y., Blaser, G., Horrocks, M. H., Ruedas-Rama, M. J., Ibrahim, S., Zhukov, A. A., Orte, A., Klenerman, D., Jackson, S. E., & Komander, D. (2012). Ubiquitin chain conformation regulates recognition and activity of interacting proteins. *Nature*, 492(7428), 266. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE11722
- Yu, S., Luo, F., Xu, Y., Zhang, Y., & Jin, L. H. (2022). Drosophila Innate Immunity Involves Multiple Signaling Pathways and Coordinated Communication Between Different Tissues. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2022.905370
- Yu, X., Wang, L., Acehan, D., Wang, X., & Akey, C. W. (2006). Three-dimensional Structure of a Double Apoptosome Formed by the Drosophila Apaf-1 Related Killer. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 355(3), 577–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JMB.2005.10.040
- Zhai, Z., Boquete, J. P., & Lemaitre, B. (2018). Cell-Specific Imd-NF-κB Responses Enable Simultaneous Antibacterial Immunity and Intestinal Epithelial Cell Shedding upon Bacterial Infection. *Immunity*, *48*(5), 897-910.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2018.04.010
- Zhang, J., Stirling, B., Temmerman, S. T., Ma, C. A., Fuss, I. J., Derry, J. M. J., & Jain, A. (2006). Impaired regulation of NF-κB and increased susceptibility to colitis-associated tumorigenesis in CYLD-deficient mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(11), 3042–3049. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI28746
- Zhang, Q., Lenardo, M. J., & Baltimore, D. (2017). 30 Years of NF-κB: A Blossoming of Relevance to Human Pathobiology. *Cell*, *168*(1–2), 37–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2016.12.012
- Zhou, Q., Yu, X., Demirkaya, E., Deuitch, N., Stone, D., Tsai, W. L., Kuehn, H. S., Wang, H., Yang, D., Park, Y. H., Ombrello, A. K., Blake, M., Romeo, T., Remmers, E. F., Chae, J. J., Mullikin, J. C., Güzel, F., Milner, J. D., Boehm, M., ... Aksentijevich, I. (2016). Biallelic hypomorphic mutations in a linear deubiquitinase define otulipenia, an early-onset autoinflammatory disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(36), 10127–10132.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1612594113/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.201612594SI.PDF

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS AND MANUSCRIPT

Kietz C, Mohan AK, Pollari V, Tuominen I-E, Ribeiro PS, Meier P, Meinander A. (2021)

Drice restrains Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling and intestinal inflammation.

Cell Death and Differentiation, doi:10.1038/s41418-021-00832-w.

CDD*press*

ARTICLE OPEN

Check for updates

Drice restrains Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling and intestinal inflammation

Christa Kietz¹, Aravind K. Mohan¹, Vilma Pollari¹, Ida-Emma Tuominen¹, Paulo S. Ribeiro (3, Pascal Meier³ and Annika Meinander (3)¹²⁴

© The Author(s) 2021

The *Drosophila* IAP protein, Diap2, is a key mediator of NF-kB signalling and innate immune responses. Diap2 is required for both local immune activation, taking place in the epithelial cells of the gut and trachea, and for mounting systemic immune responses in the cells of the fat body. We have found that transgenic expression of Diap2 leads to a spontaneous induction of NF-kB target genes, inducing chronic inflammation in the *Drosophila* midgut, but not in the fat body. Drice is a *Drosophila* effector caspase known to interact and form a stable complex with Diap2. We have found that this complex formation induces its subsequent degradation, thereby regulating the amount of Diap2 driving NF-kB signalling in the intestine. Concordantly, loss of Drice activity leads to accumulation of Diap2 and to chronic intestinal inflammation. Interestingly, Drice does not interfere with pathogen-induced signalling, suggesting that it protects from immune responses induced by resident microbes. Accordingly, no inflammation was detected in transgenic Diap2 flies and Drice-mutant flies reared in axenic conditions. Hence, we show that Drice, by restraining Diap2, halts unwanted inflammatory signalling in the intestine.

Cell Death & Differentiation (2022) 29:28-39; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00832-w

INTRODUCTION

Innate immune responses are initiated by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns and danger-associated molecular patterns. Activation of PRRs leads to the induction of microbicidal and pro-inflammatory responses, and culminates in elimination of the activating molecule and subsequent return to cellular homeostasis [1]. Proper regulation of inflammatory signalling is crucial as de-regulation at any step can be detrimental for the organism. One of the key players in the inflammatory response is the NF-κB family of transcription factors that regulate the expression of numerous inflammatory genes. Constitutively active NF-κB signalling is characteristic of chronic inflammation and increased NF-κB activity has been connected to irritable bowel diseases, such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease [2, 3].

Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) influence ubiquitindependent pathways that modulate innate immune signalling by activation of NF- κ B [4]. IAPs were first identified in insect baculoviruses as potent inhibitors of cell death [5, 6] and have subsequently been identified in both vertebrates and invertebrates. Cellular and viral IAPs are characterized by the presence of one or more caspase-binding Baculovirus inhibitor of apoptosis protein repeat (BIR) domains that are essential for their antiapoptotic properties [6, 7], as well as a Really interesting new gene (RING) domain, providing them with E3 ligase activity [8]. *Drosophila* carries two *bona fide* IAP genes, *Drosophila* IAP (Diap) 1 and 2 [9]. Diap1 functions mainly as a suppressor of cell death, whereas Diap2, although also able to decrease the apoptotic threshold of the cell, has its main function in inflammatory signalling [10–13]. The most extensively studied mammalian IAPs, i.e. cellular IAP1/2 and X-chromosome-linked IAP (XIAP), and *Drosophila* Diap2 also harbour a Ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain enabling them to interact with poly-ubiquitin chains [14, 15].

In contrast to mammals, Drosophila relies solely on an innate immune defence when combating pathogenic infections. One of the key components of the fly's immune system is the production and secretion of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). AMP production is regulated by two NF-kB pathways, namely, the Toll pathway and the Immune deficiency (Imd) pathway [16]. Upon a gram-negative or gram-positive systemic infection, the Imd and Toll pathways, respectively, activate the production of AMPs in the fat body [17, 18]. However, during local immune responses in the gut, the Imd pathway solely controls the generation of AMPs [19, 20]. The Imd pathway is activated by PGRP-LCx receptors recognizing diaminopimelate (DAP)-type peptidoglycans, which are components of the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria [21-23]. Activation of PGRP-LCx leads to the recruitment of the adaptor proteins Imd and dFadd, and the initiator caspase Dredd [24]. Dredd-mediated cleavage of Imd exposes a conserved IAP-binding motif that recruits Diap2 to the complex, stimulating Diap2-mediated K63linked ubiquitination (K63-Ub) of Imd, Dredd and the IKKy Kenny [25-27]. Ubiguitination of Dredd is needed for cleavage and nuclear localization of the NF-KB protein Relish [26, 28], whereas the ubiquitination of Imd has been suggested to recruit the Drosophila mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase dTak1 and the Relish kinase complex Ird5/Kenny to the Imd-signalling complex [29].

CDDpress

Official journal of CDDpress

¹Faculty of Science and Engineering, Cell Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, Turku, Finland. ²Centre for Tumour Biology, Barts Cancer Institute, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK. ³The Breast Cancer Now Toby Robins Research Centre, The Institute of Cancer Research, London, UK. ⁵Eemail: annika.meinander@abo.fi Edited by: A. Oberst

Received: 9 September 2020 Revised: 28 June 2021 Accepted: 6 July 2021 Published online: 14 July 2021

Vertebrate and invertebrate organisms are in continuous contact with a diverse array of resident microorganisms [30]. One key interface for host-microbe interactions, in both humans and Drosophila, is the epithelial layer of the gut [30, 31]. In addition to being a platform for beneficial host-microbe interactions, the gut epithelium serves as the first line of defence against pathogens entering the body. In order for the organism to mount an efficient immune response against pathogenic bacteria, and simultaneously allow commensal bacteria to interact with the host, inflammatory signalling needs to be carefully regulated. Here, we report a novel role of the Drosophila caspase-3 homologue Drice as a negative regulator of the Imd pathway in the intestinal epithelium. Our results demonstrate that Drice restrains inflammatory signalling induced by commensal bacteria in the fly intestine by forming a complex with Diap2. This triggers proteasomal degradation of the Drice-Diap2 complex. We also show that transgenic expression of Diap2 leads to chronic inflammation only in the presence of commensal bacteria, which elucidates the need of Diap2 to be regulated in microbiotic environments.

MATERIAL AND METHODS Fly husbandry, treatments and strains

Drosophila melanogaster was maintained at 25 °C with a 12-h light-dark cycle on Nutri-fly BF (Dutscher Scientific, Essex, UK) food. The Canton strain was used as wild type. In experiments with flies expressing genes under the UAS-Gal4 system, the Gal4 driver line was used as internal control. The driver lines DaughterlessGal4 (DaGal4) and NP1-Gal4, the Diptericin-LacZ reporter line, and Diap2² mutants and transgenes were provided by Dr. François Leulier. The UbiquitousGal4 (UbiGal4) strain was provided by Dr. Ville Hietakangas, and Drice¹⁷ mutants by Prof. Andreas Bergmann. PGRP-LCD5 (stock #36323) and UAS-p35 (stock #5073) strains were obtained from Bloomington Drosophila stock centre and Drice-RNAi (stock #28064) files were from the Vienna Drosophila Resource Centre. VS-tagged Drice^{WT} and Drice^{C211A}, as well as untagged Diap2^{WT} and Diap2^{A100} were cloned into pUAST, and transgenic flies were generated by BestGene Inc. Axenic flies were reared germ-free according to the previously published protocol [32]. In short, fly embryos were de-chorionated using 2% active hypochlorite, and washed twice in 70% ethanol and sterile H₂O. After removal of the chorion, eggs were placed in autoclaved food and left to develop in a sterile environment. The hatched flies were confirmed to be axenic by 16S PCR and by growing fly homogenates on Luria Bertani (LB) plates and checking for bacterial growth. Inhibitor treatments in flies were done by feeding female adult flies for 16 h with 50 μ M MG-132 (Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) or 50 μ M Z-DEVD-FMK (BD Pharmingen, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA) diluted in a 1:1 solution of LB media and 5% sucrose after a 2-h starvation.

Bacterial strains, infection and survival experiments

The gram-negative bacteria Erwinia carotovora carotovora 15 (Ecc15) was kindly provided by Dr. François Leulier and the Escherichia coli (E. coli) Top10 strain was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). Ecc15 used for septic infection was cultivated in LB media at 29 °C for 16-18 h on agitation and concentrated (optical density of 200). To induce septic injury, adult flies were pricked in the lateral thorax with a needle previously dipped in concentrated *Ecc15* solution. For quantitative PCR (qPCR) 10 adult flies and for TUBE pulldowns 20 adult flies, were incubated 5 h at 25 °C after infection. For survival assays at least 20 adult flies were counted at indicated time points after infection. Infection experiments were excluded if more than 25% of the negative control strains survived bacterial infection or if AMP gene expression was significantly enhanced in these flies. In these cases, the bacterial potency was considered too low. Survival experiments in which wild-type flies survived to a lesser extent than 75%, were also excluded. These criteria were pre-established. For bacterial colony count, E. coli was transformed with pMT/Flag-His-amp and cultivated in ampicillin-containing LB medium at 37 °C for 16-18 h on agitation and concentrated by centrifugation (optical density of 100). After a 2-h starvation, adult flies were fed for 24 h with a 1:1 solution of transformed E. coli in 5% sucrose at 25 °C. Four flies were cleaned with ethanol and sterile H₂O, and homogenised in 300 µl PBS. Samples were diluted 1:1000 and plated on LB agar plates containing

C. Kietz et al.

 $50\,\mu\text{g/ml}$ ampicillin and incubated 24 h at 37 °C, where after the colonies were counted.

Cell culture and transfection of Drosophila S2 cells

Drosophila Schneider S2 cells (Invitrogen, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) were grown at 25 °C using Schneider's cell medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% L-glutamine and 0.5% penicillin/streptomycin. S2 cells were transfected with indicated constructs using Effectene transfection reagent (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For qPCR, western blotting and for GST-pulldown assays, respectively, 2× 10⁶ and 0.7× 10⁷ cells were seeded prior to transfection and the expression of pMT plasmids was induced with 500 μ M CuSO₄ 16 h before lysis. For western blotting, transfected cells were harvested in ice cold PBS and lysed in Laemmli sample buffer. The caspase inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK was used at 20 μ M, 16 h before lysis.

Plasmids and antibodies

The plasmids pMT/VSHis and pAc5/VSHis (Invitrogen) were used as backbones for tag insertions and removals, and for subcloning of the constructs pMT/FlagHis, pMT/HAFlag, pAc5/Diap2, pMT/Dredd-VSHis, pMT/ Predd-HAFlag, pMT/PGRP-LCx-Myc, pMT/Kenny-HA, pMT/Drice and pMT/ ALG(p20/p10)Drice-VSFlag. The point mutation Drice^{C211A} was made by site-directed mutagenesis (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA or Stratagene, San Diego, California, USA). GST-TUBE (tandem ubiquitin entity) was provided by Dr. Mads Gyrd-Hansen. The following antibodies were used: α-K63 (clone Apu3, #05-1308, Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), α-Diap2 [33], α-Drice [34], α-HA (clone 3F10, #11867423001, Roche, Basel, Switzerland), α-V5 (Clone SV5-Pk1, #MCA1360, Bio-Rad, Hercules, California, USA), α-Myc (#M4439, Sigma), αphosphohistone H3 (PHH-3) (Ser10, #9701, Cell Signalling Technology, Danvers, Massachusetts, USA) and α-Actin (C-11, sc-1615, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, Texas, USA).

Purification of GST-TUBE-fusion protein

GST-TUBE expression was induced in *E. coli* BL21 by the addition of 0.2 mM IPTG to an overnight culture of bacteria in LB medium at 18 °C. Bacteria were lysed by sonication in lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM DTT, 0.5 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and 0.2 mg/ml lysozyme. The lysate was added to a column with Glutathione Sepharose[™] 4B (GE Healthcare, Chicago, Illinois, USA) and then washed with wash buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5) and 150 mM NaCl. GST-TUBE was eluted in 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 3 mM DTT and 50 mM glutathione. The proteins were concentrated from the eluate using Amicon[®] Ultra-4 30 K centrifugal filter devices (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA).

Purification of ubiquitin conjugates from cells and fly lysates

Cells were lysed in a buffer containing 20 mM NaH₂PO₄, 20 mM Na₂HPO₄ 1% NP-40 and 2 mM EDTA, and fly lysates in buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA and 10% glycerol, supplemented with 1 mM DTT, 5 mM NEM, Pierce[™] Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor, 5 mM chloroacetamide and 1% SDS. Lysates were sonicated, diluted to 0.1% SDS, and cleared before incubation with Glutathione Sepharose[™] 48 (GE Healthcare) and GST-TUBE for a minimum of 2 h under rotation at 4 °C. The beads were washed four times with ice cold PBS-0.1% Tween-20 and eluted using Laemmli sample buffer.

Lysis of whole flies or fly organs for western blotting

Ten adult *Drosophila* flies, or twelve dissected intestines or carcasses from adult female flies, were homogenized and lysed 10 min on ice in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM EDTA and 10% Glycerol. The lysates were cleared before the addition of Laemmli sample buffer.

Quantitative RT-PCR (qPCR)

Ten Drosophila adult flies or transfected Drosophila S2 cells were homogenised using QIAshredder (QIAGEN) and total RNA was extracted with RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was synthesised with iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's protocol. qPCR was performed using SensiFAST™ SYBR Hi-ROX Kit (Bioline, London, UK). rp49 was used as a housekeeping gene for ∆Ct calculations. The following gene-specific primers were used 29

to amplify cDNA: Diptericin (5'-ACCGCAGTACCCACTCAATC-3', 5'-ACTTTC CAGCTCGGTTCTGA-3'), Drosocin (5'-CGTTTTCCTGCTGCTGC-3', 5'-GGCAG CTTGAGTCAGGTGAT-3'), p49 (5'-GACGCTTCAAGGGACAGTATCTG-3', 5'-AA ACGCGGTTCTGCATGAG-3').

Immunofluorescence of Drosophila intestines

Intestines from three or more female adult flies were dissected in PBS and fixed for 10 min in 4% paraformaldehyde. Samples were permeabilised with PBS-0.1% Triton X-100, 1 h at room temperature, washed with PBS and incubated over night at 4 °C with primary antibody PHH-3 (Ser10, #9701, Cell Signalling Technology) at 1:1000. After washing, the intestines were incubated 2 h at room temperature with secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG (#A21206, Invitrogen) at 1:600. Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in PBS and 1% bovine serum albumin. DNA was stained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylin-dole) (Invitrogen). After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted using Mowiol (Sigma). Counting of PHH-3 positive cells was done using fluorescent microscopy (Zeiss Axiovert-200M microscope, Oberkochen, Germany)

X-gal staining of Drosophila intestines and carcasses

Intestines or carcasses from three or more adult female flies were dissected in PBS and fixed 15 min at room temperature with PBS containing 0.4% glutaraldehyde and 1 mM MgCl₂. The samples were washed with PBS and incubated with fresh staining solution containing 5 mg/ml X-gal, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide trihydrate, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide crystalline and 2 mg/ml MgCl₂ in PBS 1 h at 37 °C. After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted in Mowiol and imaged with bright field microscopy (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).

Fluorometric measurement of caspase-3/7 activity and WST-1 assay

For fluorometric measurement of caspase-3/7 activity in flies, three dissected intestines or carcasses from adult female flies were lysed in buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA and Pierce[™] Protease Inhibitor. The lysate was cleared at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and protein concentration adjusted with Bradford assay (Bio-Rad). For fluorometric measurement of caspase-3/7 activity in *Drosophila* 52 cells, 2 × 10⁶ cells were transfected as described above. The caspase-3/7 activity of the cells and fly lysates was analysed using Apo-ONE[®] Homogenous Caspase-3/7 Assay (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Fluorescence was measured at 499/521 with the plate reader HIDEX sense (HIDEX, Turku, Finland). To measure cell viability, the WST-1 agent (Roche) was added to transfected cells in a ratio of 1:10. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm with the HIDEX plate reader after a 2-h incubation.

Sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene

Genomic DNA was isolated from 40 adult flies using a modified protocol for the QIAamp DNA mini kit (QIAGEN) [35]. Flies were surface sterilized by vortexing them twice in 2% active hypochlorite and sterile H₂O. The efficiency of the washes was confirmed by 16S PCR of water from the last wash step. Flies were homogenized in lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 2 mM EDTA, 1.2% Triton X-100 and 20 mg/ml lysozyme, and incubated 90 min at 37 °C. Overall, 200 µl AL buffer (QIAamp DNA mini kit) with 20 µl proteinase K were added and the lysate was incubated 90 min at 56 °C. Subsequent extraction was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Amplification and Illumina MiSeg sequencing of the V1-V3 region of the 16S rRNA gene, as well as selection of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) and taxonomy assignment of OTUs was done using Eurofins Genomics InView Microbiome Profiling 3.0 service. In order to ensure similar Wolbachia status of both control and mutat fly line, the Wolbachia positive or negative state of the sequenced fly lines was tested by PCR with the Wolbachia specific primers: 5'-GWATTACCGCGGCKGCTG-3' and 5'-AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG-3' prior to sequencing. Canton^S and UbiGal4 > Diap2^{WT} flies were positive for Wolbachia. The proportion of Wolbachia species have been omitted in Fig. 1F for easier comparison of bacterial species residing in the gut lumen.

Statistical analysis

Results from survival assays were analysed by two-way analysis of variance with Tukey's post hoc test for 95% confidence intervals and

results from qPCR by two-tailed Student's t-test on the Δ Ct value, graphs depict relative fold induction of the target gene compared to a normalised control sample. The number of PHH-3 positive cells, relative fluorescence units, and the relative protein expression from western blots measured with ImageJ, were analysed by two-tailed Student's t-test. In comparison to normalised control values, the Mann–Whitney U test was applied. In figures, ns stands for p > 0.05, "p < 0.05, "* p < 0.01, * * * p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.001. Error bars in figures specify ±SEM from the indicated number of independent experiments. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

RESULTS

Diap2 induces chronic inflammation and hyperplasia in the fly intestine

The Drosophila IAP protein Diap2 is required for inducing the Relish-dependent Imd pathway and mounting immune responses upon gram-negative bacterial infection, both locally in the epithelial layers of the gut and trachea, and upon systemic infections in the cells of the fat body [10, 12]. However, it is still unknown how the activity of Diap2 is regulated during basal conditions and upon pathogen-induced infections. To investigate how Diap2-mediated inflammatory responses are regulated, we analysed the impact of Diap2 on inflammatory NF-KB activation. For this purpose, we made transgenic flies, in which expression of Diap2 was induced via the UAS-Gal4 system (Fig. 1A). Analysis of the expression of the Relish target genes Drosocin and Diptericin showed that these AMPs are induced in the Diap2-expressing flies compared to Canton^S and Ubiquitin-Gal4 (UbiGal4) control flies (Fig. 1B). To investigate the origin of Diap2-induced inflammation, we used the Diptericin-LacZ reporter system to compare Diptericin expression in the two major immune organs of the fly, the gut and the fat body [17]. We found that transgenic expression of Diap2 leads to a spontaneous induction of Diptericin in the Drosophila midgut, but not in the fat body (Fig. 1C, D).

Intestinal inflammation is associated with midgut hyperplasia and proliferating cells can be detected in *Drosophila* by staining the proliferation marker PHH-3 [36]. We found that Diap2expressing flies have a significantly increased number of proliferating cells in the midgut compared to control flies (Fig. 1E). Another factor associated with chronic inflammation is dysbiosis of the gut microbiome. When profiling the bacterial composition of wild type and Diap2 transgenic flies by 165 sequencing, we found the Diap2-expressing flies to have a higher ratio of *Proteobacteria* to *Firmicutes* compared to control flies (Fig. 1F), a notion that has been associated with increased gut inflammation in both flies and humans [37, 38].

Finally, as Diap2 overexpression leads to different inflammatory phenotypes in gut and fat body, we compared the endogenous expression of Diap2 in these organs of *Canton⁵* wild type flies. We were able to detect Diap2 in fat body samples, but not in the gut (Fig. 1G). However, when examining the protein levels of Diap2 in Diap2 transgenic flies, we were able to detect, in addition to fulllenght Diap2 in the fat body, both a full-length and a truncated version of Diap2 in the intestine (Fig. 1H), indicating that increased expression of Diap2 induces inflammation only in the intestine.

Drice restrains intestinal activation of the Imd pathway and gut hyperplasia

Caspases belong to a family of conserved cysteine-dependent endoproteases that cleave their substrates after specific aspartic residues [39]. The *Drosophila* effector caspase Drice is one of the key inducers of apoptosis in the fly [40]. Diap2 and Drice have been shown to interact and form a stable complex, wherein Diap2 inhibits the activity of Drice by binding to, and ubiquitinating the caspase. This inhibition is mechanism-based, requiring Drice activity, and results in cleavage of Diap2 [41]. As the truncated

30

C. Kietz et al.



Fig. 1 Diap2 induces chronic inflammation and hyperplasia in the fly intestine. A Whole fly lysates from *Canton⁵*, *UbiGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* flies were analysed by western blotting with α-Diap2 and α-Actin antibodies, and the relative protein level of Diap2 was quantified, n = 3. B Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in adult *Canton⁵*, *UbiGal4*, *Diap2^{Tc}* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* flies mere analysed with qPCR in adult *Canton⁵*, *UbiGal4*, *Diap2^{Tc}* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* flies, n = 10. Adult female intestines (**C**) and carcasses (**D**) from *Diptericin-LacZ* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* /*Diptericin-LacZ* flies were dissected and stained for β-galactosidase activity, n = 3. The last lane in **D** shows a positive control for fat body activation induced by septic infection with *Ecc15*. **E** Intestines from adult *Canton⁵*, *UbiGal4*, *DiaD2^{VT}* flies, were dissected and stained for positive cells were counted. The number of intestines analysed is indicated in brackets. **F** Bacterial 165 rRNA metagenomics of the 1V-3V region in *Canton⁵* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* flies. Colours indicate identified operational taxonomic units (OTUS). Black brackets indicate proportions of *Proteobacteria* and *Firmicutes*, n = 1. Intestines and fat bodies from adult female *Canton⁵* (**G**) or *UbiGal4* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Diap2^{WT}* (**H**) flies were dissected and lysed, and analysed by western blotting with α-Diap2 and α-Actin antibodies, n ≥ 3. The last use relative protein levels of full-length Diap2 (**G**) and full-length and cleaved Diap2 (**H**) were quantified. Data represent mean ± SEM. **p* < 0.00, ****p* < 0.001.

form of Diap2 expressed in the intestine of Diap2 transgenic flies corresponds in size to the Drice-cleaved form of Diap2, we wanted to investigate a possible role for Drice in the regulation of Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling. For this purpose, we measured the expression of NF-κB target genes in *Drice¹⁷* mutant flies and in *Drice-RNAi* flies. *Drice¹⁷* flies encode an unstable form of the Drice protein, reported to express less than 5% of the levels of Drice in wild-type flies [42], and neither *Drice¹⁷* nor *Drice-RNAi* flies have detectable expression of the protein in our study (Fig. S1A, B). We detected a significantly higher expression of the Relish target genes *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* during basal conditions in whole fly lysates from both *Drice¹⁷* (Fig. 2A) and *Dritee-RNAi* flies (Fig. 2B) and, accordingly, a lower basal *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* expression in flies overexpressing Drice (Fig. 2C), suggesting that Drice acts as a negative regulator of Imd signalling.

To investigate if the Drice-mediated regulation of the Imd pathway is tissue-specific, we examined *Diptericin* expression in the gut and fat body of *Drice-RNAi* flies carrying the *Diptericin-LacZ* reporter gene. Similarly to Diap2 overexpression, loss of *Drice* induced *Diptericin* expression in the midgut but not in the fat body (Fig. 2D, E). Interestingly, active Drice, assessed by measuring DEVD-activity, was also detected only in dissected fly guts and not in the fat body (Fig. 2F). As in the Diap2-expressing flies, we found *Drice¹⁷* mutant flies to have a significantly increased number of proliferating cells in the midgut, compared to *Canton⁵* control flies (Fig. 2G). Further, *Drice-RNAi* flies have a higher ratio of *Proteobacteria* to *Firmicutes* compared to *UbiGal4* driver flies (Fig. 2H). Taken together, these results show that Drice is a negative regulator of Imd signalling, needed for maintaining gut homeostasis.

Finally, Diap2 is stabilised in the intestine of *Drice-RNAi* flies, suggesting that Drice and the formation of the Drice-Diap2 complex regulate the levels of Diap2 in the *Drosophila* intestine (Fig. 21). In addition, we found that inhibiting the proteasome by



Fig. 2 Drice restrains intestinal activation of the Imd pathway and gut hyperplasia. Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in adult *Canton⁵*, *Diag2^{7c}* and *Drice¹⁷* flies (A), in *Canton⁵*, *UbiGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UbiGal4*; *UAS-Drice-RNAi* (**B**) flies or in *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UbiGal4*; flies (**C**), $n \ge 8$. Adult female intestines (**D**) and carcasses (**E**) from *Diptericin-Lac2* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* (**B**) flies or in *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UbiGal4*; flies (**C**), $n \ge 8$. Adult female intestines (**D**) and carcasses (**E**) from *Diptericin-Lac2* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* (**B**) flies or in *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* activity was a positive control for fat body activation induced by septic infection with *Ecc15*. **F** Adult female intestines or fat bodies from *UbiGal4* flies were dissected and lysed, and the caspase-3/7 activity was assessed after addition of Apo-ONE reagent by measuring fluorescence at 499/521 nm, n = 4. **G** Intestines from adult *Canton⁵* and *Drice¹⁷* flies were dissected and stained for phosphohistone H3 (PHH-3), and the PHH-3 positive cells were counted. The number of intestines analysed is indicated in brackets. **H** Bacterial 165 rRNA metagenomics analysis of the 1V-3V region in *UbiGal4* and *UbiGal4,Dirce-RNAi* flies. Colours indicate identified operational taxonomic units (OTUs). Black brackets indicate proportions of *Proteobacteria* and *Firmicutes*, n = 1. Intestines from adult *UbiGal4* and *UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* were dissected and lysed, and the relative protein level of full-length Diap2 was quantified. J Adult *Canton⁵* illes were for a dard activation intestines were dissected and analysed by western blotting with α -Diap2 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3, and the relative protein level of full-length Diap2 was quantified. J Adult *Canton⁵* illes were for 0.µM MG-132, their intestines were dissected and analysed by western blotting with α -Diap2, α -Drice, α -K48 and α -Actin antibodies, $n \ge 3$.

feeding flies MG-132 leads to a stabilization of Drice, the cleaved form of Diap2, as well as an increase in K48-linked chains in the intestine (Fig. 2J). This indicates that formation of the Drice-Diap2 complex induces degradation of both proteins in a manner that is preceded by cleavage of Diap2.

The catalytic activity of Drice is required for Imd pathway regulation in the intestine

To investigate whether the regulation of Diap2 is reliant of the catalytic activity of Drice, we generated transgenic flies expressing Drice^{WT} or the catalytically inactive Drice^{C211A} mutant. While Drice-

32



Fig. 3 The catalytic activity of Drice is required for Imd pathway regulation in the intestine. A Relative Drosocin and Diptericin mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in adult Canton⁵, Diap2^{7c}, UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi, UAS-Drice^{WT}/UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi and UAS-Drice^{C211A}/UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi files, n = 7. B Adult female intestines from NP1-Gal4 and NP1-Gal4;UAS-p35 files were dissected and lysed, and the caspase-3/7 activity was assessed after addition of Apo-ONE reagent by measuring fluorescence at 499/521 nm, n = 3. C Relative Drosocin and Diptericin mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in adult NP1-Gal4, UAS-p35, Diap2^{7c} and NP1-Gal4;UAS-p35 files, n = 9. D Adult female intestines from DaGal4, Diptericin-LacZ and NP1-Gal4;UAS-p35 files, n = 9. D Adult female intestines from DaGal4, Diptericin-LacZ files were dissected and stained for β -galactosidase activity, n = 3. Data represent mean ± SEM, *p < 0.5.

RNAi eliminated the endogenous Drice, the transgenic expressed Drice remained high in a *Drice-RNAi* background (Fig. 52). When we analysed the expression of the Relish target genes *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* in whole fly lysates during basal conditions, we found that only Drice^{WT}, but not Drice^{C211A}, is able to restrain the AMP expression induced by loss of Drice (Fig. 3A).

To verify that Drice is the caspase regulating Diap2, we expressed the effector caspase inhibitor p35 in the intestinal epithelial cells with the enterocyte-specific driver NP1-Gal4. When cleaved by a caspase, the viral caspase inhibitor p35 acts as a suicide substrate by trapping the catalytic machinery of the caspase via a covalent thioacyl linkage [43]. p35 has been shown to inhibit the Drosophila effector caspases Drice and Dcp-1 [44], which both recognise the DEVD amino acid sequence [34, 40]. However, Drice is shown to be the only Drosophila effector caspase to interact with Diap2 [45]. We found that expression of p35 in intestinal enterocytes led to reduced effector caspase activity (Fig. 3B) and increased expression of the Relish target genes Drosocin and Diptericin (Fig. 3C). Likewise, a local induction of Diptericin expression in the intestine was detected in Diptericin-LacZ flies expressing the p35 caspase inhibitor (Fig. 3D). Our results indicate, thus, that the catalytic cysteine and, thereby, the covalent bond formed between Diap2 and Drice is needed for

Drice to regulate the activity of the Imd pathway, and that p35, by trapping the catalytic cysteine of Drice, interferes with the ability of Drice to restrain Imd signalling. Although the initiator caspases Dredd and Dronc have been shown to interact with Diap2 [46, 47], neither Dredd nor Dronc is inhibited by p35 [44, 48], suggesting that Drice alone inhibits Diap2-mediated activation of Relish target genes by interacting with Diap2.

Drice regulates Diap2 levels and ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny

Diap2²-mediated K63-Ub of the Imd pathway components Imd and Dredd has been shown to be required for Imd signalling, additionally the *Drosophila* NEMO, IKK γ or Kenny, has recently been identified as a target of K63-Ub mediated by Diap2 [25– 27]. To investigate if inhibition of Drice in the intestine affects Diap2-mediated ubiquitination, we fed flies with the cellpermeable caspase-3 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK. Indeed, a local intestinal inhibition of Drice led to the accumulation of fulllength Diap2 in gut samples (Fig. 4A) and to a Diap2-dependent increase in K63-linked ubiquitin chains pulled down with recombinant GST-TUBE from whole fly lysates (Fig. 4B). To investigate further whether Drice interferes with the ability of Diap2 to ubiquitinate Dredd and Kenny, we co-transfected S2



Fig. 4 Drice regulates Diap2 levels and ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny. A Adult Canton^S flies were fed 50 μ M Z-DEVD-FMK, their intestines were dissected, lysed and subjected to western blotting analysis with α -Diap2, α -K63 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein levels of full-length Diap2 and K63-linked ubiquitin chains were quantified. B Canton^S and Diap2^{7/c} flies were fed 50 μ M Z-DEVD-FMK and lysed. Ubiquitin chains were isolated with GST-TUBE under denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by western blotting with α -K63, α -Diap2, α -Miap2, α -Diap2, α -Diap2, α -Diap2, α -Diap2, α -Diap2, α -Miap2, α -Diap2, α -Cin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein level of ubiquitines and the samples were analysed by western blotting with α -V5, α -HA, α -Diap2, α -K63 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein level of ubiquitineted Dredd or Kenny was quantified. Data represent mean \pm SEM, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

cells with Diap2^{WT} and Dredd-V5 or Kenny-HA, while inducing Drice activity by overexpressing Drice, or interefering with the catalytic activity by overexpressing Drice^{C211A} or treating with the inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (Fig. S3A, B). Importantly, by measuring the activity of mitochondrial dehydrogenases with the WST- 1 assay, we verified that cell viability was not affected by overexpression of Drice^{WT} or Drice^{C211A} in S2 cells (Fig. S3C). Ubiquitin chains were pulled down with recombinant GST-TUBE from cell lysates under denaturing conditions. When over-expressing Diap2^{WT} alone, we could detect ubiquitin smears on

34



Fig. 5 Drice does not restrain pathogen-induced inflammatory signalling. Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in *Canton⁵*, *Diap2^{7c}*, *Drice¹⁷* (**A**) *UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* (**B**) and in *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4* (**C**) flies 5 h after septic infection with the gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*, *n* ≥ 3. Adult *Canton⁵*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *Diap2^{7c}* (**D**) or *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4* (**C**) flies 5 h after septic infection with the gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*, *n* ≥ 3. Adult *Canton⁵*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *Diap2^{7c}* (**D**) or *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}* and *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4* (**E**) flies were subjected to septic injury with *Ecc15* and their survival was monitored over time, *n* = 3. F *DaGal4*, *Diap2^{7c}*, *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4* and *UbiGal4*, *Diap2^{TC}*, *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4*, *Diap2^{TC}, <i>UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4*, *Diap2^{TC}*, *UAS-Drice^{WT};DaGal4*, *Diap2^{TC}*, *UA*

both Dredd and Kenny (Fig. 4C, D, lanes 2). Co-expression with Drice^{WT} reduced the amount of Diap2, and also the ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny (Fig. 4C, D, lanes 3). Likewise, overexpression of catalytically inactive Drice^{C211A}, and treatment with Z-DEVD-FMK that stabilized full-length Diap2, resulted in enhanced ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny (Fig. 4C, D, lanes 4 and 5). This indicates that the levels of Diap2 can be regulated by exogenous manipulation of Drice activity in S2 cells, restraining the ability of overexpressed Diap2 to ubiquitinate the Imd pathway inducers Dredd and Kenny.

Drice does not restrain pathogen-induced inflammatory signalling

As Drice seems to restrain Diap2 from inducing inflammatory signal transduction, the immune response upon septic pathogeninfection was tested in Drice-overexpressing and in Drice-mutant files. Interestingly, *Canton^s* control files, *Drice¹⁷, Drice-RNAi* files, as well as flies overexpressing wild-type Drice (Fig. 5A–C) showed a similar induction of *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* 5 h after septic infection with *Ecc15*. Furthermore, when monitoring the survival of flies, neither control files, Drice¹⁷ files, nor *Drice*-overexpressing

Cell Death & Differentiation (2022) 29:28-39

35


flies, succumb to septic infection with *Ecc15* (Fig. 5D, E). To investigate if the Drice-mediated regulation of Diap2 affected local immune signalling in the intestine, we analysed the response to ingested pathogen. By performing a bacterial colony count after a 24-h feeding on *E. coli*, we found that both Drice-overexpressing flies and *Drice-RNAi* flies were able to fend off pathogens ingested with food, like control flies (Fig. 5F). In addition, K63-Ub was

induced to similar level in Drice-overexpressing flies, *Drice-RNAi* flies and wild type *Canton^S* flies upon septic infection with *Ecc15* (Fig. 5G). Likewise, no reduction of Diap2 levels nor a significant decrease in Diap2-mediated ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny could be detected upon Drice^{WT} overexpression after activating the Imd pathway by overexpression of PGRP-LCx in S2 cells (Fig. S4A, B). These results suggest that Drice does not inhibit the

SPRINGER NATURE

Fig. 6 Drice restrains inflammatory signalling induced by the resident microbiome. A Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels were analysed by qPCR in conventionally reared (C) or axenic (Ax) adult *UbiGal4*;UA5-*Diap2^{WT}* files, n = 3. **B** Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed by qPCR from *Drosophila* 52 cells transfected with empty vector, Diap2^{WT} files, n = 3. **B** Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in conventionally reared (C) or axenic (Ax) adult *UbiGal4*;UA5-*Diap2^{WT}* files, n = 3. **C** Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in conventionally reared (C) or axenic (Ax) adult *UbiGal4*;UA5-*Drice-RNAi* files, n = 6. **D** Caspase-3/7 activity in adult female guts of conventionally reared (C) or axenic (Ax) *yellow white* control files was analysed by measuring fluorescence at 499/521 nm after addition of Apo-ONE reagent, n = 5. **E** Caspase-3/7 activity in adult female guts of pGRP-LC⁴⁵⁵ mutant files and *UbiGal4*;UA5-Drice-RNAi flues and *UbiGal4*;UA5-Drice-RNAi flues and *UbiGal4*; 00.01, #***p* < 0.001. **F** Proposed model for Drice-mediated regulation of Imd signalling. PGN from the cell wall of commensal bacteria induces a low activation of the PGRP-LCx receptor, leading to the recruitment of Imd, dFadd and Dredd to the receptor complex. To regulate NF-KB activation, active Drice binds to Diap2 to form the Drice-Diap2 complex, which is subsequently targeted for proteasomal degradation. As a consequence, ubiquitination of Kenny and Dredd is decreased. In the absence of Drice, uncontrolled activation of intestinal Imd-signalling leads to excessive levels of AMPs in the gut lumen and a disturbed gut homeostasis. Unrestrained Diap2 drives Imd signling by ubiquitinating Imd, Dredd and Kenny. Ubiquitination of Imd enables recruitment of the dTab2-dTak1 complex, and dTak1-mediated cleavage of Relish precedes translocation of the Relish dimer to the nucleus and subsequent activation of Relish target gen

induction of Diap2-mediated ubiquitination and activation of Imd signalling during infection. Supporting this, pathogenic infection coincides with stabilization of full-length Diap2, cleaved Diap2 and Drice in the gut, indicating that the presence of pathogens leads to the disruption of the intestinal Drice-Diap2 complex, freeing both proteins (Fig. 5H). This would indicate that Drice is able to regulate only basal immune responses.

While Diap2 cleavage is a consequence of interaction with Drice, we wanted to examine if cleavage of Diap2, and, thereby, separation of the BIR1 domain, also reduces its activity in the Imd pathway. However, both flies expressing Diap2^{WT} and flies expressing constitutively cleaved Diap2^{Δ100} in a *Diap2^{TC}* mutant background were able to induce AMPs and survive upon septic infections, and clear pathogens locally in the intestine similarly to control flies (Fig. S4C, D, E). These results indicate that the Drice-cleaved form of Diap2, indeed still harbouring BIR2 and BIR3, mediating Imd and Dredd binding [25, 26], a UBA and a RING domain, is a functional mediator of Imd signalling. Hence, we suggest that the role of Drice is to induce cleavage-mediated degradation of Diap2 in the absence of infection.

Drice restrains inflammatory signalling induced by the resident microbiome

As the bacterial presence is constant in the gut, and the fat body only encounters bacteria during a systemic infection [49], we hypothesized that the commensal microbiome activates Diap2mediated Imd-signalling, which in the absence of Drice, leads to an excessive inflammatory response. To eliminate the commensal intestinal microbiome, we reared flies under axenic conditions. As expected, the expression of *Droscin* and *Diptericin* was no longer elevated in axenic Diap2^{WT} expressing flies (Fig. 6A). Likewise, overexpression of Diap2^{WT} in S2 cells was not able to induce AMP expression in the absence of receptor activation (Fig. 6B). The increased expression of *Droscin* and *Diptericin* detected in *UbiGal4* > *Drice-RNAi* flies was, as in Diap2^{WT} expressing flies, significantly decreased by rearing the flies under axenic conditions (Fig. 6C), indicating a link between commensal bacteria and the requirement for Drice-mediated regulation of Imd signalling.

Interestingly, Diap2 is undetectable in the guts of axenic wildtype flies (Fig. S5), indicating that degradation of the Diap2-Drice complex is continuous also in a bacteria-free environment. This is further supported by a reduction in caspase activity in the intestines of both wild-type axenic and PGRP-LCx mutant flies, compared to conventionally reared flies or control flies, respectively (Fig. 6D, E). Taken together, we propose that commensal bacteria trigger the formation of an initial PGRP-LCx receptor complex, competing for Diap2-recruitment to further activate the Imd pathway. The inflammatory response is counteracted by Drice binding to, and forming a complex with Diap2 that is subsequently targeted for degradation. Hence, Drice interferes with the ability of Diap2 to induce downstream signalling and NF- κ B target gene activation under basal conditions (Fig. 6F).

DISCUSSION

Caspases were first identified as regulators of apoptosis, but their regulatory functions now extend to other cellular processes, such as immune signalling and development. Dysregulation of caspases has been implied in tumorigenesis, autoimmunity, autoinflammation and infectious pathologies [39, 50, 51]. Caspases are known to be regulated by IAP proteins, however, caspase-mediated regulation of IAP proteins during inflammatory signalling has not been established before. Here, we report that the Drosophila caspase Drice functions as a negative regulator of intestinal immune responses regulated via the Drosophila NF-KB Relish. While Drice does not seem to impact pathogen-induced immune signalling, it restrains responses induced by commensal bacteria by binding Diap2, leading to the degradation of both proteins. This indicates that Drice halts NF-KB signalling by trapping Diap2 to a degradation complex during basal conditions, and that a pathogenic infection leads to complex disruption and freeing of a functional Diap2. The constitutive interaction between Diap2 and Drice in the intestinal epithelia may also contribute to the regulation of caspase activation to avoid apoptosis-induced cell proliferation [52].

We suggest that the low activation of PGRP-LCx induced by commensal bacteria is sufficient to induce Diap2-mediated Relish activation in the absence of a brake. In the intestinal epithelia, the brake is provided by the effector caspase Drice, halting unwanted inflammatory responses. Interestingly, while Drice transcription is moderate or low in most Drosophila tissues during normal conditions, including the fat body, transcription of Drice is high in the adult Drosophila intestine [53]. This indicates a specific need for continuous expression of Drice to overcome the constant Drice turnover, protecting from unwanted Diap2-induced inflammatory responses in the intestinal cells. As Diap2 has been shown to ubiquitinate Drice [41], and itself [26], we speculate that formation of a Diap2-Drice complex induces Diap2-mediated K48-linked ubiquitination of both proteins, targeting them for proteasomal degradation. Further characterization of this mechanism and identification of the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes involved is, however, needed.

While Drice and Diap2 are targeted for degradation during normal conditions, they both are stabilised upon activation of the PGRP-LCx receptor. We suggest that the receptor stimulation leads to disruption of a pre-existing Drice-Diap2 complex, as also the Drice-cleaved form of Diap2 is stabilised. However, it cannot be excluded that Diap2 is released from Drice due to competition by the activated receptor complex. Regardless, we suggest that the released Diap2 is redirected for ubiquitination of new target substrates during infection. A similar IAP-induced shift in target 37

C. Kietz et al.

ubiquitination upon receptor activation has been shown in noncanonical NF-kB signalling, where clAPs switch from degradationinducing ubiquitination of the NF-kB-inducing kinase (NIK) to ubiquitination of TRAF2/3 upon receptor activation, releasing NIK to activate downstream signalling [54].

While the Drice-Diap2 complex formation leads to the degradation of both proteins, Diap2 cleavage, separating the BIR1 domain is also a consequence of this interaction [41]. The Diap2 homologue XIAP is a key regulator of NOD2-induced inflammatory signalling in the mammalian intestine, shown to induce the pathway by ubiquitinating RIPK2 [55, 56]. Interestingly, a nonsense mutation E99X in XIAP that introduces a stop codon after the BIR1 domain was found in an early onset Crohn's disease patient. This mutation induced a severe and selective defect in intestinal NOD signalling, without affecting immune signalling in T cells and peripheral blood mono-nuclear cells [57]. This suggests that a separated BIR1 domain is associated with impaired NF-KB signalling also in mammalian intestinal cells. The BIR1 domain has been shown to regulate XIAP-mediated NF-KB signalling, by bringing TAB1 and XIAP together, leading to activation of TAK1 [58]. Hence, it will be interesting to study if the separated BIR1 of Diap2 mediates NF-KB responses via, the yet unidentified, Drosophila TAB1-homologue in the epithelial cells of the fly intestine.

Intestinal epithelial cells coexist with commensal bacteria and need to develop tolerance to pattern recognition to allow for healthy host-microbe interactions. However, these epithelial cells also need to maintain responsiveness to foodborne pathogens. Hence, proper regulation of NF-KB signalling is crucial to avoid deregulated immune responses and chronic inflammation deleterious for the host [59]. We propose that IAP regulation may provide a mechanism of restraining unwanted inflammatory responses in cells of epithelial tissues exposed to nonpathogenic microbiota. Interestingly, the caspase-mediated restriction in IAP activity, we describe, does not affect pathogeninduced responses. Hence, it may allow for specific regulation of malfunctional epithelial responses in chronic inflammatory disease.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article and in its supplementary information file.

REFERENCES

- 1. Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell. 2010;140:805–20.
- Atreya I, Atreya R, Neurath MF. NF-kappaB in inflammatory bowel disease. J Intern Med 2008;263:591–6.
- Viennois E, Chen F, Merlin D. NF-κB pathway in colitis-associated cancers. Transl Gastrointest Cancer. 2013;2:21–29.
- 4. Darding M, Meier P. IAPs: guardians of RIPK1. Cell Death Differ 2012;1:58-66.
- Crook NE, Clem RJ, Miller LK. An apoptosis-inhibiting baculovirus gene with a zinc finger-like motif. J Virol. 1994;4:2168–74.
- Birnbaum MJ, Clem RJ, Miller LK. An apoptosis-inhibiting gene from a nuclear polyhedrosis virus encoding a polypeptide with Cys/His sequence motifs. J Virol. 1994;4:2521–8.
- Hinds MG, Norton RS, Vaux DL, Day CL. Solution structure of a baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) repeat. Nat Struct Biol. 1999;7:648–51.
- Vaux D, Silke J. IAPs, RINGs and ubiquitylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005;6:287–97.
- 9. Hay BA, Wassarman DA, Rubin GM. *Drosophila* homologs of baculovirus inhibitor of apoptosis proteins function to block cell death. Cell. 1995;7:1253–62.
- Kleino A, Valanne S, Ulvila J, Kallio J, Myllymäki H, Enwald H, et al. Inhibitor of apoptosis 2 and TAK1-binding protein are components of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway. EMBO J. 2005;19:3423–34.
- Gesellchen V, Kuttenkeuler D, Steckel M, Pelte N, Boutros M. An RNA interference screen identifies Inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 as a regulator of innate immune signalling in *Drosophila*. EMBO Rep. 2005;10:979–84.

- Leulier F, Lhocine N, Lemaitre B, Meier P. The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein DIAP2 functions in innate immunity and is essential to resist gramnegative bacterial infection. Mol Cell Biol. 2006;21:7821–31.
- Huh JR, Foe I, Muro I, Chen CH, Seol JH, Yoo SJ, et al. The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) DIAP2 is dispensable for cell survival, required for the innate immune response to gram-negative bacterial infection, and can be negatively regulated by the reaper/hid/grim family of IAP-binding apoptosis inducers. J Biol Chem. 2007;3:2056–68.
- Gyrd-Hansen M, Darding M, Miasari M, Santoro MM, Zender L, Xue W, et al. IAPs contain an evolutionarily conserved ubiquitin-binding domain that regulates NFkappaB as well as cell survival and oncogenesis. Nat Cell Biol. 2008;11:1309–17.
- Blankenship JW, Varfolomeev E, Goncharov T, Fedorova AV, Kirkpatrick DS, Izrael-Tomasevic A, et al. Ubiquitin binding modulates IAP antagonist-stimulated proteasomal degradation of c-IAP1 and c-IAP2. Biochem J. 2009;1:149–60.
- Hetru C, Hoffmann JA. NF-κB and the immune response of *Drosophila*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2009. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000232.
- Lemaitre B, Hoffman J. The host defence of Drosophila melanogaster. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:697–743.
- Kurata S. Extracellular and intracellular pathogen recognition by Drosophila PGRP-LE and PGRP-LC. Int Immunol. 2010;3:143–8.
- Ferrandon D, Jung AC, Criqui M, Lemaitre B, Uttenweiler-Joseph S, Michaut L, et al. A drosomycin-GFP reporter transgene reveals a local immune response in Drosophila that is not dependent on the toil pathway. EMBO J. 1998;17:1217–27.
- Tzou P, Ohresser S, Ferrandon D, Capovilla M, Reichhart JM, Lemaitre B, et al. Tissue-specific inducible expression of antimicrobial peptide genes in *Drosophila* surface epithelia. Immunity. 2000;13:737–48.
- Choe KM, Werner T, Stoven S, Hultmark S, Anderson KV. Requirement for a peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) in Relish activation and antibacterial immune responses in. Drosoph Sci. 2002;296:359–62.
- Gottar M, Gobert V, Michel T, Belvin M, Duyk G, Hoffmann JA, et al. The Drosophila immune response against Gram-negative bacteria is mediated by a peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature. 2002;416:640–4.
- Leulier F, Parquet C, Pili-Floury S, Ryu JH, Caroff M, Lee WJ, et al. The Drosophila immune system detects bacteria through specific peptidoglycan recognition. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:478–84.
- Choe KM, Lee H, Anderson KV. Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein LC (PGRP-LC) acts as a signal-transducing innate immune receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005;102:1122–6.
- Paquette N, Broemer M, Aggarwal K, Chen L, Husson M, Ertürk-Hasdemir D, et al. Caspase-mediated cleavage, IAP binding, and ubiquitination: linking three mechanisms crucial for *Drosophila* NF-kappaB signaling. Mol Cell. 2010;2:172–82.
- Meinander A, Runchel C, Tenev T, Chen L, Kim CH, Ribeiro P, et al. Ubiquitylation of the initiator caspase DREDD is required for innate immune signalling. EMBO J. 2012;31:2770–83.
- Aalto AL, Mohan AK, Schwintzer L, Kupka S, Kietz C, Walczak H, et al. M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in. Drosoph Cell Death Differ. 2019;26:800–76.
- Stoven S, Silverman N, Junell A, Hedengren-Olcott M, Erturk D, Engstrom Y, et al. Caspase-mediated processing of the Drosophila NF-kappaB factor Relish. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003;100:5991–6.
- Ferrandon D, Imler JL, Hetru C, Hoffmann JA. The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;862–74.
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature. 2010;464:59–65.
- Apidianakis Y, Rahme LG. Drosophila melanogaster as a model for human infection and pathology. Dis Model Mech. 2011;4:21–30.
- Kietz C, Pollari V, Meinander A. Generating germ-free Drosophila to study gutmicrobe interactions: protocol to rear Drosophila under axenic conditions. Curr Protoc Toxicol. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/cptx.52.
- Tenev T, Zachariou A, Wilson R, Ditzel M, Meier P. IAPs are functionally nonequivalent and regulate effector caspases through distinct mechanisms. Nat Cell Biol. 2005;7:70–77.
- Song Z, McCall K, Steller H. DCP-1, a Drosophila cell death protease essential for development. Science. 1997;275:536–40.
- Simhadri RK, Fast EM, Guo R, Schultz MJ, Vaisman N, Ortiz L, et al. The gut commensal microbiome of *Drosophila melanogaster* is modified by the endosymbiont *Wolbachia*. mSphere. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00287-17.
- Amcheslavsky A, Jiang J, Ip YT. Tissue damage-induced intestinal stem cell division in *Drosophila*. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;1:49–61.
- Clark RI, Salazar A, Yamada R, Fitz-Gibbon S, Morselli M, Alcaraz J, et al. Distinct shifts in microbiota composition during *Drosophila* aging impair intestinal function and drive mortality. Cell Rep. 2015;12:1656–67.

Cell Death & Differentiation (2022) 29:28-39

SPRINGER NATURE

38

C. Kietz et al.

- Clemente JC, Ursell LK, Parfrey LW, Knight R. The impact of the gut microbiota on human health: an integrative view. Cell. 2012;148:1258–70.
- Van Opdenbosch N, Lamkanfi M. Caspases in cell death, inflammation, and disease. Immunity. 2019;6:1352–64.
- Fraiser AG, McCarthy NJ, Evan GI. drlCE is an essential caspase required for apoptotic activity in *Drosophila* cells. EMBO J. 1997;16:6192–9.
- Ribeiro PS, Kuranaga E, Tenev T, Leulier F, Miura M, Meier P. DIAP2 functions as a mechanism-based regulator of drICE that contributes to the caspase activity threshold in living cells. J Cell Biol. 2007;19:1467–80.
- Xu D, Wang Y, Willecke R, Chen Z, Ding T, Bergmann A. The effector caspases drlCE and dcp-1 have partially overlapping functions in the apoptotic pathway in. Drosoph Cell Death Differ. 2006;13:1697–706.
- Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS. Chemical ligation an unusual paradigm in protease inhibition. Mol Cell. 2006;21:727–8.
- Kim CH, Paik D, Rus F, Silverman N. The caspase-8 homolog Dredd cleaves Imd and relish but is not inhibited by p35. J Biol Chem. 2014;289:20092–101.
- Leulier F, Ribeiro P, Palmer E, Tenev T, Takahashi K, Robertson D, et al. Systematic in vivo RNAi analysis of putative components of the *Drosophila* cell death machinery. Cell Death Differ. 2005;13:1663–74.
- Quinn LM, Dorstyn L, Mills K, Colussi PA, Chen P, Coombe M, et al. An essential role for the caspase Dronc in developmentally programmed cell death in Drosophila. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:40416–24.
- Guntermann S, Fraser B, Hazes B, Foley E. Independent proteolytic activities control the stability and size of *Drosophila* inhibitor of apoptosis 2 protein. J Innate Immun. 2014;7:518–29.
- Meier P, Silke J, Leevers SJ, Evan G. The Drosophila caspase DRONC is regulated by DIAP1. EMBO J. 2000;19:598–611.
- Douglas AE. Multiorganismal insects: diversity and function of resident microorganisms. Annu Rev Entomol. 2015;60:17–34.
- Halaby R. Apoptosis and autoimmune disorders. In: Chan J, editor. Autoimmune diseases 99-116. London, UK: IntechOpen; 2012. https://doi.org/10.5772/48164.
- Van Gorp H, Van Opdenbosch N, Lamkanfi M. Inflammasome-dependent cytokines at the crossroads of health and autoinflammatory disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028563.
- Fogarty C, Bergmann A. Killers creating new life: caspases drive apoptosisinduced proliferation in tissue repair and disease. Cell Death Differ. 2017;24:1390–1400.
- Graveley B, Brooks A, Carlson J, Duff M, Landolin M, Yang L, et al. The developmental transcriptome of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Nature. 2011;471:473–9.
- Zarnegar BJ, Wang Y, Mahoney DJ, Dempsey PW, Cheung HH, He J, et al. Noncanonical NF-kappaB activation requires coordinated assembly of a regulatory complex of the adaptors cIAP1, cIAP2, TRAF2 and TRAF3 and the kinase NIK. Nat Immunol. 2008;12:1371–8.
- Hasegawa M, Fujimoto Y, Lucas PC, Nakano H, Fukase K, Núñez G, et al. A critical role of RICK/RIP2 polyubiquitination in Nod-induced NF-κB activation. EMBO J. 2008;27:373–83.
- Krieg A, Correa RG, Garrison JB, Le Negrate G, Welsh K, Huang Z, et al. XIAP mediates NOD signaling via interaction with RIP2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009;106:14524-9.
- Zeissig Y, Petersen B, Milutinovic S, Bosse E, Mayr G, Peuker K, et al. XIAP variants in male Crohn's disease. Gut. 2015;64:66–76.
- Lu M, Lin SC, Huang Y, Kang YJ, Rich R, Lo YC. XIAP induces NF-kappaB activation via the BIR1/TAB1 interaction and BIR1 dimerization. Mol Cell. 2007;26:689–702.
- 59. Pasparakis M. Role of NF-κB in epithelial biology. Immunol Rev. 2012;246:346–58.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Center of Excellence in Cellular Mechanostasis at Åbo Akademi University and the InFLAMES Flagship Programme of the Academy of Finland (#33754). The services provided by the Cell Imaging and Cytometry Core and the Finnish Functional Genomics Centre at Turku Bioscience are supported by Biocenter Finland. The HIDEX plate reader was provided through collaborator with Prof. Kid Tömquist. Stocks obtained from the Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center (NIH P40OD018537) were used in this study. We are grateful to Anna Ahlbäck and Dr. Tencho Tenev for technical support and Francois Leulier for fly strains, plasmids and bacterial strains as mentioned. The Academy of Finland (#275570, #283524, #312557), the Magnus Ehmrooth Foundation, the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, The Foundation Liv och Hälsa, the Åbo Akademi University Foundation, Instrumentarium Science Foundation, the K. Albin Johansson Foundation, the Paulo Foundation and Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences are acknowledged for financial support. Work in the Meier lab is funded by Breast Cancer Now as part of Programme Funding to the Breast Cancer Now Toby Robins Research Centre (CTR-QR14-007). Further, the Meier lab acknowledges NHS funding to the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CK designed and executed most of the experiments, data analysis and writing of the manuscript. VP planned and performed axenic fly experiments. AKM performed TUBE pulldowns. I-ET, PR and AM performed survival and AMP analyses of Diap2 and Drice mutants. PR, PM and AM contributed to the design of the experiments, writing and data analysis of this manuscript.

FUNDING

Open access funding provided by Abo Akademi University (ABO).

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All use of transgenic flies and genetically modified material are approved by the Finnish Board for Gene Technology (Reg. Nr. 003/S/18).

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Supplementary information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-021-00832-w.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to A.M.

Reprints and permission information is available at http://www.nature.com/ reprints

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2021

39

Supplementary figures

Drice restrains Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling and intestinal inflammation

Christa Kietz, Aravind K Mohan, Vilma Pollari, Ida-Emma Tuominen, Paulo S Ribeiro, Pascal Meier, Annika Meinander

Kietz et al. Supplementary Figure 1









Kietz et al. Supplementary Figure 5





Supplementary figure legends

Drice restrains Diap2-mediated inflammatory signalling and intestinal inflammation

Christa Kietz, Aravind K Mohan, Vilma Pollari, Ida-Emma Tuominen, Paulo S Ribeiro, Pascal Meier, Annika Meinander

Supplementary Figure 1. Drice protein levels in Drice mutants A, B) Whole fly lysates from *Canton^S* and *Drice¹⁷* (A) or *UbiGal4* and *UbiGal4; UAS-Drice-RNAi* (B) flies were analysed by Western blotting with α -Drice and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein level of Drice was quantified. Data represent mean \pm SEM and **** p < 0.0001.

Supplementary Figure 2. Drice protein level in flies expressing $Drice^{WT}$ and $Drice^{C211A}$ in *Drice-RNAi* background. Whole fly lysates from *Canton^S*, *Diap2^{7c}*, *UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi*, *UAS-Drice^{WT}/UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* and *UAS-Drice^{C211A}/UbiGal4;UAS-Drice-RNAi* were analysed by Western blotting with α -Drice and α -Actin antibodies, and the relative protein level of Drice quantified, n = 3. Data represent mean ± SEM. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001.

Supplementary Figure 3. Verification of Drice inhibition by DEVD-treatment, and of cell viability after Drice overexpression in S2-cells. A) *Drosophila* S2-cells were transfected with empty vector, Drice^{WT} or Drice^{C211A}, where after the cells were treated with 20 μ M Z-DEVD-FMK 16 h. The caspase-3/7 activity was analysed by adding Apo-ONE reagent to plated cells and measuring fluorescence at 499/521 nm, n = 3. B) *Drosophila* S2-cells were transfected with ALG-Drice and treated with Z-DEVD-FMK for 16 h. Cells were lysed and Drice cleavage was analysed by Western blotting with α -Drice and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein level of cleaved Drice was quantified. C) S2-cells were transfected with empty vector, Drice^{WT} or Drice^{C211A} and the cell viability assessed by addition of WST-1 reagent and measurement of absorbance at 450 nm, n = 4. Data represent mean \pm SEM. ns stands for non-significant, * p < 0.05, **** p < 0.0001.

Supplementary Figure 4. Ubiquitination of Dredd and Kenny upon PGRP-LCx overexpression, and immune response in $Diap2^{A100}$ expressing flies. A, B) *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, Diap2^{WT}, PGRP-LCx-Myc, Drice^{WT}, Drice^{C211A} and HA-tagged Dredd (A) or HA-tagged Kenny (B). Ubiquitin chains were isolated with GST-TUBE at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -HA, α -Diap2, α -Drice, α -Myc and α -Actin antibodies, $n \ge 4$. The relative protein levels of ubiquitinated Dredd or Kenny were quantified. C) Relative *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* mRNA levels analysed with qPCR in adult *Canton^S*, $Diap2^{7c}$; *UAS-Diap2^{WT}/DaGal4* flies 5 h after septic infection with *Ecc15*, $n \ge 4$. D) Adult *Canton^S*, $Diap2^{7c}$; *UAS-Diap2^{MT}/DaGal4* and $Diap2^{7c}$; *UAS-Diap2^{MT}/DaGal4* and $Diap2^{7c}$; *UAS-Diap2^{MT}/DaGal4* and $Diap2^{7c}$; *UAS-Diap2^{MT}/DaGal4* flies were infected by feeding with *E. coli* for 24 h and the bacterial load was assessed by counting colony-forming units (CFU), n = 4. The same *DaGal4* and *Diap2^{7c}* controls were used as in Figure 5F. Data represent mean \pm SEM. ns stands for non-significant, * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.001.

Supplementary Figure 5. Diap2 protein levels in axenic flies. The intestines from adult female conventionally reared (C) *UbiGal4* flies treated with 50 μ M MG-132 or orally infected with *Ecc15*, and of axenic (A) *UbiGal4* flies were dissected and lysed and analysed by Western blotting with α -Diap2 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. The relative protein levels of full-length and cleaved Diap2 were quantified. Data represent mean \pm SEM. ns stands for non-significant and ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

Aalto AL*, Mohan AK*, Schwintzer L, Kupka S, Kietz C, Walczak H, Broemer M, Meinander A. (2019)

M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in Drosophila.

Cell Death and Differentiation, doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0164-x. *Equal contribution

ARTICLE





M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in *Drosophila*

Anna L. Aalto¹ · Aravind K. Mohan¹ · Lukas Schwintzer² · Sebastian Kupka³ · Christa Kietz¹ · Henning Walczak³ · Meike Broemer \mathbb{D}^2 · Annika Meinander \mathbb{D}^1

Received: 24 January 2018 / Revised: 20 June 2018 / Accepted: 2 July 2018 / Published online: 19 July 2018 © The Author(s) 2018. This article is published with open access

Abstract

Post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination play a key role in regulation of inflammatory nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) signalling. The *Drosophila* I κ B kinase γ (IKK γ) Kenny is a central regulator of the *Drosophila* Imd pathway responsible for activation of the NF- κ B Relish. We found the *Drosophila* E3 ligase and HOIL-1L interacting protein (HOIP) orthologue linear ubiquitin E3 ligase (LUBEL) to catalyse formation of M1-linked linear ubiquitin (M1-Ub) chains in flies in a signal-dependent manner upon bacterial infection. Upon activation of the Imd pathway, LUBEL modifies Kenny with M1-Ub chains. Interestingly, the LUBEL-mediated M1-Ub chains seem to be targeted both directly to Kenny and to K63-linked ubiquitin chains conjugated to Kenny by DIAP2. This suggests that DIAP2 and LUBEL work together to promote Kenny-mediated activation of Relish. We found LUBEL-mediated M1-Ub chain formation to be required for flies to survive oral infection with Gram-negative bacteria, for activation of Relish-mediated expression of antimicrobial peptide genes and for pathogen clearance during oral infection. Interestingly, LUBEL is not required for mounting an immune response against systemic infection, as Relish-mediated antimicrobial peptide genes can be expressed in the absence of LUBEL during septic injury. Finally, transgenic induction of LUBEL-mediated M1-Ub drives expression of antimicrobial peptide genes and hyperplasia in the midgut in the absence of infection. This suggests that M1-Ub chains are important for Imd signalling and immune responses in the intestinal epithelia, and that enhanced M1-Ub chain formation is able to drive chronic intestinal inflammation in flies.

Introduction

Ubiquitination is a reversible process, involving addition of ubiquitin, a 76-amino acid-long polypeptide, to the target

These authors contributed equally: Anna L. Aalto, Aravind K. Mohan.

Edited by E. Baehrecke.

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-018-0164-x) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorised users.

Annika Meinander annika.meinander@abo.fi

- ¹ Department of Cell Biology, Faculty of Science and Engineering, BioCity, Åbo Akademi University, 20520 Turku, Finland
- ² German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE), 53127 Bonn, Germany
- ³ Centre for Cell Death, Cancer and Inflammation (CCCI), UCL Cancer Institute, London WC1E 6BT, UK

substrate through a three-step enzymatic process carried out by E1 ubiquitin-activating enzymes, E2 ubiquitinconjugating enzymes and E3 ubiquitin ligases [1]. Polyubiquitin chains are created when lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, K63) or the N-terminal methionine (M1) of ubiquitin itself are ubiquitinated. M1-linked ubiquitin (M1-Ub) chains are formed through linkage of the Cterminal glycine of the incoming ubiquitin to the N-terminal methionine of the preceding ubiquitin, instead of to a lysine residue. M1-Ub chain formation is catalysed by the linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex (LUBAC) consisting of HOIL-1L interacting protein (HOIP), HOIL-1 and SHAR-PIN [2-7] in mammals and by the recently described E3 ligase LUBEL (linear ubiquitin E3 ligase) in Drosophila [8]. The really interesting new gene (RING)-in-between-RING (RBR) domains of HOIP and LUBEL carry the respective catalytic activity for M1-linkage-specific ubiquitination [4, 8]. Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) provide an important level of regulation of ubiquitin chain formation by breaking down ubiquitin chains and removing the ubiquitin moieties from substrates [9]. CYLD and



Fig. 1 LUBEL is required for signal-dependent M1-Ub chain formation in flies. **a** Adult wild-type *Canton^S* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies were infected by septic injury with the Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*. M1-Ub chains were isolated at denaturing conditions from fly lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN. Ubiquitin chains from lysates and pulldown samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1 and panubiquitin antibodies and equal loading was controlled with α -Actin antibody, n = 9. **b** Adult wild-type *Canton^S* and *lubel^{Mi}* flies were starved for 2 h before infection by feeding with the Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*. *Canton^S* flies fed with LB were used as controls. M1-Ub chains were isolated from fly lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN at

denaturing conditions. Ubiquitin chains from lysates and pulldown samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1 and panubiquitin antibodies and equal loading was controlled by immunoblotting with α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. **c** Adult wild-type *Canton^S* and *lubel^{M1}* mutant flies were infected by septic injury with the Gramnegative bacteria *Ecc15*. M1-Ub chains were isolated from fly lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN. The GST-NEMO-UBAN-isolated samples were subjected to ubiquitin chain restriction (UbiCRest) with recombinant OTULIN and vOTU and M1-Ub chains were analysed by Western blotting with an α -M1 antibody, n = 3

OTULIN are DUBs shown to be able to degrade M1-Ub chains [10–15]. Ubiquitin conjugation to target proteins may regulate proteins through conformational changes. However, the most common mode of regulation involves specific "ubiquitin receptors" that recognise ubiquitinated proteins via their ubiquitin-binding domains (UBDs). This ubiquitin binding allows for recognition of the ubiquitin modification and decoding of the ubiquitin message [16]. K48-linked ubiquitin chains have for long been known as the main signal for proteasomal degradation of target substrates [1], due to recognition by ubiquitin receptors in the

proteasome lids [17]. However, it has also been established that ubiquitination, particularly with K63-linked ubiquitin (K63-Ub) and M1-Ub chains, plays an important role in regulation of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) activation and cell death induction in signalling complexes [2, 5, 6, 18–21].

Inflammation is induced by cells that recognise and respond to danger signals such as damage-associated or pathogen-associated molecular patterns and is essential for survival of organisms. Members of the NF- κ B family of transcription factors are found to be chronically active in many inflammatory diseases, including in intestinal bowel disease, and to be involved in colitis-associated carcinogenesis [22, 23]. The fly intestine is structurally and functionally reminiscent of the mammalian, and similarly as in mammals, the NF-kB family of transcription factors are major mediators of inflammatory signalling in flies. In addition to the inflammatory signalling pathways controlling NF-kB, also the enzymatic cascades regulating ubiquitination, the ubiquitin-binding receptors, and the ubiquitin chains themselves are well conserved through evolution [24, 25]. K63-Ub chains induced by the Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (DIAP2) are important for activation of the Drosophila Imd pathway [26-28]. This Drosophila NF-KB pathway is rapidly activated by PGRP-LCx receptors recognising diaminopimelate-type peptidoglycans, which are components of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria. The Imd pathway activation leads to expression of hundreds of genes, some of which encode antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) required for fending off intruding pathogens [25, 29-32]. PGRP-LCx activation leads to recruitment of the protein Imd and formation of a signalling complex including FADD and the Drosophila caspase-8 homologue Dredd. Dredd-mediated cleavage of Imd leads to exposure of an inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP)-binding motif, recruiting the Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein DIAP2 to the complex [26, 32]. For signalling to proceed, DIAP2-mediated K63-linked ubiquitination of Imd and Dredd is necessary [26, 27]. While the ubiquitination of Dredd is required for cleavage and nuclear localisation of the Imd pathway-specific NFκB protein Relish [27, 33], Imd ubiquitination has been suggested to promote recruitment of the Drosophila mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase dTAK1/ TAB2 and the Relish kinase complex IRD5/Kenny (IKB kinase β/γ (IKK β /IKK γ)) to the Imd signalling complex [25].

We have now studied the contribution of M1-Ub chains to Drosophila NF-KB signalling, which adds another layer of complexity to the established role for K63-linked ubiquitination in the Imd pathway [26-28]. We found that the Drosophila E3 ligase LUBEL catalyses formation of M1-Ub chains upon bacterial challenge. We show that the Drosophila IKKy Kenny is a target for LUBEL, suggesting that M1-linked ubiquitination in IKK complex regulation is conserved. Importantly, LUBEL-mediated M1 ubiquitination is required for the flies to mount an immune response to oral infection with Gram-negative bacteria and clearing out the pathogen. Finally, transgenic expression of the catalytic domain of LUBEL drives Relish-mediated activation of AMP genes in the absence of receptor stimulation and leads to intestinal inflammation in flies.

Results

M1-Ub chains are formed upon bacterial infection in Drosophila

M1-Ub chains have been shown to be induced by a plethora of inflammation and stress promoting stimuli [2, 5, 6, 8, 19, 34, 35] and to have an important function in preventing cell death and in the activation of the proinflammatory IKK complex in mammals [2, 5, 6, 19, 34]. However, their role in IKK regulation in non-mammalian species has not yet been studied. To investigate M1-Ub chains in flies, we used a recombinant (GST)-tagged UBD of IKKy or NF-kB essential modulator (NEMO) (GST-NEMO-UBAN), which is a high-affinity M1-Ub chain binder [10, 11], to pull down M1-Ub chains from whole fly lysates. We were able to detect only traces of M1-Ub chains in wild-type Canton^S flies under basal conditions. However, when inducing inflammation by septic injury (Fig. 1a) or oral feeding (Fig. 1b) with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15, an increase in M1-Ub chain formation was observed. In contrast, infection did not induce any changes in overall ubiquitin chain formation in flies (Fig. 1a, b). Interestingly, also starvation induced a transient M1-Ub chain formation (Fig. 1b, lane 2) that was lost after 2 h recovery without bacteria feeding (Fig. 1b, lane 3).

LUBEL (CG11321) was recently reported to be a homologue of the mammalian LUBAC component and E3 ligase HOIP [8]. The lubel gene gives rise to nine splicing variants of messenger RNA (mRNA) encoding for seven different translated isoforms. Among these, only four contain the catalytic RBR domain (Supplementary Fig. 1A). To study the role of LUBEL in formation of M1-Ub chains in flies, we used a Minos transposable element fly line *yw;Mi{ET1}LUBELMB00197*. These *lubel^{Mi}* flies carry a 7.5 kb insertion between the UBA1 and UBA2 in the lubel gene (Supplementary Fig. 1A). The Minos element disrupts gene transcription before the catalytic part of LUBEL, as mRNA transcripts of the N-terminal zincfinger (ZnF) domains of LUBEL can be detected, but mRNA transcripts including the C-terminal catalytic RBR region are not present in these transgenic flies (Supplementary Fig. 1B). Importantly, the M1-Ub chain formation induced upon infection in Canton^S flies was almost completely abolished in the *lubel^{Mi}* flies (Fig. 1a-c), indicating that the induced M1-Ub chains are formed by LUBEL. To confirm that the identified ubiquitin chains are M1-linked, GST-NEMO-UBAN-purified ubiquitin chains from fly lysates were treated with recombinant OTULIN. OTULIN treatment led to a complete removal of the M1-specific signal. In contrast, only a ladder of free ubiquitin chains was found after treating samples with



Fig. 2 LUBEL synthesises and CYLD breaks down M1-Ub chains. a Schematic comparison of the different domains of LUBEL encoded by the *lubel* (*CG11321*) gene and human HOIP. The indicated cysteine residue marks the ubiquitin acceptor site in RING2. The *lubel*^{Mf} fly line carries a 7.5 kb Minos transposable element (Mi element) inserted between UBA1 and UBA2 in the *lubel* gene, as indicated in the figure (B-box, ZnF and NZF: zinc fingers; UBA: ubiquitin-associated domain; R: RING, really interesting new gene; IBR: in-between-RING; RBR: RING-in-between-RING; LDD: linear ubiquitin chain determining domain; PUB: peptide *N*-glycanase/UBA-containing or UBX-containing protein). **b** Structural modelling of the catalytic inbetween-RING (CBR) consisting of RING2 and the LDD of LUBEL (Phyre2). The CBR of LUBEL (magenta) is modelled on human HOIP

vOTU (Fig. 1c), which cleaves all ubiquitin chain types except M1-Ub [36], and hence also the ubiquitin moieties through which the M1-Ub chains are linked to their substrates. As genes encoding for ubiquitin concatemers are present in the *Drosophila* genome, we also wanted to exclude that the M1-Ub chains detected upon infection were a result of enhanced ubiquitin gene expression. While there was no significant difference in ubiquitin-p5E mRNA expression in wild-type and *lubel* mutant flies, and as this ubiquitin mRNA expression was not significantly altered upon infection (Supplementary Fig. 1C), we conclude that the M1-Ub chains induced in *Drosophila* are synthesised de novo by LUBEL.

(green) associated with donor (white) and acceptor (light blue) ubiquitins (PDB: 4LJO). The catalytic cysteines are indicated in blue (LUBEL: C2704, HOIP: C885), the donor C-terminal glycines are shown in beige, while the acceptor M1 is shown in red. The lower panel is a zoom-in of the catalytic site in the upper panel. c *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, V5-tagged wild-type or catalytically inactive C2704A mutant LUBEL RBR-LDD and lysates were analysed by Western blotting using α -M1, α -K63, α -V5 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. d *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, V5-tagged wild-type LUBEL RBR-LDD and V5-tagged *Drosophila* CYLD and lysates were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -K63, α -V5 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3

LUBEL catalyses formation of M1-Ub chains in Drosophila cells

Like HOIP, LUBEL contains N-terminal ZnF domains, a ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domain and a C-terminal RBR (Fig. 2a) [2–7, 37]. In addition, a second UBA is localised immediately before the RBR. In mammals, HOIP interacts with both HOIL-1 and SHARPIN through ubiquitin-like domains, UBA domains and ZnF domains [2–7, 37]. Interestingly, no homologues of SHARPIN or HOIL-1 can be found in the *Drosophila* genome. Consisting of 2892 amino acids, the size of the *Drosophila* LUBEL is significantly larger than the 1072 amino acids large human



Fig. 3 Kenny is targeted with M1-Ub chains upon activation of Imd signalling. a *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, V5-tagged wild-type Kenny and V5-tagged wild-type RBR-LDD. M1-Ub chains were isolated from cell lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN. Ubiquitin chains from lysates and pulldown samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -V5, α -M1, α -K63 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 4. b *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, V5-tagged PGRP-LCx and HA-tagged Kenny. M1-Ub chains were

HOIP (Fig. 2a); however, no conserved motives have been found in the large connecting sequences between the mentioned domains.

The catalytic RBR domain in HOIP is responsible for positioning the proximal and distal ubiquitin into close vicinity of one another and for ligation of the moieties. The RBR consists of three ZnF structures, RING1, IBR (inbetween-RING) and RING2 with a linear ubiquitin chain determining region (LDD) (Fig. 2a, Supplementary Fig. 1A) [38, 39]. Structural modelling of the RING2 and the LDD together with M1-linked di-ubiquitin indicates that the catalytic pocket including the positioning of the catalytic cysteine of LUBEL is similar to the one in mammalian HOIP, referred to as the catalytic in-between-RING (CBR). Also, the positioning around the donor and acceptor ubiquitin moieties in the catalytic core of HOIP and LUBEL seems conserved (Fig. 2b). The RBR-LDD of LUBEL is able to form M1-Ub chains (Supplementary Fig. 2A), which are sensitive to in vitro treatment with the M1-specific DUB OTULIN, but not to treatment with the K48specific DUB otubain-1 (OTUB1) or the K63-specific DUB-associated molecule with the SH3 domain of STAM (AMSH) (Supplementary Fig. 2B). Furthermore,

isolated from cell lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -HA, α -V5 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. c *Drosophila* S2 cells were transfected with empty vector and HA-tagged Kenny, V5-tagged *Drosophila* CYLD and treated with 80 µg/ml LPS for 0.5 and 2 h. HA immunoprecipitations were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -HA, α -V5 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3

the RBR-LDD of LUBEL seems to specifically synthesise M1-Ub chains, as it cannot use N-terminally Histagged ubiquitin to build ubiquitin chains (Supplementary Fig. 2C, D).

To study whether the E3 ligase activity of RBR-LDD is able to induce M1-Ub chain formation in cells, we expressed wild-type LUBEL RBR-LDD and a catalytically inactive C2704A mutation in RING2 in Drosophila S2 cells. Importantly, the wild-type but not the C2704A mutant form of the LUBEL RBR-LDD was able to induce formation of M1-Ub chains (Fig. 2c), showing that the catalytic function of RING2 mediates M1-Ub chain assembly in fly cells. The Drosophila CYLD has been shown to interact with the LUBEL RBR-LDD and degrade M1-Ub chains in vitro [8]. To study whether Drosophila CYLD is able to cleave M1-Ub chains formed by LUBEL, we overexpressed CYLD in S2 cells. Indeed, CYLD co-expression removed all M1-Ub chains induced by overexpression of the LUBEL RBR-LDD (Fig. 2d), indicating that CYLD can regulate LUBEL-induced M1linked ubiquitination in Drosophila cells. In addition, overexpression of CYLD had a small effect on the amount of K63-Ub chain in S2 cells.



SPRINGER NATURE

◄ Fig. 4 Kenny is modified by mixed K63-Ub and M1-Ub chains. a Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with empty vector. HA-tagged Kenny and V5-tagged wild-type LUBEL RBR-LDD. HA immunoprecipitations were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were subjected to ubiquitin chain restriction (UbiCRest) with OTULIN and vOTU. Samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -K63 and α -HA antibodies, n = 2. **b** Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with DIAP2, His-tagged K63-only Ub and V5-tagged Kenny. His-Ub pulldowns were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -V5, α -DIAP2 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. c Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, DIAP2, V5-tagged wild-type or C2704A LUBEL RBR-LDD, and HA-tagged Kenny. HA immunoprecipitations were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α-M1, α-K63, α-V5, α -HA, α -DIAP2 and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3. **d** Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, HA-tagged Kenny and V5-tagged wild-type LUBEL RBR-LDD. M1-Ub chains were isolated from cell lysates with GST-NEMO-UBAN at denaturing conditions and the samples were subjected to UbiCRest with OTULIN and AMSH. Samples were analysed by Western blotting with α-M1 and α-HA antibodies, n = 3

The regulatory IKK Kenny is a target for M1-Ub chains

M1-Ub chains have been implicated to regulate NF-KB signalling via the regulatory IKK NEMO both via UBANmediated binding and by NEMO ubiquitination [5, 6, 40]. The Drosophila NEMO homologue Kenny is an important mediator of Imd signalling and Relish activation. To test whether Kenny is M1-ubiquitinated, we pulled down M1-Ub chains with recombinant GST-NEMO-UBAN from Drosophila S2 cell lysates made under denaturing conditions. Indeed, high-molecular weight smears of ubiquitinated Kenny were detected upon overexpression of LUBEL RBR-LDD (Fig. 3a). To test whether Kenny ubiquitination is signal-dependent, we induced the Imd pathway by overexpression of PGRP-LCx or by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment [41]. Kenny expression alone induced M1 ubiquitination of Kenny, and, importantly, the M1 ubiquitination of Kenny was increased upon activation of the Imd pathway via PGRP-LCx (Fig. 3b) or LPS (Fig. 3c). As we found Drosophila CYLD to break down M1-Ub chains formed by the RBR-LDD of LUBEL (Fig. 2d), and as CYLD has been shown to function as a DUB and to interact with Kenny in Drosophila S2 cells [42], we wanted to test how CYLD affects Kenny ubiquitination. Indeed, ectopic expression of CYLD completely abolished the overexpression-induced M1 ubiquitination of Kenny, suggesting that CYLD is able to remove M1-Ub chains from Kenny. Similarly, CYLD upregulation reduced the LPSinduced M1 ubiquitination of Kenny (Fig. 3c). Imd, which is related to the mammalian HOIP target RIPK1 [43], is a signalling protein shown to be targeted by K63-linked ubiquitination by DIAP2. However, we could not detect any RBR-LDD-mediated M1-linked ubiquitination of Imd (Supplementary Fig. 3).

Kenny is modified by mixed K63-Ub and M1-Ub chains

To further analyse the Ub chains recruited to Kenny, we pulled down HA-tagged Kenny from lysates made under denaturing conditions (Fig. 4a) and treated the samples with recombinant chain-specific DUBs. The M1-Ub-specific OTULIN cleaved all M1-Ub chains bound to Kenny (Fig. 4a, lanes 5 and 8), confirming that the chains attached to Kenny were M1-linked. A ladder of free M1-Ub chains was left after treatment with vOTU (Fig. 4a, lanes 6 and 9), which cleaves all except M1-Ub chains [36], and hence also the link to the substrate.

It has been shown that M1-Ub chains can be conjugated to K63-Ub chains to form mixed or branched chains [44], and the pattern of M1-Ub chains seen in fly lysates is changed upon treatment with vOTU (Fig. 1c, lanes 4 and 6), indicating that lysine-linked ubiquitin chains may affect M1 ubiquitination. To know if mixed ubiquitin chains may be associated with Kenny, we first tested if Kenny is subjected to K63 ubiquitination. For this purpose, we co-expressed Kenny with a His-tagged ubiquitin mutant in which all lysines except K63 were mutated to arginines (His-K63only Ub) and with DIAP2, which we previously showed catalyses K63-linked ubiquitination [27, 45]. Immunoprecipitations performed under denaturing conditions indeed showed that Kenny was modified by K63-linked ubiquitination with DIAP2, further increasing this modification (Fig. 4b). Importantly, we found DIAP2 not only to induce K63 ubiquitination of Kenny but also to boost M1 ubiquitination of Kenny (Fig. 4c). Furthermore, a reduction in Kenny M1 ubiquitination was detected, when the M1-Ub chains pulled down with GST-NEMO-UBAN were treated with the DUB AMSH, which specifically cleaves K63linked chains [36], indicating that Kenny is M1ubiquitinated both directly and indirectly on K63-Ub chains (Fig. 4d).

Molecular modelling of the UBANs of NEMO and Kenny indicates that the UBAN is structurally conserved throughout evolution (Fig. 5a), including the strong M1-Ubbinding surfaces formed by the amino acids F312, R316, R319 and E320 in human NEMO [46, 47]. Interestingly, expression of wild type Kenny, but not the ubiquitinbinding surface mutant forms of Kenny (F281A and R285A/R288A/E289A, corresponding to F312A and R316A/R319A/E320A) lead to accumulation of M1-Ub chains (Fig. 5b). These results indicate that in addition to being conjugated to M1-Ub chains, Kenny is associated with M1-Ub chains via its UBAN, which leads to ubiquitin chain stabilisation. M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in...

Fig. 5 Kenny UBAN binding stabilises M1-Ub chains. a Structural modelling of the UBAN of Kenny (Phyre2). The Kenny UBAN (yellow) is modelled on a di-Ub-bound dimer of human NEMO (pink), PDB: 2ZVN. Ubiquitin is shown in blue and the conserved F281, R285, R288 and E289 are indicated in white. The lower panel is a zoom-in of the catalytic site in the upper panel. b Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, V5-tagged wild type, F281A, R285A/R288A/E289A mutant Kenny and HA-tagged RBR-LDD. V5 immunoprecipitations were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -K63, α -V5, α -HA and α -Actin antibodies, n = 3



LUBEL is required for mounting an immune response upon oral infection with Gram-negative bacteria

As M1-Ub chain formation is induced upon infection in Drosophila, we wanted to study whether LUBEL is important for mounting an immune response against bacteria in flies. However, we did not detect any significant differences in the survival of Canton^S and lubel^{Mi} flies infected with Ecc15 by septic injury, whereas dredd^{L23} mutant flies, in which cleavage and activation of Relish is prohibited, succumbed upon septic infection (Fig. 6a). When analysing the infection-induced expression of Imd pathway-specific AMPs in *lubel^{Mi}* flies, only a slight, not significant reduction in expression of Drosocin was detected (Fig. 6b). Likewise, *lubel^{Mi}* flies tolerated septic infection with the Gram-positive bacteria Micrococcus luteus (M. luteus) and were able to upregulate expression of the Toll pathway-specific AMPs IM1 and Drosomycin equally well as the wild-type Canton^S flies (Supplementary Fig. 4A, B). However, when infecting flies orally, by feeding them with Ecc15, most lubel^{Mi} flies succumbed, whereas most wildtype *Canton^S* flies survived the bacterial feed (Fig. 6c). Importantly, the *Mi{MIC}LUBELM114859* mutant fly strain, with an insertion after the catalytic RBR-LDD region was not sensitive to oral infection (Supplementary Fig. 1A, 4C). Finally, a significant reduction in *Drosocin* expression could be detected after oral *Ecc15* infection in the *lubel^{Mi}* flies, correlating with their sensitivity (Fig. 6d). These results indicate that although M1-Ub chain formation is induced upon septic infection, it is not required for systemic activation of NF- κ B in the fat body, which is the organ responsive for activation of AMP expression in response to septic infection [48].

To study if M1-Ub chains are required for induction of Imd signalling and local expression of AMPs as a response to infection in the epithelia of the intestine, we examined the expression of *Diptericin* in the midgut of control and bacteria-fed flies using *Diptericin*-LacZ reporter flies. Importantly, the *Diptericin* expression was enhanced only in the intestines of control *Diptericin*-LacZ and not in *lubel* mutant *Diptericin*-LacZ flies (Fig. 6e). Intestinal inflammation is associated with midgut hyperplasia in *Drosophila* [49] and can be detected by staining the proliferation marker



phospho-histone H3. To analyse the role of LUBEL in infection-induced inflammation in the intestine, we counted phospho-histone H3-positive cells in the midguts in control flies and in flies fed with Ecc15. While an increase in cell proliferation could be detected upon oral infection in wild-type *Canton^S* flies, no such increase could be detected in

◄ Fig. 6 LUBEL is required for mounting an immune response upon oral infection with Gram-negative bacteria. a Adult wild-type Canton^S, dredd^{L23} and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were subjected to septic injury with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15 and their survival was monitored over time. Error bars indicate SEM from more than 10 independent experimental repeats using at least 20 flies per repeat. b Adult Canton^S, dredd^{L23} and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were infected by septic injury with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15. Relish activation was studied by analysing the expression of Drosocin with qPCR. Error bars indicate SEM from more than 10 independent experimental repeats using at least 10 flies per repeat. c Adult Canton^S, Rel^{E20} and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were infected by feeding with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15 and their survival was monitored over time. Error bars indicate SEM from three independent experimental repeats using at least 20 flies per repeat. d Adult Canton^S, dredd^{L23} and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were infected by feeding with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15. Canton⁵ flies fed with LB-sucrose were used as controls. Relish activation was studied by analysing the expression of Drosocin with qPCR. Error bars indicate SEM from three independent experimental repeats using at least 10 flies per repeat. e Adult female DaGal4, Dipt-lacZ and lubel^{Mi}; DaGal4, Dipt-lacZ mutant flies were infected by feeding with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15 for 8 h. Intestines were dissected and stained for β -galactosidase activity, n = 3. **f** Canton^S and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were infected by feeding with the Gram-negative bacteria Ecc15 for 24 h. Intestines were dissected and stained for phosphohistone H3. All phospho-histone H3-positive cells in midguts prepared and stained were counted for statistics, error bars indicate SEM from four independent experimental repeats and the number of intestines analysed are indicated in brackets. \mathbf{g} Canton^S and lubel^{Mi} mutant flies were infected by feeding with ampicillin-resistant E. coli for 24 h and the bacterial load was assessed by counting colony-forming units (CFU); error bars indicate SEM from three independent experimental repeats. ns nonsignificant, nonsignificant, * p< 0.05, ** p< 0.01, *** p< 0.001

lubel^{Mi} flies (Fig. 6f). This suggests that LUBEL is required for infection-induced inflammation in the *Drosophila* gut. To finally test the requirement of LUBEL in clearing ingested food-borne pathogens, we fed wild-type *Canton^S* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies with ampicillin-resistant *Escherichia coli*. After feeding, we plated homogenised flies on ampicillin-containing agar plates and counted colonies. Interestingly, the amount of colony-forming bacteria was significantly higher in the *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies than in wildtype flies, suggesting that LUBEL is required for clearing pathogens from the ingested food (Fig. 6g).

RBR-LDD-induced M1 chain formation drives NF-κB activation in flies

To investigate the role of M1-Ub chains in vivo, we generated transgenic flies to express wild-type and catalytically inactive RBR-LDD under the control of the UAS-Gal4 system. The transgenes were successfully incorporated in the genome and ubiquitous expression was driven by DaGal4 (Fig. 7a). To test the effect of M1-Ub chains on activation of Relish target genes induced via the Imd pathway, we studied the expression of *AttacinA*, *Diptericin* and *Drosocin*. Interestingly, all these inflammatory AMP genes were induced in the absence of infection in flies expressing wild-type RBR-LDD (Fig. 7b).

As M1-Ub chain formation was induced upon oral infection and required for immune responses (Figs. 1b, 6c-g), we wanted to study the consequences of the LUBELinduced AMP expression in intestinal inflammatory signalling. To determine whether induction of M1-Ub chain formation by transgenic expression of RBR-LDD affected inflammatory signalling in the intestine, we examined the expression of Diptericin in the midgut of control and RBR-LDD-expressing flies using the Diptericin-LacZ reporter. Interestingly, Diptericin expression in the intestine was enhanced by wild-type RBR-LDD (Fig. 7c). Importantly, also the amount of phospho-histone H3-positive proliferating cells in the midguts of flies expressing wild-type RBR-LDD was significantly increased compared to control flies and flies expressing the catalytically inactive RBR-LDD-C >A (Fig. 7d, e), suggesting that constitutive LUBEL activity drives Relish-mediated chronic intestinal inflammation in flies.

Discussion

Both K63-linked and M1-linked ubiquitination have been described to have important roles in regulation of mammalian NF- κ B signalling [2, 5, 6, 19, 34, 35] and the role for K63-linked ubiquitination in the Drosophila Imd pathway is well established [26-28]. Here, we show that the Drosophila ubiquitin E3 ligase LUBEL induces M1-linked ubiquitination upon activation of the Imd pathway. Our results indicate that the IKK Kenny, which is required for activation of Relish, is a target of M1-linked ubiquitination. In addition to being directly modified by M1-linked ubiquitination, K63-Ub chains conjugated to Kenny by DIAP2 seem to be modified by M1-linked ubiquitination, forming K63-M1-linked mixed heterotypic chains. Interestingly, the stability of M1-Ub chains depends on binding to the UBAN of Kenny, as no M1-Ub chains can be detected upon expression of Kenny UBAN mutants.

We also found the *Drosophila* CYLD to induce degradation of M1-Ub chains. In mammals, OTULIN and CYLD have been shown to cleave M1-Ub chains [10–15], and the M1-Ub chain-antagonising activity of CYLD seems to be particularly important in NF- κ B activating signalling complexes [50]. As no OTULIN homologue has been found in the *Drosophila* genome, CYLD may have an important role in degrading M1-Ub chains in the fly. However, as we show here and as previously described [8, 13–15], both mammalian and *Drosophila* CYLD are able to degrade also K63-Ub chains. Hence, we cannot exclude that the loss of M1-Ub chains due to CYLD activity is a consequence of degradation of the K63-Ub chains to which M1-Ub



Fig. 7 KBK-LDD-induced with chain formation unives NF-KB actration in flies. Transgenic expression of wild-type or C2704A RBR-LDD was induced via the UAS-Gal4 system using the ubiquitous DaGal4 driver. **a** mRNA expression was analysed by PCR of cDNA. Fly lines: wild-type *Canton^{\$}*, *DaGal4/TM6*, *UAS-RBR-LDD^{WT}/ DaGal4*, *UAS-RBR-LDD^{C>A}/DaGal4*, *n* = 3. **b** Basal Relish activation was studied by analysing the expression of the AMPs *AttacinA*, *Drosocin* and *Diptericin* with qPCR. Error bars indicate SEM from three independent experimental repeats using at least 10 flies per repeat. Fly lines: control *DaGal4/TM6*, *UAS-RBR-LDD^{WT}/DaGal4*, *UAS-RBR-LDD^{C>A}/DaGal4*. **c** Transgenic expression of wild-type RBR-LDD was induced via the UAS-Gal4 system using the

chains are coupled. The association between LUBEL and CYLD may also not be conserved, as no PUB (peptide *N*-glycanase/UBA-containing or UBX-containing protein) domain responsible for DUB binding is found in LUBEL. Interestingly, CYLD has been shown to be able to bind directly to the RBR-LDD of LUBEL in vitro [8]. However, in vivo the connection may also be indirectly mediated via a connecting protein such as Tamo, which is a homologue of the mammalian HOIP-CYLD connector Spata2 [51–54].

ubiquitous *DaGal4,Dipt-lacZ* driver. Intestines from adult female *DaGal4,Dipt-lacZ* driver flies and *DaGal4,Dipt-lacZ/UAS-RBR-LDD* flies expressing wild-type RBR-LDD were dissected and stained for β -galactosidase activity, n = 3. **d** Intestines from adult DaGal4 driver flies and flies expressing wild-type or C2704A RBR-LDD flies were dissected and stained for phospho-histone H3 (red) and DAPI (white). The phospho-histone H3-positive cells are marked with arrows. **e** All phospho-histone H3-positive cells in midguts prepared and stained were counted for statistics, error bars indicate SEM from at least three independent experimental repeats and the number of intestines analysed are indicated in brackets. ns nonsignificant, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001

Interestingly, LUBEL-mediated M1 ubiquitination is required for mounting an immune response upon oral infection, but not upon septic injury. Septic injury induces a systemic inflammation requiring activation of AMP expression and release from the fat body, whereas pathogen feeding induces a local inflammatory expression and release of AMPs from the intestinal epithelial cells [48]. While both the Imd and Toll pathways are able to induce Relishmediated and Dif-mediated expression of AMP genes in the fat body of flies during systemic infection, only the Imd

pathway has been found to function in the intestinal epithelia [55]. Heterodimers of the NF-kB transcription factors Dif and Relish can activate AMP expression upon activation of both the Toll and Imd pathways, but with different specificity for different genes [43, 56]. Thus, it is possible that Dif-Relish heterodimers are activated upon systemic infection in the fat body also in the absence of M1-Ub chain formation, inducing the resistance to systemic infection with Gram-negative bacteria independently of M1-Ub chains. As we found Kenny to be strongly modified with K63-linked ubiquitin chains by DIAP2, it is also possible that the DIAP2-induced K63-linked ubiquitination is sufficient for activation of both Dredd and Relish in response to septic infection. Intriguingly, we found that transgenic expression of the RBR-LDD of LUBEL is able to induce M1-Ub chain formation and activation of Relish target genes, including AttacinA, Drosocin and Diptericin in the absence of infection, indicating that M1-Ub chains may be used for Relish activation. Furthermore, transgenic induction of LUBELmediated M1-Ub chain formation in the absence of infection induced both Diptericin expression and intestinal stem cell proliferation in the midgut of Drosophila, suggesting that M1-Ub chains may be linked to chronic intestinal inflammation.

Both K63-linked and M1-linked ubiquitination have been described to have important roles in regulation of inflammatory NF-κB signalling mediated via the mammalian TNFR1 and NOD2 signalling pathways [2, 5, 6, 19, 34, 35, 50, 57]. While LUBAC activates these canonical NF-KB pathways by M1-linked ubiquitination of NEMO, RIPK1, TRADD, TNFR1 and RIPK2, IAPs regulate the same signalling molecules by K63-linked ubiquitination [2, 5, 6, 35, 50, 57-59]. The similarities in the mammalian TNFR1 and NOD2 and the Drosophila Imd pathways include many conserved signalling mediators. IAP-mediated K63-Ub chain formation is already established in both mammalian and fly pathways [19, 26-28]. We have now found that also M1-Ub chain formation is induced upon activation of the Imd pathway and, importantly, that this is required for mounting an immune response against Gram-negative bacteria. In addition to the E3 ligases and DUBs regulating ubiquitination, also some of the targets for K63- and M1 ubiquitination seem to be conserved through evolution, making Drosophila a convenient organism to study the general principles of ubiquitin-mediated regulation of inflammatory signalling.

To be able to control unwanted inflammation that may cause diseases such as chronic inflammation and cancer, flexible but precise mechanisms are required to tune inflammatory signals in cells. As we show that uncontrolled induction of M1-linked ubiquitination drives intestinal inflammation in *Drosophila*, it would be important to further investigate whether ubiquitin modifications can be used as molecular switches to therapeutically target inflammatory signalling in chronic inflammation and cancer in the intestine. Hence, this critical knowledge of ubiquitin regulation in inflammation may open up possibilities for discovery of new drug targets and diagnostic markers.

Materials and methods

Fly husbandry and strains

Drosophila melanogaster were maintained at 25 °C with a 12 h light-dark cycle on Nutri-fly BF (Dutscher Scientific). Canton^S wild-type flies, DaGal4 driver lines, DaGal4, Dipt-LacZ reporter lines, and balancer lines, as well as dredd^{L23} and *spätzle^{RM7}* mutant flies were kindly provided by Prof. Pascal Meier [60, 61]. The Drosophila fly lines w:Rel^{E20} (stock #9457), yw;Mi/ET1 }LUBELMB00197 (stock #22725 referred to as *lubel^{Mi}*) and *Mi{MIC}LUBELMI14859* (stock #59639 referred to as lubel^{MiMic}) were obtained from Bloomington stock centre. Fly egg injection for generation of LUBEL RBR-LDD transgenic flies was done by Bestgene Inc. UAS-RBR-LDD^{WT} and UAS-RBR-LDD^{C>A} were both introduced to the landing site line #24749, and expression of the transgenes was verified by PCR on cDNA using Q5 High-Fidelity Polymerase Kit (NEB) according to the manufacturer's instructions (primers: 5'-CCTAACC CTCTCCTCGGTCT and 5'-CACATTCTGCTCCTTCA GCA).

Bacterial strains, infection and survival experiments

The Gram-negative bacteria Erwinia carotovora carotovora 15 (Ecc15) and Gram-positive bacteria Micrococcus luteus (M. luteus) were kindly provided by Dr. François Leulier and the E. coli Top10 strain was purchased from Thermo-Fisher Scientific. The bacteria were cultivated in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium at 29 °C for 16-18 h on agitation and concentrated (optical density of 0.2). Septic injuries were performed by pricking 2-4-day-old adult flies in the lateral thorax with a thin needle previously dipped in a concentrated solution of Ecc15 or M. luteus. For isolation of M1-Ub chains, 40 flies were incubated for 1 h after the septic injury, and for quantitative PCR (qPCR), 10 flies were incubated for 5 h at 25 °C. Oral feeding was performed by first starving adult flies for 2 h at 25 °C and thereafter feeding them with a 1:1 solution of bacteria and 5% sucrose. For isolation of M1-Ub chains, 40 flies were incubated for 8 h, and for qPCR, 10 flies were incubated for 8 h at 25 °C. For survival assays, 20 flies were counted at indicated time points after infection. Infection experiments were excluded if more than 25% of the negative control strains survived bacterial infection or if AMP gene expression was significantly enhanced in these flies. In these cases, the bacterial potency was considered too low. Survival experiments, in which wild-type flies survived to a less extent than 75%, were also excluded. These criteria were pre-established.

Cell culture and transfection of Drosophila S2 cells

Drosophila Schneider S2 cells (Invitrogen) were grown at 25 °C using Schneider medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% L-glutamine and 0.5% penicillin/ streptomycin. S2 cells were transfected with indicated constructs using Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Fifty percent confluent 10 cm plates were used to prepare lysates for immunoprecipitations and GST-pulldown assays, and 6-well plates were used for lysates for Western blot analysis. Expression of pMT plasmids was induced with 500 μ M CuSO₄ for 16 h before lysis. LPS (Sigma) was used at 80 μ g/ml for the indicated times and 1 μ M of 20-hydroxyecdysone (Sigma) was added 24 h prior to LPS treatment.

Plasmids and antibodies

Plasmids pMT/Flag-His, pMT/HA-Flag, pMT-V5-Kenny-V5, pAc-DIAP2, pMT-dCYLD-V5-His and pMT-PGRP-LCx-V5-His were kindly provided by Prof. Pascal Meier. Kenny-HA was subcloned from pMT-V5-Kenny-V5. Synthetic codon-optimised LUBEL RBR-LDD (GeneScript) was subcloned into pMT for expression in cells, pGEX for in vitro expression and pUAS-attB for PhiC31-mediated integration in the genome [62]. Site-directed mutagenesis to make Kenny F281A and R285A/R288A/E289A mutants and LUBEL RBR-LDD C2704A mutants was performed using QuikChange Lightning Site-directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent Technologies). GST-NEMO-UBAN [10, 11] was provided by Dr. Mads Gyrd-Hansen. The following antibodies were used: α-M1 (clone IE3, #MABS199, Millipore or LUB9 #AB130, Lifesensor), α-K63 (clone Apu3, #05-1308, Millipore), α-Ub (clone Ubi-1, #NB300-130, Novus or clone FK2, #BML-PW8810-0100, Enzo), α-DIAP2 [63], α-GST (#27-4577-50, GE Healthcare), α-HA (clone 3F10, #11867423001, Roche), α-V5 (Clone SV5-Pk1, #MCA1360, Bio-Rad), α-phospho-histone H3 (Ser10, #9701, Cell Signalling Technology) and α-Actin (C-11, sc-1615, Santa Cruz).

Purification of GST-fusion proteins

Expression of GST-RBR-LDD was induced in *E. coli* BL21 by the addition of 0.1 mM isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) (o/n culture at 18 °C) in LB medium containing 50 μ M ZnCl₂. Bacteria were lysed by sonication in lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8), 100 mM NaCl, 50 µM ZnCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and protease inhibitor Complete, EDTA-free (Roche). The lysate was incubated with Glutathione SepharoseTM 4B (GE Healthcare) for 2 h. Beads were washed in wash buffer containing 20 mM Tris (pH 8), 100 mM NaCl, 50 μM ZnCl_2, 1 mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100. Elution of GST-RBR-LDD was performed in wash buffer without Triton X-100 containing 20 mM glutathione. The proteins were concentrated from the eluate using Amicon® Ultra-4 30K centrifugal filter devices (Merck Millipore). Glutathione was removed from the concentrated samples using ZebaTM spin desalting columns (Thermo Scientific). GST-NEMO-UBAN expression was induced in E. coli BL21 by the addition of 0.2 mM IPTG to an overnight culture of bacteria in LB medium at 18 °C. Bacteria were lysed by sonication in lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM DTT, 0.5 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and 0.2 mg/ml lysozyme. The lysate was added to a column with Glutathione SepharoseTM 4B (GE Healthcare) and then washed with wash buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5) and 150 mM NaCl. GST-NEMO-UBAN was eluted in 50 mM Tris (pH 8.5), 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 3 mM DTT and 50 mM glutathione. The proteins were concentrated from the eluate using Amicon® Ultra-4 30K centrifugal filter devices (Merck Millipore).

In vitro ubiquitination assays

Ubiquitination reactions were carried out as described [38]. Samples contained 15 μ M ubiquitin, 10 mM ATP, 0.1 μ M hUBE1 (Boston Biochem), 0.6 μ M UbcD1 [64], 1 μ M wild-type or mutant GST-RBR-LDD fragment or GST in a buffer of 20 mM HEPES/HC1 (pH 8), 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM MgCl₂ and 0.5 mM DTT. The reaction was incubated at 25 °C overnight. Sample separation was performed on NuPAGE Novex 4–12% Bis-Tris protein gels (Life Technologies) in 2-(*N*-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES) buffer or TruPAGE 4–20% gels (Sigma-Aldrich) in TEA-Tricine sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) running buffer.

Purification of linear ubiquitin conjugates from flies and cells

M1-Ub conjugates were purified using a recombinant protein containing the UBAN region of NEMO (residues 257–346) fused to GST (GST-NEMO-UBAN) [10, 11]. Forty flies or one 10 cm confluent plate of cells were lysed using a buffer containing 20 mM NaH₂PO₄, 1% NP-40, 2 mM EDTA supplemented with 1 mM DTT, 5 mM *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM), PierceTM Protease Inhibitor, Phos-STOP, 5 mM chloroacetamide and 1% SDS. Lysates were sonicated, diluted to 0.1% SDS and cleared before incubation with Glutathione Sepharose[™] 4B (GE Healthcare) and GST-NEMO-UBAN (30–100 mg/ml) for a minimum of 2 h under rotation at 4 °C. The beads were washed three times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline-Tween-20 (PBS-Tween-20) (0.1%) and eluted using Laemmli sample buffer.

Ubiquitin chain restriction analysis

Deubiquitination of in vitro reactions were carried out with 1 µM of GST, 5 µM activated GST-OTULIN (Ubiquigent), GST-OTUB1 (Ubiquigent) or GST-AMSH (Ubiquigent) in a buffer of 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 50 mM NaCl and 5 mM DTT for 30 min at 37 °C. For activation, the cysteine protease DUBs were incubated in a buffer of 25 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl and 10 mM DTT for 15 min at room temperature [36]. Samples were separated on NuPAGE Novex 4-12% Bis-Tris protein gels (Life Technologies) in MES buffer. For deubiquitination of the GST-NEMO-UBAN-purified ubiquitin chains from pulldowns from fly lysates and S2 cell lysates, the washed beads were resuspended in 25 µl DUB buffer containing 25 mM HEPES (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl and 2 mM DTT. One micromole of recombinant OTULIN, vOTU or AMSH was added to the respective samples and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C. Lithium dodecyl sulfate sample buffer was added and samples were heated at 70 °C for 10 min.

His-ubiquitin pulldowns

S2 cells were lysed in a buffer containing 6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8), 5 mM imidazole and 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol (β -ME). The lysates were incubated with Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen) at 4 °C overnight. The beads were washed once with a buffer containing 6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8) and 10 mM β -ME, and twice with a buffer containing 8 M urea, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.01 M Tris-HCl (pH 8), 10 mM β -ME and 0.1% Triton X-100. His-Ub-conjugated proteins were eluted using a buffer containing 200 mM imidazole, 0.15 M Tris (pH 6.7), 30% glycerol, 0.72 M β -ME and 5% SDS.

HA and V5 immunoprecipitations

S2 cells were lysed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 10% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 5 mM NEM, 5 mM chloroacetamide and Pierce[™] Protease Inhibitor and cleared at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. For denaturing conditions, lysates were sonicated after adding SDS to a final concentration of 1%. After sonication the lysates were diluted to 0.1% SDS before clearing. For

immunoprecipitation, samples were incubated in α -HA or α -V5 agarose beads (Sigma) for 2 h. The beads were washed three times in a buffer containing 10 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Triton X-100 and 5% glycerol. HA-conjugated or V5-conjugated proteins were eluted using Laemmli sample buffer.

Quantitative RT-PCR

Drosophila S2 cells or adult flies were homogenised using QIAshredder (Qiagen) and total RNA was extracted with RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA was synthesised with iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's protocol. qPCR was performed using Kapa SYBR Fast ABI Prism qPCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems). rp49 was used as a housekeeping gene for $\Delta\Delta Ct$ calculations. The following gene-specific primers were used to amplify cDNA: AttacinA (5'-ATGCTCGTTTGGATCTGACC, 5'-GACCTTGGCAT CCAGATTGT), Diptericin (5'-ACCGCAGTACCCACT CAATC, 5'-ACTTTCCAGCTCGGTTCTGA), Drosocin (5'-CGTTTTCCTGCTGCTTGC, 5'-GGCAGCTTGAGT CAGGTGAT), IM1 (5'-GTTTTTGTGCTCGGTCTGCT, 5'-CACCGTGGACATTGCACA), Drosomycin (5'-CGTG AGAACCTTTTCCAATATGATG, 5'-TCCCAGGACCA CCAGCAT), RBR-LDD (5'-CGGAACCCATGCAGATC AAG, 5'-CGCAGTCCGTCAGATCAAAG), ZnF (5'-TGC TCCATATGCTGCAAGAC, 5'-CGGATTTCTGACTGG GTTGT), Ub (5'-AGGAGTCGACCCTTCACTTG, 5'-CG AAGATCAAACGCTGCTGA), and rp49 (5'-GACGCTT CAAGGGACAGTATCTG, 5'-AAACGCGGTTCTGCAT GAG).

Immunofluorescence of Drosophila intestines

Intestines from female adult flies were dissected in PBS and fixed for 10 min in 4% paraformaldehyde. Samples were permeabilised with PBS-0.1% Triton X-100 for 1 h at room temperature, washed with PBS and incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibody rabbit anti-phospho-Histone H3 1:1000 (S10, Cell Signalling Technology) and 2 h at room temperature with secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG 1:600 (#A21206, Invitrogen). Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in PBS and 0.1% bovine serum albumin. DNA was stained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) (Invitrogen). After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted using Mowiol (Sigma). Imaging was performed with a spinning disk confocal microscope (Zeiss Axiovert-200M microscope, Yokogawa CSU22 spinning disk confocal unit) using ×20 objectives. The acquisition and processing software was 3i SlideBook6 and image processing was done with Image J.

X-gal staining of Drosophila intestines

Intestines from female adult flies were dissected in PBS and fixed for 15 min with PBS containing 0.4% glutaraldehyde and 1 mM MgCl₂. The samples were washed with PBS and incubated with a freshly prepared staining solution containing 5 mg/ml X-gal, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide trihydrate, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide crystalline and 2 mg/ml MgCl₂ in PBS at 37 °C. After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted using Mowiol (Sigma) and imaged with brightfield microscopy (Leica).

Bacterial colony count

Escherichia coli was transformed with pMT/Flag-His and cultivated in LB medium at 37 °C for 16–18 h on agitation and concentrated by centrifugation (optical density of 0.150). After a 2 h starvation, female adult flies were fed for 24 h with a 1:1 solution of transformed *E. coli* in 5% sucrose at 25 °C. Two flies were cleaned with ethanol and distilled H₂O, and homogenised in 150 µl PBS. The sample was cleared at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and cleared samples were diluted 1:100 and plated on LB agar plates containing 50 µg/ml ampicillin. Colonies were counted 24 h after plating.

Structural modelling

The 3D structure of the Kenny UBAN and the LUBEL CBR was modelled with Phyre2 [65]. Molecular graphics and analyses were performed with PyMol or the UCSF Chimera package [66] using the indicated templates.

Statistical analysis

Results from survival assays were analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and results from AMP analysis with qPCR by one-way ANOVA, both with Bonferroni's post test for 95% confidence interval. In comparison to normalised control values and in analyses of qPCR results and in colony counts, one-sample *t* tests were applied if less than three genotypes were analysed. In figures, ns stands for p > 0.05, * for p < 0.05, ** for p < 0.01, *** for p < 0.001 and **** for p < 0.0001. Error bars in figures specify SEM from the indicated number of independent experiments. The experiments were repeated at least three times. With smaller differences in detection, more repeats were done.

Acknowledgements We thank Mads Gyrd Hansen for the GST-NEMO-UBAN construct and Meraj Hasan Khan and Jeroen Pouwels for technical assistance with production of recombinant GST-NEMO-UBAN, Pascal Meier and Francois Leulier for fly strains, plasmids and bacterial strains as mentioned. Pasi Kankaanpää is acknowledged for assistance with image analysis, and Binu Lechharbo and Oliver Saxén are acknowledged for technical assistance. The Academy of Finland (#275570, #283524, #312557), the Sigrid Juselius Foundation, the Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation and Turku Doctoral Network in Molecular Biosciences are acknowledged for financial support.

Author contributions: ALA and AKM contributed equally to the design and execution of most of the experiments, data analysis and writing of the manuscript. SK planned and performed deubiquitination assays on fly and cell samples, LS performed all in vitro ubiquitination fluorescence stainings. MB, HW and AM contributed to the design of the experiments, writing and data analysis of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Hershko A, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem. 1998;67:425–79.
- Haas TL, Emmerich CH, Gerlach B, Schmukle AC, Cordier SM, Rieser E, et al. Recruitment of the linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex stabilizes the TNFR1 signaling complex and is required for TNF-mediated gene induction. Mol Cell. 2009;36:831–44.
- Ikeda F, Deribe YL, Skanland SS, Stieglitz B, Grabbe C, Franz-Wachtel M, et al. SHARPIN forms a linear ubiquitin ligase complex regulating NF-kappaB activity and apoptosis. Nature. 2011;471:637–41.
- Kirisako T, Kamei K, Murata S, Kato M, Fukumoto H, Kanie M, et al. A ubiquitin ligase complex assembles linear polyubiquitin chains. EMBO J. 2006;25:4877–87.
- Gerlach B, Cordier SM, Schmukle AC, Emmerich CH, Rieser E, Haas TL, et al. Linear ubiquitination prevents inflammation and regulates immune signalling. Nature. 2011;471:591–6.
- Tokunaga F, Sakata S, Saeki Y, Satomi Y, Kirisako T, Kamei K, et al. Involvement of linear polyubiquitylation of NEMO in NFkappaB activation. Nat Cell Biol. 2009;11:123–32.
- Tokunaga F, Nakagawa T, Nakahara M, Saeki Y, Taniguchi M, Sakata S, et al. SHARPIN is a component of the NF-kappaBactivating linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex. Nature. 2011;471:633–6.
- Asaoka T, Almagro J, Ehrhardt C, Tsai I, Schleiffer A, Deszcz L, et al. Linear ubiquitination by LUBEL has a role in Drosophila heat stress response. EMBO Rep. 2016;17:1624–40.
- Sahtoe DD, Sixma TK. Layers of DUB regulation. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015;40:456–67.
- Fiil BK, Damgaard RB, Wagner SA, Keusekotten K, Fritsch M, Bekker-Jensen S, et al. OTULIN restricts Met1-linked ubiquitination to control innate immune signaling. Mol Cell. 2013;50:818–30.

- Keusekotten K, Elliott PR, Glockner L, Fiil BK, Damgaard RB, Kulathu Y, et al. OTULIN antagonizes LUBAC signaling by specifically hydrolyzing Met1-linked polyubiquitin. Cell. 2013;153:1312–26.
- Mevissen TET, Hospenthal MK, Geurink PP, Elliott PR, Akutsu M, Arnaudo N, et al. OTU deubiquitinases reveal mechanisms of linkage specificity and enable ubiquitin chain restriction analysis. Cell. 2013;154:169–84.
- Komander D, Reyes-Turcu F, Licchesi JDF, Odenwaelder P, Wilkinson KD, Barford D. Molecular discrimination of structurally equivalent Lys63-linked and linear polyubiquitin chains. EMBO Rep. 2009;10:466–73.
- Ritorto MS, Ewan R, Perez-Oliva AB, Knebel A, Buhrlage SJ, Wightman M, et al. Screening of DUB activity and specificity by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4763.
- Hrdinka M, Fiil BK, Zucca M, Leske D, Bagola K, Yabal M, et al. CYLD limits Lys63- and Met1-linked ubiquitin at receptor complexes to regulate innate immune signaling. Cell Rep. 2016;14:2846–58.
- Kulathu Y, Komander D. Atypical ubiquitylation—the unexplored world of polyubiquitin beyond Lys48 and Lys63 linkages. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13:508–23.
- Ehlinger A, Walters KJ. Structural insights into proteasome activation by the 19S regulatory particle. Biochemistry. 2013;52:3618–28.
- Fiil BK, Gyrd-Hansen M. Met1-linked ubiquitination in immune signalling. FEBS J. 2014;281:4337–50.
- Shimizu Y, Taraborrelli L, Walczak H. Linear ubiquitination in immunity. Immunol Rev. 2015;266:190–207.
- Xu M, Skaug B, Zeng W, Chen ZJ. A ubiquitin replacement strategy in human cells reveals distinct mechanisms of IKK activation by TNFα and IL-1β. Mol Cell. 2009;36:302–14.
- Ea C-K, Deng L, Xia Z-P, Pineda G, Chen ZJ. Activation of IKK by TNFalpha requires site-specific ubiquitination of RIP1 and polyubiquitin binding by NEMO. Mol Cell. 2006;22:245–57.
- Atreya I, Atreya R, Neurath MF. NF-kappaB in inflammatory bowel disease. J Intern Med. 2008;263:591–6.
- Viennois E, Chen F, Merlin D. NF-κB pathway in colitisassociated cancers. Transl Gastrointest Cancer. 2013;2:21–29.
- Schmukle AC, Walczak H. No one can whistle a symphony alone —how different ubiquitin linkages cooperate to orchestrate NFkappaB activity. J Cell Sci. 2012;125:549–59.
- Ferrandon D, Imler JL, Hetru C, Hoffmann JA. The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:862–74.
- Paquette N, Broemer M, Aggarwal K, Chen L, Husson M, Ertürk-Hasdemir D, et al. Caspase-mediated cleavage, IAP binding, and ubiquitination: linking three mechanisms crucial for Drosophila NF-kappaB signaling. Mol Cell. 2010;37:172–82.
- Meinander A, Runchel C, Tenev T, Chen L, Kim C-HH, Ribeiro PS, et al. Ubiquitylation of the initiator caspase DREDD is required for innate immune signalling. EMBO J. 2012;31:2770–83.
- Zhou R, Silverman N, Hong M, Liao DS, Chung Y, Chen ZJ, et al. The role of ubiquitination in Drosophila innate immunity. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:34048–55.
- Leulier F, Parquet C, Pili-Floury S, Ryu J-H, Caroff M, Lee W-J, et al. The Drosophila immune system detects bacteria through specific peptidoglycan recognition. Nat Immunol. 2003;4:478–84.
- Choe KM, Werner T, Stoven S, Hultmark D, Anderson KV. Requirement for a peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) in Relish activation and antibacterial immune responses in Drosophila. Science. 2002;296:359–62.
- Gottar M, Gobert V, Michel T, Belvin M, Duyk G, Hoffmann JA, et al. The Drosophila immune response against Gram-negative bacteria is mediated by a peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature. 2002;416:640–4.

- Choe KM, Lee H, Anderson KV. Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein LC (PGRP-LC) acts as a signal-transducing innate immune receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005;102:1122-6.
- Stoven S, Silverman N, Junell A, Hedengren-Olcott M, Erturk D, Engstrom Y, et al. Caspase-mediated processing of the Drosophila NF-kappaB factor Relish. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003;100:5991–6.
- Damgaard RB, Nachbur U, Yabal M, Wong WW-L, Fiil BK, Kastirr M, et al. The ubiquitin ligase XIAP recruits LUBAC for NOD2 signaling in inflammation and innate immunity. Mol Cell. 2012;46:746–58.
- Corn JE, Vucic D. Ubiquitin in inflammation: the right linkage makes all the difference. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2014;21:297–300.
- Hospenthal MK, Mevissen TET, Komander D. Deubiquitinasebased analysis of ubiquitin chain architecture using ubiquitin chain restriction (UbiCRest). Nat Protoc. 2015;10:349–61.
- Lechtenberg BC, Rajput A, Sanishvili R, Dobaczewska MK, Ware CF, Mace PD, et al. Structure of a HOIP/E2~ubiquitin complex reveals RBR E3 ligase mechanism and regulation. Nature. 2016;529:546–50.
- Smit JJ, Monteferrario D, Noordermeer SM, van Dijk WJ, van der Reijden BA, Sixma TK. The E3 ligase HOIP specifies linear ubiquitin chain assembly through its RING-IBR-RING domain and the unique LDD extension. EMBO J. 2012;31:3833–44.
- Stieglitz B, Morris-Davies AC, Koliopoulos MG, Christodoulou E, Rittinger K. LUBAC synthesizes linear ubiquitin chains via a thioester intermediate. EMBO Rep. 2012;13:840–6.
- Rahighi S, Ikeda F, Kawasaki M, Akutsu M, Suzuki N, Kato R, et al. Specific recognition of linear ubiquitin chains by NEMO is important for NF-kappaB activation. Cell. 2009;136:1098–109.
- Charroux B, Rival T, Narbonne-Reveau K, Royet J. Bacterial detection by Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition proteins. Microbes Infect. 2009;11:631–6.
- Tsichritzis T, Gaentzsch PC, Kosmidis S, Brown AE, Skoulakis EM, Ligoxygakis P, et al. A Drosophila ortholog of the human cylindromatosis tumor suppressor gene regulates triglyceride content and antibacterial defense. Development. 2007;134: 2605–14.
- Tanji T, Hu X, Weber ANR, Ip YT. Toll and IMD pathways synergistically activate an innate immune response in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27:4578–88.
- Emmerich CH, Ordureau A, Strickson S, Arthur JSC, Pedrioli PGA, Komander D, et al. Activation of the canonical IKK complex by K63/M1-linked hybrid ubiquitin chains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2013;110:15247–52.
- 45. Gyrd-Hansen M, Darding M, Miasari M, Santoro MM, Zender L, Xue W, et al. IAPs contain an evolutionarily conserved ubiquitinbinding domain that regulates NF-kappaB as well as cell survival and oncogenesis. Nat Cell Biol. 2008;10:1309–17.
- Gautheron J, Courtois G. 'Without Ub I am nothing': NEMO as a multifunctional player in ubiquitin-mediated control of NFkappaB activation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2010;67:3101–13.
- Lo YC, Lin SC, Rospigliosi CC, Conze DB, Wu CJ, Ashwell JD, et al. Structural basis for recognition of diubiquitins by NEMO. Mol Cell. 2009;33:602–15.
- Charroux B, Royet J. Drosophila immune response: from systemic antimicrobial peptide production in fat body cells to local defense in the intestinal tract. Fly (Austin). 2010;4:40–47.
- Amcheslavsky A, Jiang J, Ip YT. Tissue damage-induced intestinal stem cell division in Drosophila. Cell Stem Cell. 2009;4:49–61.
- Draber P, Kupka S, Reichert M, Draberova H, Lafont E, de Miguel D, et al. LUBAC-recruited CYLD and A20 regulate gene activation and cell death by exerting opposing effects on linear ubiquitin in signaling complexes. Cell Rep. 2015;13:2258–72.

- Elliott PR, Leske D, Hrdinka M, Bagola K, Fiil BK, McLaughlin SH, et al. SPATA2 Links CYLD to LUBAC, activates CYLD, and controls LUBAC signaling. Mol Cell. 2016;63:990–1005.
- Kupka S, de Miguel D, Draber P, Martino L, Surinova S, Rittinger K, et al. SPATA2-mediated binding of CYLD to HOIP enables CYLD recruitment to signaling complexes. Cell Rep. 2016;16:2271–80.
- Schlicher L, Wissler M, Preiss F, Brauns-Schubert P, Jakob C, Dumit V, et al. SPATA2 promotes CYLD activity and regulates TNF-induced NF-kappaB signaling and cell death. EMBO Rep. 2016;17:1485–97.
- 54. Wagner SA, Satpathy S, Beli P, Choudhary C. SPATA2 links CYLD to the TNF-α receptor signaling complex and modulates the receptor signaling outcomes. EMBO J. 2016;35:1868–84.
- Buchon N, Broderick NA, Poidevin M, Pradervand S, Lemaitre B. Drosophila intestinal response to bacterial infection: activation of host defense and stem cell proliferation. Cell Host Microbe. 2009;5:200–11.
- Tanji T, Yun E-Y, Ip YT. Heterodimers of NF-kappaB transcription factors DIF and Relish regulate antimicrobial peptide genes in Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2010;107:14715–20.
- Abbott DW, Yang Y, Hutti JE, Madhavarapu S, Kelliher MA, Cantley LC. Coordinated regulation of Toll-like receptor and NOD2 signaling by K63-linked polyubiquitin chains. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27:6012–25.
- Zhou H, Wertz I, O'Rourke K, Ultsch M, Seshagiri S, Eby M, et al. Bcl10 activates the NF-kappaB pathway through ubiquitination of NEMO. Nature. 2004;427:167–71.

- Ni C-Y, Wu Z-H, Florence WC, Parekh VV, Arrate MP, Pierce S, et al. Cutting edge: K63-linked polyubiquitination of NEMO modulates TLR signaling and inflammation in vivo. J Immunol. 2008;180:7107–11.
- Lemaitre B, Nicolas E, Michaut L, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell. 1996;86:973–83.
- Leulier F, Rodriguez A, Khush RS, Abrams JM, Lemaitre B. The Drosophila caspase Dredd is required to resist gram-negative bacterial infection. EMBO Rep. 2000;1:353–8.
- Bischof J, Maeda RK, Hediger M, Karch F, Basler K. An optimized transgenesis system for Drosophila using germ-linespecific phiC31 integrases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104:3312–7.
- Leulier F, Lhocine N, Lemaitre B, Meier P. The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein DIAP2 functions in innate immunity and is essential to resist Gram-negative bacterial infection. Mol Cell Biol. 2006;26:7821–31.
- Ditzel M, Broemer M, Tenev T, Bolduc C, Lee TV, Rigbolt KT, et al. Inactivation of effector caspases through nondegradative polyubiquitylation. Mol Cell. 2008;32:540–53.
- Kelley LA, Mezulis S, Yates CM, Wass MN, Sternberg MJE. The Phyre2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat Protoc. 2015;10:845–58.
- Pettersen EF, Goddard TD, Huang CC, Couch GS, Greenblatt DM, Meng EC, et al. UCSF chimera—a visualization system for exploratory research and analysis. J Comput Chem. 2004;25:1605–12.

M1-linked ubiquitination by LUBEL is required for inflammatory responses to oral infection in *Drosophila*

Anna L. Aalto, Aravind K. Mohan, Lukas Schwintzer, Sebastian Kupka, Christa Kietz, Henning Walczak, Meike Broemer, Annika Meinander

Supplementary Information

Supplementary Figure 1. Structure of the *lubel* gene and analysis of *lubel* mutant flies.



(A) Structure of the *lubel* gene, the transcribed mRNA variants, the expressed isoforms and the LUBEL proteins expressed in the *Mi{ET1}LUBELMB00197* and *Mi{MIC}LUBELMI14859* mutant *Drosophila* strains. The ZnFs are indicated in blue, UBA1 in red, UBA2 in yellow, the RING domains in light green, the IBR in light blue and the LDD in green. (B) Comparison of mRNA transcripts of the C-terminal RBR and third ZnF in wild type *Canton^S* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies by qPCR. Error bars indicate SEM from 3 independent experimental repeats using at least 10 flies per repeat. (C) Ubiquitin mRNA levels were compared in *Canton^S* and *lubel^{Mi}* mutant flies by qPCR. The flies were either non-treated or subjected to septic injury with the Gram-negative bacteria *Ecc15*. Error bars indicate SEM from 3 independent experimental repeats using at least 10 flies per repeat.





(A) GST-RBR-LDD fusion protein or GST protein were incubated in *in vitro*-ubiquitination reactions and samples were analysed by Western blotting using α -M1 and α -GST antibodies, n=3. (B) RBR-LDD-ligated Ub chains were analysed using UbiCRest and incubated with GST protein, OTULIN, OTUB1, or AMSH deubiquitinating enzyme, specific for M1, K48 or K63 chains, respectively. Western blot analysis with α -M1 and α -GST antibodies (* in upper panel indicates unspecific bands of GSTfusion proteins), n=3. (C,D) GST-RBR-LDD, GST-TRIAD3-RBR or GST were incubated with ubiquitin or N-terminally blocked His-ubiquitin (His-Ub). Chain formation was analysed by Western blotting using α -M1 (C) and FK2 α -Ub antibody (D). TRIAD3-RBR efficiently synthesised Lys-linked chains with His-Ub, while RBR-LDD only catalysed low level-formation of di- and tri-His-Ub, indicated with asterisks. Lower panels show Western blot analysis using α -GST antibody, n=7.



Supplementary Figure 3. The *Drosophila* Imd is not modified with M1-Ub chains.

Drosophila S2 cells were transfected with empty vector, HA-tagged Imd and V5-tagged wild type LUBEL RBR-LDD or DIAP2. HA-immunoprecipitations were performed at denaturing conditions and the samples were analysed by Western blotting with α -M1, α -K63, α -HA, α -V5 and α -DIAP2 antibodies, n=3.



Supplementary Figure 4. Analysis of *lubel* mutant flies and LUBEL transgenes.

Aravind Kumar Mohan

Regulation of Inflammatory Signalling by Caspases and M1-linked Ubiquitin Chains in Drosophila melanogaster

The nuclear factor κ -light-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) family of transcription factors are master regulators of inflammatory signalling, and they control the expression of several inflammatory genes. Uncontrolled activation of NF- κ B can lead to chronic inflammation which is known to promote cancer progression. To treat inflammatory diseases, a deeper understanding of regulation of the NF- κ B pathway at the molecular level is needed. The NF- κ B pathway activity is tightly regulated by post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination. This thesis aims to understand the molecular mechanisms that control the activation and inhibition of the NF- κ B pathway. Due to evolutionary conservation of signalling pathways and availability of molecular biology tools, the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* serves as an excellent model to study molecular mechanisms of regulation of the NF- κ B pathway. This thesis proposes new regulatory roles of caspases and M1-linked ubiquitin (M1-Ub) chains. It describes a mechanism by which the caspase, *Drosophila* interleukin 1 β -converting enzyme (Drice), restrains the NF- κ B pathway activity. Furthermore, it demonstrates the key role of M1-Ub chains and the caspase, Death related ced-3/Nedd2-like caspase (Dredd), in fine tuning the NF- κ B pathway activity especially in the intestinal epithelial tissue.